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We refer to the outcome of the Board Meeting of Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust (the
Trust) submitted with National Stock Exchange of India Limited through NEAPS Portal on May 04,
2024, at 13:09:16 hours.

Please note that it came to our attention that few pages have got erroneously included/excluded in the
set of financial information/statements while uploading on NEAPS portal. Hence, we are reuploading
the financial information as corrigendum.

Kindly place the above on record and oblige.
We sincerely regret the inconvenience caused.
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(in its capacity as Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust)
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Consolidated Audited Annual Financial Information of the IRB
Infrastructure Trust pursuant to the Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trust)
Regulations 2014, as amended.

To

The Board of Directors of

MMK Toll Road Private Limited

Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust (“the Investment Manager”)

Opinion

We have jointly audited the accompanying Statement of consolidated financial information of IRB
Infrastructure Trust (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Trust’) and its subsidiaries (Trust and its subsidiaries
together referred to as “the Group”) which comprise of Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including
other comprehensive income) and explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required by
Paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) Master Circular
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended, (“the SEBI Circular”) for the year
ended March 31, 2024 (‘the Statement’) attached herewith, being submitted by the Investment Manager
pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations,
2014, as amended, read with the SEBI Circular, together known as (“InvIT Regulations”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based
on the consideration of reports of other auditor on separate audited financial statements of the subsidiaries,

the aforesaid Statement:

(i) includes the annual financial information of the Trust and the following subsidiaries:

Sr No | Name of Entity Relationship with
Trust
1 AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary
2 Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary
3 IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary
4 Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary
5 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary
6 CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary
7 Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary
8 Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary
9 IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary
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10 | Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (w.e.f. 2 April 2022) Subsidiary
11 IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (w.e.f. 11 August 2023) Subsidiary
12 IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (w.e.f. 10 November 2023) Subsidiary
13 | Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (w.e.f. 28 December 2023) Subsidiary
14 IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited (w.e.f. 01 January 2024) Subsidiary
15 IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (w.e.f. 01 January 2024) Subsidiary

(ii) is presented in accordance with the InvIT Regulations in the manner so required; and

(iii) gives a true and fair view in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in
the applicable accounting standards (‘Ind AS’) prescribed under rule 2(1)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other recognised accounting principles generally accepted in India,
to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations, of the net loss (including other comprehensive
loss), net distributable cash flows for the year ended as on that date and other financial information of the
Group for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our joint audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (‘SAs’) issued by Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated financial information section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI , and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and other auditor in terms of their reports referred to in
“Other Matters” paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 3 to the Statement, which describes the presentation of ‘Unit Capital’ as ‘Equity’
to comply with the InvIT Regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Information

This Statement, which is the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the “Board”)
and approved by them for issuance, has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated annual financial
statements. This responsibility includes the preparation and presentation of this Statement that gives a true
and fair view of the net loss (including other comprehensive loss), net distributable cash flows for the year
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ended as on that date and other financial information of the Group in accordance with the requirement of
the InvIT Regulations; recognition and measurement principles laid down in accordance with the Indian
Accounting Standards prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,
2015, as amended and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent
with the InvIT Regulations. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities;
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of
preparation of the Statement by the Directors of the Investment Manager of the Trust, as aforesaid.

In preparing the Statement, the Board of the Trust and the respective Board of Directors of the companies
included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the respective Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of the Trust and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are
responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this Statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and aobtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.




Gokhale & Sathe M S K A & Associates

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, Western Express Highway,
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. Geetanjali Railway Colony,
Telephone + 91 (22) 43484242 Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E),
Fax + 91 (22) 43484241 Mumbai 400063, India

Tel: +91 22 6238 0519

s Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether
the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial
statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

s Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the disclosures,
and whether the Statement represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation,

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements of the entities within
the Group to express an opinion on the Statement. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the audit of financial information of such entities included in the Statement of
which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the Statement, which have
been audited by other auditor, such other auditor remain responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance and such other entities included in the Statement of
which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our joint audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

We also performed procedures in accordance with Regulation 13(2)(e) of the InvIT Regulations, as amended
to the extent applicable.
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Other Matters

. The Statement includes the audited financial statements of six subsidiaries, whose Financial Information
reflect total revenue of Rs. 20,960.13 million (before consolidation adjustment), total net loss after tax of
Rs. 6,829.40 million (before consolidation adjustment), and total comprehensive loss of Rs. 6,829.40 million
(before consolidation adjustment) for the year ended March 31, 2024, as considered in the Statement, which
have been audited by the other auditor whose reports on financial statements of these entities have been
furnished to us by the management and our opinion on the Statement, in so far as it relates to the amounts
and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, is based solely on the reports of such other auditor
and the procedures performed by us are as stated in paragraph above.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the work done and
the reports of the other auditor.

. The Statement for the year ended March 31, 2023, was audited by Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered Accountants,
one of the joint auditors of the Trust, whose report dated May 12, 2023 expressed an unmodified opinion on
those Statement. Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

. The Statement for the half year ended September 30, 2023, was reviewed by Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered
Accountants, one of the joint auditors of the Trust, whose report dated October 25, 2023 expressed an
unmodified conclusion on those Statement. Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

. The Statement includes the information for the half year ended March 31, 2024 being the balancing figure
between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended March 31, 2024 and the published
unaudited year to date figures up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of current
financial year which were subject to limited review by Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered Accountants, one of the
joint auditors of the Trust, as required under Regulation 23 of the InvIT Regulations. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of the above matter.

For Gokhale & Sathe For MS K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
ICAl Firm Registj‘on No.103264W ICAIl Firm Registration No.105047W

)
Vg
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CA Kaustubh Deshpande ] Nitin Tiwari
Partner / Partner

Membership No.: 121011
UDIN: 24121011BKAAON6G883

Membership No.: 118894
UDIN: 24118894BKGQHG5805

Place: Mumbai | Place: Mumbai
Date: May 03, 2024 Date: May 03, 2024



Audited Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended March 31, 2024

IRB Infrastructure Trust
SEBI Regd. No.: IN/INVIT/19-20/0012

(Rs, in million, unless otherwise stated)

Six months ended Year ended
Sr. March 31, |September 30, March 31, March 31,
No. Particulars 2024 2023 March 31, 2023 2024 2023
(Audited) (Audited)
(Refer note | (Unaudited) (Refer note (Audited) (Audited)
4(i) 4(ii))
I. |Income and gains
Revenue from operations 23,799.08 15,131.67 12,766.26 38,930.75 26,912.59
Interest 358.45 208.52 136.03 566.97 186.05
Profit on sale of investments/assets 154.54 36.32 38.63 190.86 62.95
Other income * 65.38 16.62 11.09 82.00 14.08
Total Income and gains 24,377.45 15,393.13 12,952.00 39,770.58 27,175.67
1I. |Expenses and losses
Operating expenses**# 12,677.85 7,198.20 542324 19,876.05 12,865.52
Project management fees 1,617.71 1,955.49 1,320.49 3,573.20 2,647.70
Valuation expenses 4,64 0.77 1.69 541 2.67
Trustee Fees 11.00 397 338 14.97 595
Audit fees 10.03 245 294 12.48 5.04
Insurance expenses 65.16 29.55 13.23 94.71 14.72
Investment management fees (refer note b) 58.76 87.56 28.26 146.32 56.52
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 0.47 048 0.62 0.95 1.25
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,989.12 1,658.92 1,579.00 3,648.04 2,809.17
Finance costs (Interest) 7,812.81 5,636,42 4.617.04 13,449.23 9.005.28
Finance costs (Others) *** 526.66 481.21 608.38 1,007.87 1,249.41
Legal and professional fees 653.42 72.75 94.19 726.17 163.58
Custodian Fee 0.23 098 - 1.21 0.09
Loss on sale of assets - - 0.01 - 0.01
Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 3.756.40 1,178.97 271.04 4.935.37 360.53
Other expenses **** 107.46 9.12 9.06 116.58 92.71
Total Expenses and losses 29,291.72 18,316.84 13,972.58 47,608.56 29,480.14
ITI. |Loss before tax for the period/ year (I) - (II) (4,914.27) (2,923.71) (1,020.58) (7,837.98) (2,304.47)
IV, |Tax expenses (current tax and deferred tax)/reversal (985.37) (202.46) 131.03 (1,187.83) (32.88)
V. |Loss after tax for the period/year (I11) - (TV) (3,928.90) (2,721.24) (1,151.61) (6,650.15) (2,271.59)
VL |Items of Other Comprehensive Income - = - o= -
VIIL | Total Comprehensive Income (V) + (V1) (3,928.90) (2,721.24) (1,151.61) (6,650.15) (2,271.59)

* Other income includes fair value gain and other non-operative income.
** Operation expenses includes provision for major maintenance.

# Operation expenses includes Project Management fees towards EPC Work amounting to Rs. 10,368.87 million, Rs. 5,995.41 million, Rs.
4,111.20 million, Rs. 16,364.27 million and Rs. 10,198.01 million for the six months ended March 2024, six months ended September 2023,
six months ended March 2023, year ended March 2024 and year ended March 2023 respectively.

*** Finance costs (Others) includes Amortisation of Transaction cost, Unwinding of discount on provision of MMR, Interest unwinding on
loan/retention money and Interest unwinding of Trade payable - Associates.

**+* Other expenses includes rent, rates and taxes, travelling & conveyance, membership & subscription, director sitling fees, corporate social
responsibilities expenditure, donations, security expenses, bank charges and other miscellaneous expenses.

Registered Office: 1101, 11 Floor, Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street. Hill Side Avenue,
Powai, Mumbai - 400 076, Maharashtra, India. : Tel: 022 - 67336400; Fax: 022 - 4033 6699;
E-mail: irbinfrastructuretrust@irb.co.in Website: www, irbinfratrust.co.in:



Notes to consolidated financial information:

1 The Audited Consolidated Financial Information comprises of the Consolidated Statement of profit and
loss (including other comprehensive income) and explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as
required by Paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI™) Master
Circular SEBVHO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended. (“the SEBI
Circular”) of IRB Infrastructure Trust (‘Trust’) for the year ended March 31, 2024 being submitted by
the Trust pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Tnvestment Trusts)
Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular ("InvIT Regulation"),

2 The Audited Consolidated Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the InvIT
Regulations; recognition and measurement principles laid down in the Indian Accounting Standards, as
defined in Rule 2(1) (a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and
other accounting principles generally accepted in India to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT
Regulations.(refer note 3 for presentation of "Unit Capital” as "Equity" instead of compound instruments
under Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation)

3 Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unitholders not less than
90% of the net distributable cash flows of the Trust for each financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the
Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to its Unitholders cash distributions.
Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument which contains equity and liability
components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation. However, in accordance
with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the SEBI circular, the Unit capital have been presented as "Equity” in
arder to comply with the requirements of Section H of Chapter 3 to the SEBI circular, dealing with the
minimum presentation and disclosure requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit
Capital being classified as equity, the distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of
Changes in Unitholders' Equity when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of the
Investment Manager.

4 (i) The Consolidated Financial Information for the half year ended March 31, 2024 are the derived
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2024 and the reviewed figures
up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial year, which
were subject to limited review.

(ii) The Consolidated Financial Information for the half year ended March 31, 2023 are the derived
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2023 and the reviewed figures
up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial year, which
were subject to limited review.

5 The Audited Consolidated Financial Information for the year ended March 31, 2024 have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 03, 2024 and thereafter
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 03, 2024.

6 IRB Infrastructure Trust is registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on August
27, 2019 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on November 25, 2019, Units of TRB Infrastructure
Trust have been listed on NSE on April 03, 2023,

7 The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager declared 1st Distribution of Rs. 1.52 per unit which
comprises of Rs. 0.44 per unit as interest and Rs. 1.08 per unit as return of capital, 2nd Distribution of
Rs. 2.82 per unit towards return of capital and 3rd Distribution of Rs. 0.24 per unit as interest in their
meeting held on October 25, 2023, January 25, 2024 and May 03, 2024 respectively.

8 During the previous year, on April 7, 2022, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for
implementation of Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (‘SPV") by the Trust and accordingly, the
project is being executed by the SPV through the Trust.

9 On July 29, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of IRB
Golconda Expressway Private Limited (*SPV’) by the Trust and accordingly, the project is being
executed by the SPV through the Trust,

10 On October 12, 2023, Definitive Agreements in relation to the implementation of Samakhiyali Santalpur
BOT Project were entered through the Trust. Vide the said agreement, the Investment Manager and
Trustee (acting on behalf of the Trust) have now executed the definitive agreements with the Sponsor,
affiliates of GIC as financial investors (“Financial Investors™), and Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited
(“STPL™) subject to the fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out therein. STPL has been added to
Trust from it's Appointed date (December 28, 2023),

11 Investors can view the results of the IRB Infrastructure Trust (*Trust’) on the Trust’s website
(www.irbinfratrust.co.in) or on the website of NSE (www.nseindia.com).




Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI Circulars No.SEB/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115

a. Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2024

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust

(Rs. in Million)

Six months

Six months ended

Six months

i ended ended Year ended Year ended
Sr. No. Particulars March 31, SEP‘“I?;;’ 30 | March 31, March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023°
2024 2023°
! Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest' 2,423.20 1,325.00 1,190.00 3,748.20 2,097.00
2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - = = = =
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above,
3 including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by 183.94 15.55 0.78 199.49 0.92
the Trust
4 Cash flows recch‘ied from the pn:ojecl SPVs towards :.hc repayment 9.650.56 (752.80) (342.00) 8.897.76 (1.928.34)
(Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust’
5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,257.70 587.75 348.78 12,845.45 169.58
Less:
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, "
: ; AR 9.4 ! A 634,54 333
. including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 2.51948) (115.06) (68.81) @ ) L )
7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - - - - -
8 Repayment of external debt (646.69) - - (646.69) -
9 Promoter contribution in under construction Project SPVs (4,855.00) - - (4,855.00) -
10 |Total cash outflows / retention at the Trust level (B) (8,021.17) (115.06) (68.81) (8,136.23) (113.33)
11 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,236.53 472.69 279.98 4,709.22 56.25
Note
Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.7,703.64 millions, Rs.5,009.88 millions,Rs. 922.36 millions,Rs. 12,713.52 millions and Rs. 2,124.77 Millions for the six months
1 ended March 31, 2024, six months ended September 30, 2023, six months ended March 31, 2023, year ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2023,
2 Netted - off with disbursement of short-term unsecured loan to related parties. (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial results),
3 The same is earmarked towards capex for ongoing projects.




(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC)

(Rs. in Million)
: Six Months | Six months | Six Months Veur endedllivesiiaey
5 ' Description (b énided Shdel | ENfarchat | [iMaven 31
No. March 31, | September | March 31, 2024 2 2023 !
' 2024 30, 2023" 2023
I [Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,696.66) | (1,612.20) (526.73)| (3,308.86)| (1,135.93)
2 Adq: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of 113.50 101.10 85.80 214.60 164.74
profit and loss
3 |Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (538.64) 299.85 - (238.79) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash
4 |income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if] 0.01 4228 67.48 42.29 137.31
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 |Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,862.94 1,295.66 264.60 3,158.60 530.18
6 [Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) - - - - -
7 [Less: Principal repayment of external debt - (121.51) (44.26) (121.51) (70.97)
8 [Less: Tax paid - - - - -
9 |Less: Creation of MMRA - 322.00 - 322.00 -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (13.68) (10.88) - (24.56) -
11 |Total adjustments (B) 1,424.13 1,928.51 373.62 3,352.64 761.26
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (272.53) 316.31 (153.11) 43.78 (374.67)
Notes:

$ Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.




(iii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL)

(Rs. in Million)

Six Months

Six months

Six Months

Year Ye d
Sr. No. Description chded ended e M:rc;“;l :d M::c‘:nn: IE
March 31, | September | March 31, 2004 é 5023 ;
2024 30, 2023" 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (610.12) (692.28) (140.02)| (1.302.40) (264.71)
) ;\ntijdiols):prcciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit 27910 29439 336.33 573.49 550.99
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (684.66) 147,25 - (537.41) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash
4 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed 36.30 38.06 31.31 74.36 41.68
necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 646.61 875.44 297.35 1,522.05 581.77
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 66.15 57.06 54.53 123.21 109.06
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - - 0.00 - (60.29)
8 Less: Tax paid - - - - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 460.00 - (220.00) 460.00 (220.00)
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - = - - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 803.50 1,412.20 499.52 2,215.70 1,012.21
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 193.38 719.92 359.50 913.30 747.50
Notes:

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(iv) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL)

(Rs. in Million)
Six Months | Six months | Six Months Y ab ndaa | D yraa B
Sr. No. Description enied erided enced s | intareh 31| Masehis1
March 31, | September | March 31, 2024 2 2023 :
2024 30, 2023" 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (458.70) (385.89) (72.54) (844.59) (225.45)
) f(\;si:: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 68.63 28.30 84.23 156.93 168.97
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (157 98) 48.08 - (109.90) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income
4 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by 17.90 18.54 13.65 36.44 20.80
the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 604.31 587.94 279.23 1,192.25 560.00
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses { Net) 38.23 33.17 30.38 71.40 60.75
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - - 0.03 - (5.86)
8 Less: Tax paid - Z i - =
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/release of DSRA 260.00 - (80.00) 260.00 (80.00)
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - = = = -
11 |Total Adjustments (B) 831.09 776.03 327.51 1,607.12 724.66
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 372.39 390.14 254.97 762.53 499.21
Notes:

" Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(v) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)

(Rs. in Million)

Six Months| Six months | Six Months
Year ended| Yearended
Sr. No. Description e Gl MO | S raneli 10 | s
March 31, | September | March 31, 50318 i 2025 i
2024 30,2023" 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account {(A) (1.044.36) (851.29) (432.40)[  (1,895.65) (848.69)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 116.16 100.85 119.23 217.01 212.13
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 381.16 25232 - 633.48 -
4 Add/less: Any t?ther ile_m of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 56,66 127.35 48,51 184.01 96.97
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,315.34 912.33 591.38 2,227.67 1,186.02
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (106.46) (121.18) 88.33 (227.64) 176.65
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt 0.00 (50.13) {62.96) {50.13) (121.25)
8 Less: Tax paid - - - - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - 145.00 - 145.00 -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - - - - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,762.87 1,366.53 784.49 3,129.40 1,550.52
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 718.51 515.24 352.09 1,233.75 701.83
Notes:

" Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust,




(vi) Agra Etawah Tollway Limited (AETL)

(Rs. in Million)

At Sl’;x‘:;ms Slxe::;:::hs Sixe:;:gths Year ended| Yearended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | September | March 31, M:;;l‘;fl, March 31,
2024 | 30,2023" | 2023 et
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,860.64)] (1,647.15) (828.97)| (3,507.79) (1,749.13)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 164.46 161.84 161.97 326.30 309.71
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 270.03 143.38 - 413.41 -
4 Add/less: Any c.)lher itt?m of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 92,46 2827 16.16 120.73 12 54
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investiment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,854.63 1,411.53 665,16 3,266.16 1.333.98
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (39.02) (74.51) 92.91 (133.53) 185.82
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - (23.23) (24.20) (23.23) (68.51)
8 Less: Tax paid - - - - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 424.30 - - 424.30 -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - - - - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 2,746.86 1,647.28 912.00 4,394.14 1,793.54
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 886.22 0.13 83.03 886.35 44.41
Notes:

! Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

“The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.




(vii) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL)

(Rs. in Million)

Six Months | Six months | Six Months :
Year ended| Year ended
Sr. No. Description chded cnded cnded March 31 March 31
March 31, | September | March 31, 2024 : 2023 2
2024 30, 2023" 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (662.12) (798.41) (893.88)] (1,460.53) (1,903.87)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 226.84 202.42 198.57 429.26 364.50
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 300.09 608.43 - 008.52 -
4 Add/less: Any 9ther itPTr‘n of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 55.20 5389 2737 109.09 120,39
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - & = - =
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (25.52) (61.53) 216.05 (87.03) 432,11
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (30.74) (4.67) (21.95) (35.41) (28.84)
3 Less: Tax paid - - - - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - - - i %
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - - - - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 525.87 798.54 420.04 1,324.41 888.16
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (136.25) 0.13 (473.84) (136.12) (1,015.71)
Notes:

* Worki ng capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(viii) Chittorgarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (CGTL)

Rs. in Million)
Six Months | Six II:)I:lﬂls Six Months Yeurhded| Veornacd
Sr. No. Description el ik e March 31, | March 31,
March 31, | September | March 31, 2024 i3
2024 30,2023" 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (561.17) (570.25) (489.94)] (1,131.42) (936.67)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 200.36 198.05 189.62 398.41 371.14
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (82.73) 61.57 - (21.16) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash
4 flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager Kl 13 fas e (L10:3%)
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - - - - -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 74.34 63.82 63.08 138.16 126.16
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (70.19) (30.18) (43.52) (100.37) (79.44)
8 Less; Tax paid - - - - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA & & = = -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - - - - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 140.09 311.64 224.23 451.73 307.08
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (421.08) (258.61)]  (265.71) (679.69) (629.59)
Notes:

¥ Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(ix) Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL)

Rs. in Million)
su‘e::‘l:zms Sixmm(;]c]::hs Snﬂil\r[lla::ths Year ended | Year ended
Sr. No. 1 . Description March 31, | March 31,
March 31, | September | March 31, 3034 2023
2024 30, 2023" 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,131.75) (906.55) (227.89)] (2,038.30) (247.35)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 133.18 126.74 12563 259.92 212.76
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (442.49) 441,76 - (0.73) -
4 Add/less: Any ?ther ite.m of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 158.82 00.83 136.95 249.70 24035
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 769.48 172.97 - 942.45 -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 93,01 80.72 73.78 173.73 110.67
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - (7.96) (20.58) (7.96) (36.32)
3 Less: Tax paid - - - - -
9 Less: Creation of MMR A/release of DSRA 360.00 - - 360.00 -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - - - = -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,072.00 905,10 315.78 1,977.11 536.46
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (59.75) (1.45) 37.89 (61.19) 289.11

Notes:
? Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.
*The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.




(x) IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM)

Rs. in Million)

Six Months | Six months | Six Months Yeur cnded| Veneenaed

Sr. No. Description enced endel S March 31 March 31

: March 31, | September | March 31, 3024% Ao

, 2024 30, 2023" 2023~
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,111.84) (733.00) (2.40)]  (1,844.84) (75.48)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 267.22 214.17 201.84 481.39 351.78
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (697.36) (294.58) (992.13)
4 Add/less: Any (.)lhEl' i!t?m of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 24918 9493 106.18 334,11 120.02
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,569.79 687.48 - 223727 -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 201.20 171.17 180.13 372.37 270.19
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (0.80) (95.63) (65.32) (96.43) (134.90)

8 Less: Tax paid - - - - -

9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 600.00 - - 600.00 -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (344.10) - (61.46) (344.10) (62.03)
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,844.93 767.54 361.37 2,612.48 545.06
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B)# 733.09 34.54 358.97 767.64 469.58

Notes:

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust

~ The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex.




(xi) Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

Six months Six
Six Months S Months Ve sndeil Yenr ended
Sr. No. ‘Description ended March Sentember 30 ended March 31, 2024 March 31,
31,2024 N Sopss | | March 31, L 20234
| 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 114.75 279.11 622.81 393.86 1,430.69
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 171.85 104,28 76.41 276.13 94.71
3 Add/Less: Decrease{Increase) in Working capital (20.17) (124.30) - (144.47) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of
4 lactual cash flows for thesc items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (26.32) (52.63) 106.90 (78.95) 193.17
Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - - - -
6 |Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) - - - - -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - - - - -
8 [Less: Tax paid (5.28) 2 (256.70) (5.28) (363.10)
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - - -
10 [Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (88.84) (368.16)]  (577.27) (457.00) (1,332.99)
11 Total Adjustments (B) 31.24 {440.80) {650.66) (409.57) (1,408.21)
12 [Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 145.99 (161.69) (27.85) (15.71) 22.48
Noles:

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.
~ The said funds are carmarked towards balance Capex.




(xii) IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL)

(Rs. in Million)

Six Months A:(]g;;t“l.[. August 11,
Sr. No. Description ended March September 30 2023 to March
31,20247 3533 | 31,20247
1 Profit afler tax as per profit and loss account (A) (740.32) (267.92) (1,008.24)
2 |Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 244.87 67.25 312,12
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (8.83) - (8.83)
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of
4 Jactual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment 64.19 (184.41) (120.23)
N
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,867.05 15.81 1,882.86
6 |Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) (388.74) 388.74 -
7 |Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - - -
8 Less: Tax paid - - -
9 Less: Crealion of MMRA - N -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - - -
L1 |Total Adjustments (B) 1,778.54 287.39 2,065.92
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,038.22 19.47 1,057.68
Note:

~The said funds would be released post meeting Restricted Payment conditions as stated in Facility Agreement.

The Company has been transferred to Trust from August 11, 2023,




(xiii) Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL)

(Rs. in Million)
December 28,
Sr. No, Description 2023 to March
31,2024
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 327.17
2 |Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 343
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 9.15
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net off
4 lactual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment 6.92
M
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses { Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid (83.40)
9 Less: Creation of MMRA &
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (254.13)
11 [Total Adjustments (B) (318.04)
12 [Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 9.13
Note: * The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex

The Company has been transferred 1o Trust from December 28, 2023,




(xiv) IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (ILTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

November 11,

Sr. No. Description 2023 to March
31,2024

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 10.16

2 Add: Depreciation and amarlisation as per Statement of profit and loss -

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 98.93
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of]

4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (8.24)
Manaper

5 Add: Tnterest paid/payable to the Trust -

G___|Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -

7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -

8 Less: Tax paid o

9 Less: Creation of MMRA .

10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -

Il [Total Adjustments (B) 90.69

12 [Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 100.85

Note:  The Campany has been incorporated on November 10, 2023




(xv) IRB Kota Taollway Private Limited (IKTPL)

(Rs. in Million)
/ January 01,
Sr. No. Description 2024 to March
31,2024
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (0.87)
2 |Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statemenl of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 5.28
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of
4 lactual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (L.11)
Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
i Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creatian of MMRA -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 |Total Adjustments {B) 4.16
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 3.29
Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01, 2024,




(xvi) IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

January 01,
Sr. No. Description 2024 to March
31,2024
! Profit afier tax as per profit and loss account (A) 0.60
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/{Increase) in Working capital 10.70
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of
4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (2.62)
Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) =
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA "
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 |Total Adj s(B) 8.08
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 8.68
Note: The Company has been incarporated on January 01, 2024,




b. Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the fees will be paid to the Investment Manager for the services provided by 1t
{“Management Fees").The Management Fees have been revised for the Financial Year with the approval of the Unitholders, where the votes cast by
Unitholders so entitled and voting in favor of a resolution are not less than one-und-a-half times the votes cast against such resolution. Pursuant to a
resolution of the Unitholders, the Management Fees for the Financial Year 2024, has been revised and it has been granted that the fees lo be payable to the
Investment Manager would be equivalent to 110% of the cost incurred by the Investment Manager in connection with providing investment management
services to ‘IRB Infrastructure Trust' including routine administrative & operational expenses (exclusive of any out of pocket expenses, reimbursements
and laxes)."”

o

In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the Project SPVs to the Project Manager has been
worked out and agreed upon for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respeclive Project SPV,
on an arm''s length basis, after taking into account the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services lo be provided by the Project
Manager to such Project SPV.

o

Statement of Earnings per unit
(Rs.in Million,_except for unit data)

Particulars Six months ended Yeur ended
March 31,2024 | September 30,2023 | March 31,2023 March 31, 2024 March 31,2022
Loss for the period /vear (3,928.90) (2,721.24) (1,151.61) (6,650.15) (2,271.59)
Number of units outstanding for
compulation of basic and diluted eamings 1,02,72,23,320 91,97,56,653 87,92,93.265 97,34,89,986 87,79,64,498
per unit
Eamings per unit (basic and diluted) (3.82) (2.96) (1.31) (6.83) (2.59)
¢ Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments
Contingent liabilities not provided for
As at March 31,[As at September 30,(As at March 31,
Particbas 2024 2023 2023

Contingent liability - = =

UTL, CGTL and KGTL have filed Writ petition with Hon'ble Rajasthan High Court with prayer to commence payment of Premium to National Highways
Authority of India (NHAI) six months post actual completion of the project construction work, The Hon'ble High Court prima facie agreed with the
contention of these companies and had provided interim relief from payment of premium. Vide judgement order dated 25th August, 2021, the Hon'ble
High Court found merit in the contention of the companies and has directed the parties to resolve the dispute under Arbitration. The said matter is
currently pending under Arbitration. The amount under arbitration is not ascerlainable.

Commitments
Particul As at March 31, |Asat September 30,| As at March 31,
i 2024 2023 2023
Estimated vgl'.!e of contracls in capital 28.594.95 11,727 34 14.205.07
account remaining to be exccuted
Total 28,594.95 11,727.34 14,295.07




1. Statement of Related party transactions

1. List of Related parties

of the Trust [As per Repulation 2 (1) (zv)]

1

Parties to the InviT

Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per ‘Table A'
below)*

MMK  Toll
Manager)

Road Private Limited (Investment

1DBI Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee of the IRB
Infrastructure Trust)

Associates, Promoters, Directors and Pariners of the
persons mentioned in clause 1

As per Table B' below#

* Table A - Sponsor Gro

up and Project Manager

(i) The sponsor(s)

(ii) Entitics or person(s) which are controlled by
such sponsor

(iii) Entities or person(s) who contral such body
corporate

are controlled by entities or
person(s) specified in clause

(iii)

IRB Infrastructure
Developers Limited

Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL)

IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway
Private Limited (IRBAV)

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL)
Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited,
{TGTRPL)

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development
Company Private Limited (IRBK)

ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL)

Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL)
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL)

GE1 Expressway Private Limited (Formerly known as
IRB PP Project Private Limited)

IRB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS)

IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA)
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL)

Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private Limited
(AIIPL)

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL)

IRB MP Expressway Private Limited

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limiled (IRB Goa)
MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of
MRMPL)

VM7 Expressway Private Limited

Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited
Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary
upto 27.12.2023)

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited - J'V

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) - JV
IRB Infrastructure Trust - JV

Project SPV's of IRB Infrastructure Trust as
mentioned below:

. IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL)

. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL)

. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL)

. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)

. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)

. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL)

. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL)

. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL)
9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited
(IRBHMTL)

10. Palsit Dankuni Tallway Private Limited (PDTPL)

R E TS

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited
(TRBGEPL)

12, IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w.c.f
10.11.2023

13. Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w.c.f.
28.12.2023

14, IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited w.e.f.
01.01.2024

15. IRB Gwalior Private Limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar,
Promoter of Sponsor

IRB Holding Private Limited

Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor
Virendra D. Mbaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Virendra
Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor

VDM Ventures Private
Limited

Duex Farming Films Private
Limited

(iv) Entities or person(s) which




# Table B - List of promc

ters, directors and partners of the persons mentioned in clause 1

Parties to the Trust

Promoters

Dircctors

(i) IRB Infrastrocture
Developers Limited
(Sponsor and Project
Manager)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chairman and Managing
Director

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whale Time Director

3. Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goneer

4. Mr, Ravindra Dhariwal

5. Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan- Independent
director

6. Mr. Sumil H. Talati -Independent director

7. Mr. Sandeep . Shah - Independent director

8. Ms. Priti Savla - Independent dircctor

(ii) Entities or person(s)
which are controlled by
such sponsor

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

3. Mr, Dhananjay K. Joshi

4. Mrs. Arati Taskar

5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing

6. Mr. Rajpaul Sharma

7. Mr, Amitabh Murarka

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

9. Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar

10, Mr. Nikhil Maniar

11. Mr. Tushar Kawedia

12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh

13. Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon

12. Mr. Sunil Tandon -Independent Direclor
14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -Independent Director
15. Mr. Rushabh Gandhi

16. Mrs. Anusha Date-Independent Director
17. Mr. Kulumani Gopalratnam Krishnamurthy=-
Independent Director

18. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director
19. Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

20. Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director
21. Ms. Shilpa Todankar

22, Mr. Abhay Phatak

23. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar

24, Mr. Omprakash Singh

25, Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan

26. Mr. Boon Chin Hau

27. Mr. Nagendraa Parakh

28. Mr. Amyn Jassani

(iii) Entities or
person(s) who control
such body corporate

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V., Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

(iv) Entitics or
person(s) which are
controlled by entities or

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

MMEK Tell Road
Private Limited
(Investment Manager)

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar

Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

Mr. Boon Chin Hau

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar

Mr. K G Krishnamurthy -Independent director
Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape = Independent director
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director
Mr, Amyn Jassani - Independent director

IDBI Trusteeship
Services Limited
(Trustee of IRB
Infrastructure Trust)

IDBI Bank Limited
LIC Corporation Limited
General Insurace Corporation

Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai
Mr, Pradeep Kumar Jain

Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Mandal




Related Party Transactions

(Rs. in Millions)

Sponsor and Project Manager

Subsidiaries of Sponsor

Sr.
Particulars . o . -
No, Six months fx rndu:ihs Six Months Year ended | Year ended Six mdm::hs Sie ":"::hs S h;“:'hs Year ended | Year ended
ended March Sc:ll‘e::lber ended March 31,] March 31, March 31, '\T::cl';‘ 3 SE:‘:EI:II]EI' \l:lrlclf a1 March 31, | March 31,
31,2024 30,2023 2023 2024 2023 2024 30,2023 2023 2024 2023
1 |Contract expenses 10,794.02 5,533.33 - 16,327.35 - 296.52 631.69 340.85 028.21 858.69
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 10,794.02 5,533.33 - 16,327.35 - - - - - =
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - 296.52 631.69 340.85 928.21 858.69
2 | Operation & Main, Expenses 2,804.74 2,424.27 1,368.50 5,229.00 2,719.41 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 2,804.74 2,424.27 1,368.50 5,229.00 2,719.41 - - - - -
3 [Fonsnee; CAC-Interet. Mnvinding:on - - - - - 6751 12017| 34715| 187.67|  765.06
Tradc payable
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - 67.51 120.17 347.15 187.67 765.06
Finance Cost -Interest unwinding on
4 Trade payable - TCR - - - - - - 172.03 - 172.03 33.74
Modemn Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - 172.03 - 172,03 33.74
5 -Sub-urdmatc debts (Unsecured & 4872.57| 12,044.08 _ 16,916.65 - _ - . - -
interest free)
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 4.872.57| 12,044.08 - 16,916.65 - - - - - -
6 |Unsecured Loan Repaid 5316.93 857.66 267.50 6,174.59 267.50 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 5,316.93 857.66 267.50 6,174.59 267.50 - - - - -
7 | Expenses incurred on our behalf 36.96 - - 36.96 - 0.01 - - 0.01 -
TRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 36.96 - - 36.96 - - - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - 0.01 - - 0.01 -
8 | Mobilisation advances given - 802.50 - 802.50 - - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited - 802.50 - 802.50 - - - - - -
9 | General advances given 7,190.62 - - 7,190.62 - - - = = &
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 7,190,62 - - 7,190.62 - - - - - -
10 | General advances Repayment 0.03 - - 0.03 - - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 0.03 - - 0.03 - - - - - -
11 | Mobilisation advances recovered 33.68 - 205,38 33.68 509.07 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 33.68 - 205.38 33.68 509.07 - - - - -
12 |Material Aggregate Purchase - - - - - - - 212,27 - 588.05
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - - 212.27 - 588.05
13 |Construction cost 906.96 0.79 7,434.87 907.75 11,171.92 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 906.96 0.79 7,434 87 907.75 11,171.92 - - - - -
Modemn Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - < - - - %
14 |Other payable 3,756.41 1,178.97 271.03 4,935.38 560.52 24.42 24.42 24.31 48.84 48.73
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 3,756.41 1,178.97 271.03 4.935.38 560.52 - - - - -
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited - - - - 2442 24,42 24.29 48.84 48.71
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - ” 0.02 - 0.02




Related Party Transactions

(Rs. in Millions)
Sponsor and Project Manager Subsidiaries of Sponsor
Sr. Particulars . .
No. Six months L “:]m::h! Six Months Year ended | Year ended S Tr:;hs Six mdor:;hs b I]‘:D;m’ Year ended | Year ended
ended March st::‘e:ll]cl‘ ended March 31, March 31, March 31, M:I:'c: 31 Se:nl:er:hnr M::cltl‘ 3 March 31, March 31,
31, 2024 30,2023 2023 2024 2023 2024 30,2023 2023 2024 2023
15 |Professional Fees 419.96 - - 419.96 - - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 419,96 - - 419.96 - - - - - -
16 |Unsecured Loan received 476.22 250.00 1,532.48 726.22 1,532.48 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 476.22 250.00 1,532.48 726.22 1,532.48 - - - - -
17 |Units Issued 11,508.36 14,631.32 - 26,139.68 1,236.75 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 11,508.36 | 14,631.32 - 26,139.68 1,236,75 - - - - -
18 |Additional Intangible Asset - - 5,742.43 - 8,745.66 - - 33.73 - 33.73
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited - - 5,742.43 - 8,745.66 - - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - - 33.73 - 33.73
19 |Deletion of Intangible Asset - - - - - - - - - 23.46
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - - - - 23.46
20 |Interest Distribution 229.35 - - 229.35 - - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 22935 - - 229.35 - - - - - -
21 [Capital Reduction 2,032.84 - - 2,032.84 - - - s = :
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 2,032.84 - - 2,032.84 - - - - - -
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I11, Related party balances

(Rs. in Millions)

Sponsor and Project Manager

Subsidiaries of Sponsor

Sr. Particulars As on As on As on As on Ason Ason
No. March 31, September March 31, March 31, September | March 31,
2024 30, 2023 2023 2024 30,2023 2023
Subordinated debt (unsecured and 16,916,65 12,044.08 - - - -

1 |interest free)

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 16,916.65 12,044.08 - - - -

2 |Short-term borrowings - 477.81 477.81 - =
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 477.81 477.81 - -

3 |Trade payable 3,971.13 2,407.18 4,931.60 80.66 449.19 12,475.69
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 397113 2,407.18 4,931,60 - - -
Modemn Road Makers Private Limited - - - 80.66 44919 12,475.69

4 |Mobilisation advances 100.74 836.18 33.68 - - &
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 100.74 836.18 33.68 - - -

5 | Advance given 140.22 347.95 45118 - 0.03 0.03
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 140.22 347.95 451.18 - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 0.03 0.03

6 | BG Margin Money Receivable 30.95 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 30.95 - » = - -

7 |Retention payable 708.82 726.40 - 92.54 353.75 281.35
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 708.82 726.40 - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - 92,54 353,75 281.35

8 |Deferred Consideratrion payable 37,031.44 33,425.66 32,246.65 3,729.52 3,721.80 3,697.39
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 37,031.44 33,425.66 32,246.65 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - 1,784.13 1,800.83 1,800.84
IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited - - - 1,544 86 1,544 86 1,544.86
Mbhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited - - - 400,53 376,11 351.69

9 |Amount Held Up 144.74 - - 0.44 - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 144.74 - - - = =
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - » = 0.44 = -
Other payable ( Exp incurred on our 3.79 .77 1.77 6.05 - -

10 |behalf)

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 3.79 1.77 1.77 - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - 6.05 - -

11 |Unsecured Loan 0.02 5,122,91 4,872.91 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 0.02 5,122.91 4,872.91 = = =

12 |Trade Receivable - - - 0.51 0.61 0.61
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - 0.51 0.61 0.61

13 |Expense payable = - 491.53 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited - - 491.53 - - 2
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - = % . < .
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - - E % 5

14 |Other reccivable g - - 0.01 - =
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - 0.01 - -




IIL Related party balances (continued)
(Rs. in Millions)

Investment Manager Key Management Personnel of Project Trustee of IRB Infrastructure Trust
SPV Group

::'. Particulars Ason As on Ason Ason Ason Ason Ason Ason As on

March 31, | September | March 31, | March 31, | September | March 31, | March 31, September | March 31,
2024 30,2023 2023 2024 30,2023 2023 2024 30, 2023 2023

15 |Trade payable 95.19 101.17 78.54 - - - - - -

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited - - - - - - - - -

Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - - - -

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 95.19 101.17 78.54 - - - - - -
16 [Expense payable z = - - - - - - 0.51
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - - - - - - - 0.51

17 |Other receivable - - 0.08 = = - = & =

MMK Toll Road Private Limited - - 0.08 - - - - - -

18 |Director sitting fees Payable - % E 1.24 0.72 0.44 . - -

Mr. Rajendra kumar Aganval - - - - - - - -

Mrs. Aarti Taskar - - - 0.04 0.05 0.01 - - -

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar - - - 0.09 0.05 0.05 - - -

Mr. Omprakash Singh - - - 0.07 0.07 0.04 - - =

Mr. Sudhir Hoshing - - - 0.05 0.01 0.01 - - -

Mr. Jitendra Sharma - - - - - 0.02 - - -

Mr. C S Kaptan - - - 0.18 0.15 0.08 - - -

Ms. Shilpa Todankar - - - 0.29 0.16 0.13 - - -

Mr. Rajpaul Sharma - - - 0.12 0.03 - - - -

Mr. Abhay Pathak - - - 0.13 0.09 0.07 - - -

Mr. Amitabh Murarka - - - 0.16 0.06 0.01 - - =

Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape - - - 0.07 0.04 0.03 - - -

Mr. Tushar Kawedia - - - 0.03 - - - - -

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited
{Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust)

.

Virendra D, Mhaiskar
Chairman

Place: Mumbai
Date ;: May 03, 2024




Gokhale & Sathe M S K A & Associates

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, Western Express Highway,
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. Geetanjali Railway Colony,
Telephone + 91 (22) 43484242 Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E),
Fax + 91 (22) 43484241 Mumbai 400063, India

Tel: +91 22 6238 0519

Independent Auditor’s Report on Standalone Audited Annual Financial Information of IRB Infrastructure
Trust pursuant to the Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations 2014, as
amended.

To

The Board of Directors of

MMK Toll Road Private Limited

Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust (“the Investment Manager”)

Opinion

We have jointly audited the accompanying statement of standalone financial information of IRB
Infrastructure Trust (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Trust’) which comprise of Standalone Statement of
Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income) and explanatory notes thereto and additional
disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”)
Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended, (“the SEBI
Circular”) for the year ended March 31, 2024 (‘the Statement’), attached herewith, being submitted by the
Investment Manager of the Trust pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with the SEBI Circular, together known as (“InvIT
Regulations”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid
Statement:

(i) is presented in accordance with the InvIT Regulations in the manner so required; and

(ii) gives a true and fair view, in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in
the applicable accounting standards (‘Ind AS’) prescribed under rule 2(1)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other recognised accounting principles generally accepted in India,
to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations, of the net profit (including other comprehensive
income), net distributable cash flows for the year ended as on that date and other financial information of
the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2024.




Gokhale & Sathe M S K A & Associates

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, Western Express Highway,
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. Geetanjali Railway Colony,
Telephone + 91 (22) 43484242 Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E),
Fax + 91 (22) 43484241 Mumbai 400063, India

Tel: +91 22 6238 0519

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our joint audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (‘SAs’) issued by Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone financial information section of our report. We
are independent of the Trust in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAl, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 3 to the Statement, which describes the presentation of ‘Unit Capital’ as ‘Equity’
to comply with the InvIT Regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone
Financial Information

This Statement, which is the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the “Board”)
and approved by them for issuance, has been prepared on the basis of the standalone annual financial
statements. This responsibility includes the preparation and presentation of this Statement that gives a true
and fair view of the net profit after tax (including other comprehensive income), net distributable cash flows
for the year ended as on that date and other financial information in accordance with the requirement of
InvIT Regulations; recognition and measurement principles laid down in accordance with the Indian
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015 , as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not
inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting
records for safeguarding of the assets of the Trust and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view and
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Statement, the Board are responsible for assessing the ability of the Trust to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board is also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Trust.
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Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium
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Fax + 91 (22) 43484241 Mumbai 400063, India

Tel: +91 22 6238 0519

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether
the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with reference to Statement and the
operating effectiveness of such controls.

s Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

s Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Trust to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the disclosures,
and whether the Statement represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance of which we are the joint independent auditors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our joint audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Other Matters

1.

The Statement of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2023 was audited by Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered
Accountants, one of the joint auditor of the Trust, whose report dated May 12, 2023 expressed an
unmodified opinion on those Statement. Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

. The Statement of the Trust for the half year ended September 30, 2023 was reviewed by Gokhale & Sathe,

Chartered Accountants, one of the joint auditor of the Trust, whose report dated October 25, 2023
expressed an unmodified conclusion on those Statement. Our opinion is not modified in respect of the
above matter.

. The Statement includes the information for the half year ended March 31, 2024 being the balancing figure

between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended March 31, 2024 and the published
unaudited year to date figures up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of
the current financial year which were subject to limited review by Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered
Accountants, one of the joint auditors of the Trust, as required under Regulation 23 of the InvIT
Regulations.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

For Gokhale & Sathe For MS K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
ICAIl Firm Registration No.103264W ICAl Firm Registration No.105047W

CA Kaustubh Deshpande
Partner

Membership No.: 121011
UDIN: 24121011BKAACL6748

£

Nitin Tiwari

Partner

Membership No.: 118894
UDIN: 24118894BKGQHF7740

Place: Mumbai = Place: Mumbai
Date: May 03, 2024 Date: May 03, 2024



Audited Standalone Financial Information for the year ended March 31, 2024

IRB Infrastructure Trust
SEBI Regd. No.: IN/INVIT/19-20/0012

(Rs. in million)

Six months ended Year ended
March 31, September 30, March 31, March 31, March 31,
Sr. ; 2024 2023 2023 2024 2023
No. |Farticulars (Audited) (Audited)
(Refer note 4 (Unaudited) (Refer note 4 (Audited) (Audited)
(i)) (ii))
I |Incomes and gains
Interest on loan 10,126.84 6.334.88 2,112.36 16,461.72 422177
Interest on bank deposits 82.72 14.52 97.04 -
Profit on sale of investments 99.78 1.23 0.78 101.01 0.92
Other income** 50.28 - 0.18 50.28 0.18
Total Incomes and Gains 10,359.62 6,350.43 2,113.32 16,710.05 4,222.87
I |Expenditure
Valuation expenses 4.20 1.21 1.69 541 2.67
Audit fees 6.17 0.24 1.13 6.41 1.63
Investment management fees 58.76 87.56 28.26 146.32 56.52
Custodian fees 0.19 - - 0.19 -
Trustee fees 7.18 - 2.53 7.18 2.53
Finance cost (interest) 2.457.86 5.70 - 2.463.56 -
Finance cost (others) 67.27 1.26 - 68.53 -
Legal and professional expenses 8.64 18.25 34.52 26.89 48.99
Fair value loss on measurement of other 3.756.40 1178.97 271.04 4.935.37 560.53
payable
Other expenses* 5.52 0.84 0.68 6.36 0.99
Total Expenses 6,372.19 1,294.03 339.85 7,666.22 673.86
m g;"_‘:tl’l()"’”) before tax for the period/year 3,987.43 5,056.41 1,773.47 9,043.83 3,549.01
v Tax expense (current tax and deferred tax) / ) ) ) } i
reversal
v :’[';‘I’)““((I':f;) afier tax for the peripdiyesr 3,987.43 5,056.41 1,773.47 9,043.83 3,549.01
VI |ltems of Other Comprehensive Income - = - = n
VIT |Total Comprehensive Income (V) + (VI) 3,987.43 5,056.41 1,773.47 9,043.83 3,549.01

* Other expenses include bank charges, rates and taxes and miscellaneous expenses.

** Other Income includes Fair value gain and Interest on unwinding of loan.

Registered Office: 1101, 11 Floor. Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue,
Powai, Mumbai - 400 076, Maharashtra, India. ; Tel: 022 - 67336400; Fax: 022 - 4053 6699

E-mail: irbinfrastructuretrust(@irb.co.in Website: www.irbinfratrust.co.in:




Notes to the Standalone Financial Information:

The Audited Standalone Financial Information comprises of the Standalone Statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive
income) and explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 of the Securities and Exchange
Board of India (““SEBI”) Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended, (“the SEBI Circular”) of
IRB Infrastructure Trust (“Trust’) for the year ended March 31, 2024 being submitted by the Trust pursuant to the requirements of Regulation
23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular ("InvIT
Regulation").

The Audited Standalone Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the InvIT Regulations; recognition and measurement
principles laid down in the Indian Accounting Standards, as defined in Rule 2(1) (a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015,
as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations. (refer note 3.
for presentation of "Unit Capital" as "Equity" instead of compound instruments under IndAS 32 - Financial Instruments : Presentation).

Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unitholders not less than 90% of the net distributable cash
flows of the Trust for each financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to its
Unitholders cash distributions. Hence. the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument which contains equity ond Kability components in
accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments. However, in accordance with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the SEBI circular, the Unit
capital have been presented as "Equity" in order to comply with the requirements of Section H of Chapter 3 of the SEBI circular, dealing with
the minimum presentation and disclosure requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Cupital being classified as equity, the
distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders' Equity when the distributions are approved by the Board
of Directors of Investment Manager.

(i) The Standalone Financial Information for the half year ended March 31, 2024 are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect
of the year ended March 31, 2024 and the reviewed figures up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous
financial year, which were subject to limited review.

(ii) The Standalone Financial Information for the half year ended March 31, 2023 are the derived figures between the audited figures in respect
of the year ended March 31. 2023 and the reviewed figures up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous
financial year, which were subject to limited review.

The Standalone Financial Information for the year ended March 31, 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Investment
Manager at their meeting held on May 03, 2024 and thereafter approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting
held on May 03, 2024,

IRB Infrastructure Trust was registered as an irrevocable Trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on August 27, 2019 and as an infrastructure
investment Trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on November 25.
2019. Units of IRB Infrastructure Trust have been listed on NSE on April 03, 2023.

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager declared 1st Distribution of Rs. .52 per unit which comprises of Rs. 0.44 per unit as
interest and Rs. 1.08 per unit as return of capital, 2nd Distribution of Rs, 2,82 per unit towards return of capital and 3rd Distribution of Rs.
0.24 per unit as interest in their meeting held on October 25, 2023, January 25, 2024 and May 03, 2024 respectively.

During the previous year, on April 7, 2022, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Palsit Dankuni
Tollway Private Limited (‘SPV’) by the Trust and accordingly, the project is being executed by the SPV through the Trust.

On July 29, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of TRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited
(‘SPV”) by the Trust and accordingly. the project is being executed by the SPV through the Trust.

On October 12, 2023, Definitive Agreements in relation to the implementation of Samakhiyali Santalpur BOT Project were entered through
the Trust. Vide the said agreement, the Investment Manager and Trustee (acting on behalf of the Trust) have now executed the definitive
agreements with the Sponsor, affiliates of GIC as financial investors (“Financial Investors™), and Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited
(“STPL”) subject to the fulfilment of the conditions precedent set out therein. STPL has been added to Trust from it's Appointed date
(December 28, 2023).

Investors can view the results of the IRB Infrastructure Trust (*Trust’) on the Trust’s website (www.irbinfratrust.co.in) or on the website of’
NSE {(www.nseindia.com).




Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI Circular No.SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115

a. Net Distributable Cash Flow for the half year ended March 31, 2024

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust

(Rs. in Million)

Six months ended

Sr. No i’arli oy Six months ended SR Six months ended|  Year ended Year ended
I rtcl March 31, 2024 P 2023 | |March 31,2023 | March 31,2024 | March 31,2023
| Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest' 2,423.20 1,325.00 1,190.00 3,748.20 2,097.00
2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - - - - -
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above,
3 including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by 183.94 15.55 0.78 199.49 0.92
the Trust
ived fi j v
4 Cash flows reccn—re rom the prln]ecl SPVs towards l!le repayment 9.650.56 (752.80) (842.00) £.897.76 (1,928 34)
(Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust”
5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,257.70 587.75 348.78 12,845.45 169.58
Less:
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level 5 .
< i i ’ 2 ;s 15.06 4 2634 .54 3.33
8 including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager @A148) (115.06) (©8.81) ( 34) (113.33)
7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - - - - -
8 Repayment of external debt (646.69) - - (646.69) -
9 Promoter contribution in under construction Project SPVs (4,855.00) - - (4,855.00) -
10 Total cash outflows / retention at the Trust level (B) (8,021.17) (115.06) (68.81) (8,136.23) (113.33)
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,236.53 472,69 279.98 4,709.22 56.25
Note
Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.7,703.64 millions, Rs.5,009.88 millions,Rs, 922,36 millions,Rs. 12,713.52 millions and Rs. 2,124.77 Millions for the six months
1 ended March 31, 2024, six months ended September 30, 2023, six months ended March 31, 2023, year ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2023.
5 Netted - off with disbursement of shori-term unsecured loan to related parties. (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial results).
3 The same is carmarked towards capex for ongoing projects.




b) Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the fees will be paid to the Investment Manager for the services provided by it (“Management
Fees"). The Management Fees have been revised for the Financial Year with the approval of the Unitholders, where the votes cast by Unitholders so entitled and voting
in favor of a resolution are not less than one-and-a-half times the votes cast against such resolution, Pursuant to a resolution of the Unitholders, the Management Fees

for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been revised to Rs. 146.32 million.

¢) Statement of earnings per unit

(Rs. in millions, except for unit data)

Six months

Six months ended Six months Year ended Year ended
Particulars ended March Sentember 30 ended March | March 31, March 31,
31,2024 pte | 31,2023 2024 2023
2023
Profit for the period / year 3,087.43 5,056.41 1,773.17 9,043 83 3,549.01
Num_hl:r of umt_s outstanding for computation of basic and diluted 1,02,72,23320{ 91,97,56,653| 879293265 | 973489986 87.79.64,498
earnings per unit
Eamings per unit in Rs. (basic and diluted) 3.88 5.50 2.02 9.29 4.04
d) Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments
(Rs. in millions)
As at
Particulars September 30, March 31,
March 31, 2024 2023 2023
Contingent liabilities Refer Note Refer Note Refer Note
: below below below
Commitments Nil Nil Nil

Note : The Trust has provided Corporate guarantee for the subsidiary companies i.e. SYTL and YATL in respect of the NCDs issued during the

FY 2022-23.




List of Related Parties

L. List of Related parties of the Trust [As per Regulation 2 (1) (zv)]

1

Parties to the InvIT

Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per Table A’
below)*

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment
Manager)

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited { Trustee of the
IRB Infrastructure Trust)

Associates, Promoters, Directors and Partners of the

persons mentioned in clause |

As per Table B' below#

* Table A - Sponsor Group and Project Manager

(i) The sponsor(s)

(ii) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by
such sponsor

(iii) Entities or person(s) who control such body
corporate

(iv) Entities or person(s) which
are controlled by entities or
person(s) specified in clause

(iii)

IRB Infrastructure
Developers Limited

Modemn Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL)

IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway
Private Limited (IRBAV)

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL)
Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited
(TGTRPL)

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development
Company Private Limited (IRBK)

ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL)
Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL)
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL)

GE1 Expressway Private Limited (Formerly known
as IRB PP Project Private Limited)

IRB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS)

IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA)
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL)
Aryan [nfrastructure [nvestments Private Limited
(AIIPL)

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL)

IRB MP Expressway Private Limited

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRB Goa)
MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of
MRMPL)

VM7 Expressway Private Limited

Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited
Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary
uplo 27.12.2023)

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited - JV

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) -JV
IRB Infrastructure Trust - JV

Project SPV's of IRB Infrastructure Trust as
mentioned below:

1. IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL)

2, Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL)

3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL)
4, Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)

6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL)

7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL)

8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL)
9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited
(IRBHMTL)

10. Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL)

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited
(IRBGEPL)

12. IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w.e.f
10.11.2023

13, Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w.e.f.
28.12.2023

14. IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited w.e.f.
01.01.2024

15, IRB Gwalior Private Limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar,
Promoter of Sponsor

IRB Holding Private Limited

Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor
Virendra D, Mhaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Virendra
Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor

VDM Ventures Private
Limited

Duex Farming Films Private
Limited




# Table B - List of promoters, directors and partners of the persons mentioned in elause 1

Parties to the Trust

Promoters

Directors

(i) IRB Infrastructure
Developers Limited
(Sponsor and Project
Manager)

I Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3, Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chairman and
Managing Director

2, Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director
3. Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goncer

4. Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal

5. Mr. Chandrashekhar S, Kaptan- Independent
director

6, Mr. Sunil H. Talati -Independent director

7. Mr. Sandeep J. Shah - Independent director

8. Ms, Priti Savla - Independent director

(ii) Entitics or person(s)|
which are controlled by
such sponsor

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

3. Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi

4. Mrs. Arati Taskar

5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing

6. Mr. Rajpaul Sharma

7. Mr. Amitabh Murarka

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

9. Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar

10. Mr. Nikhil Maniar

11. Mr. Tushar Kawedia

12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh

13, Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon

12. Mr. Sunil Tandon -Independent Director
14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -Independent Director
15. Mr. Rushabh Gandhi

16. Mrs. Anusha Date-Independent Director
17. Mr. Kulumani Gopalratnam Krishnamurthy-
Independent Director

18. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director
19. Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

20. Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director
21. Ms. Shilpa Todankar

. Mr. Abhay Phatak

. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar

. Mr. Omprakash Singh

. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan

. Mr. Boon Chin Hau

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh

Mr. Amyn Jassani
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(iii) Entities or
person(s) who control
such body corporate

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2, Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

(iv) Entities or
person(s) which are
controlled by entities or|

1. Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

W —

MMK Toll Road
Private Limited
(Investment Manager)

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar

Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

Mr. Boon Chin Hau

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar

Mr. K G Krishnamurthy -Independent director
Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director
Mr. Amyn Jassani - Independent director

IDBI Trusteeship
Services Limited
(Trustee of IRB
Infrastructure Trust)

IDBI Bank Limited
LIC Corporation Limited
General Insurace Corporation

Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain

Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra

Ms, Baljinder Kaur Mandal




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Transactions with Related Parties

( Rs. in Million)

Sr. No. Particulars Relation Six month ended Six month ended Six month ended Year ended Yenr ended
March 31, 2024 Sept 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
1 Equity Investment 6,794.13 7,154.50 - 13,948.63 1,212.00
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - - - - 1,212.00
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary - 7.154.50 - 7,154.50 -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 4,205.80 - - 4,205.80 -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,162.00 - - 1.162.00 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 393.48 - - 393.48 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,032.85 - - 1.032.85 -
2 Subordinated debt given/ transferred from unsecured loan 24,539.79 20,647.40 - 45,187.19 2,282.64
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tallway Limited Subsidiary 204.18 250.00 - 454.18 383.76
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 164.05 - - 164.05 685.88
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 2,424 50 - - 2.424.50 1.213.00
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,067.60 20,397.40 - 21.465.00 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 159.52 - - 159.52 -
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 168.46 - - 168.46 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 46.82 - - 46.82 -
Udaipur Tallway Limited Subsidiary 555.01 - - 555.01 .
Salapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 299.47 - - 299.47 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 828.35 - - 828,35 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 457.45 - - 45745 -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,268.00 - - 1,268.00 -
TRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 12,617.40 - - 12.617.40 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,180.43 - - 1,180.43 B
TRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,008.55 - - 3,098.55 -
3 Subordinated Debt- repaid 6,553.77 - - 6,553,77 -
TRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 540.00 - - 540.00 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 487257 - - 4,872.57 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 260.00 - - 260.00 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 513,50 - - 513.50 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 367.70 - - 367.70 -
3 Interest unwinding on Long term loan 24.42 24.42 24.29 48,84 48.71
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 24.42 2442 24.29 48.84 48.71
4 Short Term Loan given 2,747.04 732.80 1,367.10 3,479.84 2,643.20
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 250.00 15.00 - 265.00 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - - - 46.50
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 196.72 139.00 403.50 335.72 1,231.10
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 272,84 - - 272,84 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 24.00 - - 24,00 -
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 53754 402,50 719.40 940.04 1.120.90
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 434.29 176.30 242.20 610.39 242.20
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 160.00 - - 160.00 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 519.80 - - 519.80 250
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 246.60 E - 246.60 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 36.04 - - 36.04 -
TRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 69.21 - - 69,21 -
5 Long Term Lonn given-Secured 31,807.00 15,300.00 - 46,239.70 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 5,280.00 - 4,827.40 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 10,020.00 - 9,605.30 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6,767.90 - - 6,767.90 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,996.00 - - 9,996.00 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 15,043.10 - - 15,043.10 -
6 Long Term Loan given- Unsecured 13,513.89 113.65 - 13,627.54 -
Kaithal Tallway Limited Subsidiary 5,072.60 45.80 - 5,118.40 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,594.70 6786 - 2,662.56 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 198.88 - 198.88 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 32.00 - 32.00 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,615.70 - 5,615,70 -
7 Long Term Loan repaid (Unsecured) 12,096.53 - - 12,096.53 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,202.81 - - 5,202.81 -
TRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2217.01 -




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Transactions with Related Parties
( Rs. in Million)
Sr. No Partical Relation Six month ended Six month ended Six month ended Year ended Year ended
-he o March 31, 2024 Sept 30, 2023 March 31,2023 | March 31,2024 | March 31, 2023
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 205 - - 2.05 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.41 - - 0.41 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.674.25 - - 4,674.25 -




[RB Infrastructure Trust
Transactions with Related Parties

( Rs. in Million)

Sr. No Particulnis Relation Six month ended Six month ended Six month ended Year ended Year ended
T March 31, 2024 Sept 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
8 Short Term Loan repaid 1,886.95 - 525.10 1,886.95 525.10
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 424.30 - - 424.30 -
[RB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 322.00 - - 322.00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 145.00 - 525.10 145.00 525.10
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 24.00 - - 24.00 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 100.00 - - 100.00 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 519.80 - - 519.80 -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 246,60 - - 246.60 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 36.04 - - 36.04 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 69.21 - - 69.21 -
9 Unit Capital Issued 11,508.36 14,631.32 - 26,139.68 1,236.75
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Spongarand 11,508.36 14,631 32 . 26,139.68 1,236.75
Project Manager
10 Interest income 10,126.84 6,334.88 2,112.36 16,461.72 4,221.77
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 604.32 587.94 279.23 1,192.25 560.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 646.61 875.44 297.35 1,522,05 581.77
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,315.34 912.34 591.39 2,227.67 1,186.02
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,872.56 1,298 44 279.23 3,171.00 560.00
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,854.63 1.411.54 665.16 3,266.16 1,333.98
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 769.47 17297 - 94245 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,569.79 687.48 - 2,257.27 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,494.12 388,74 - 1.882.86
11 Investment Manager Fees 58.76 87.56 28.26 146.32 56.52
MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Tnvestment 58.76 §7.56 28.26 14632 56.52
Manager
12 Expenses incurred on behalf of others 50.25 46.28 89.95 96,52 358,04
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.52 0.03 0.01 4.55 11
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 - 935 0.01 4845
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1.12 10.27 30.66 11.38 194,00
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.65 3.60 293 4.25 32.63
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3.07 4.95 4.84 .02 7.61
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.00 14.11 0.01 16,08
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.00 3,77 0.01 3.78
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.00 8.17 0.0l 8.69
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.03 5.10 - 5.13 0.01
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 17.39 21.47 16.03 38.85 45.60
MMEK Toll Road Pyt Limited Avtmonl ) 0.45 0.08 0.45 0.08
Manager
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary - 0.41 - 0.39 -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 5.98 - - 5.98 -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.24 - - 0.24 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 4,67 - - 4.67 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 12.57 = - 12.57 &
13 Unsecured Loan received 476,20 250,00 - 726.20 1,532,48
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sgodent and 476.20 250.00 - 726.20 1,532.48

Project Manager




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Transactions with Related Parties

( Rs. in Million)

Sr. No Particulars Relation Six month ended Six month ended Six month ended Year ended Year ended
T March 31, 2024 Sept 30, 2023 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2024 | March 31, 2023
14 Unsecured Loan repaid 5,599.11 - 267.50 5,599.11 267.50

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Spanisarand 5,599,11 - 267.50 5,599.11 267.50
Project Manager
15 Receipt of Interest Income 2,51L.20 1,325.00 - 3,836,20 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary . 390.00 - 390.00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 460.60 215.00 - 675.60 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 720.00 - 720.00 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 400.60 - - 400.60 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 450.00 - - 450.00 -
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,200.00 - - 1,200,00 -
16 Interest Distribution 229.35 4 - 229.35 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited SFonsur and 22935 - - 229.35 -
Project Manager
17 Capital Reduction 2,032.84 - - 2,032.84 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited ngnsur and 2032384 - - 2,032.84 -
Project Manager
18 Other Payable 3,780.83 1,203.39 29532 4,984.22 609.23
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sganstrand 3,756.41 1.178.97 271.03 493538 560.52
Project Manager
Subsidiaries
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited armpay At 2442 24.42 2429 48.84 4871
Sponsor and
Project Manager
19 Trustee Fees 0.15 0.41 253 0.56 253
1DBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 0.15 0.41 253 0.56 253
20 Long Term loan given - MMR 1,300.00 - - 1,300.00 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 413.00 - - 413,00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 45230 - - 452,30 -
AE Tallway Limited Subsidiary 390,90 - - 390.90 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 43,80 - - 43.80 -
21 Long Term loan repaid-MMR 11.29 - - 11.29 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5.74 - - 5.74 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.79 - - 479 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.19 - - 0.19 -
IRB Hapur Meradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.57 - - 0.57 -
22 Secured Long Term Loan repaid 485,08 ® = 485.08 =
TRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 133.51 - - 133.51 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 51.17 - - 51.17 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 338 - - 3.38 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 102.96 - - 102.96 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 194.06 - - 194.06 -
23 Expenses incurred on our behnlf 4.10 - - 4.10 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsar aid 410 . . 410 :
Project Manager
24 Investment Management Fees 58.76 87.56 28.26 146.32 56.52
MMK Toll Road Pyt Limited i 58.76 87.56 28,26 146.32 56.52
Manager




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Related Party Qutstanding Balances

( Rs. in Million)

. . As on As on As on
Sra Mo Pariicabyes Relanon March 31,2024 Sept 30,2023 March 31,2023

1 Equity Investment 36,160.64 29,366.51 22,212.01
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,365.00 4.365.00 4,365.00
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,035.00 2,035.00 2,035.00
Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,715.00 3,715.00 3,715.00
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,741.94 1,741.94 1,741.94
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,555.00 1,555.00 1,555.00
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,280.00 3,280.00 3,280.00
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 982.50 982.50 982.50
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,168.00 1,168.00 1,168.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,157.57 2,157.57 2,157.57
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,212.00 1,212.00 1,212.00
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 7,154.50 7,154.50 -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,162.00 - -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 4,205.80 - -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 393.48 - -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,032.85 - -

2 Subordinated debt 33,591.55 12,279.20 72,212.43
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - 10,265.88
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,896.26 2,727.80 2,727.80
Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - 9,798.52
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - 12,203.92
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - 249538
Kaithal Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary B - 4.426.04
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - 4,423.70
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8,893.41 8,338.40 8,338.40
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - - 16,319.79
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,637.50 1,213.00 1,213.00
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,268.00 - -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 12,617.40 - -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,180.43 - -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,098.55 - -

3 Subordinated debt - (Interest bearing) 77,254.30 80,580.63 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 10,425.40 10,265.88 -
Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,712.69 10,048.52 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 7,788.81 12,203.92 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,399.43 2,495.38 -
Kaithal Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 4,472.86 4,426.04 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,209.67 4.423.70 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 16,780.44 16,319.79 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 21,465.00 20,397.40 -

4 Long term loan ( Interest bearing) 31,531.00 30,113.65 30,000.00
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 994131 9,528.41 9,528.41
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.445.55 4,067.86 4,000.00
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2915.73 8,517.38 8,471.59
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 196.83 - -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 31.59 - -

5 Long term loan ( Interest free) 400.53 376.11 351.69
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Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 400.53 376.11 351.69

6 Secured Long Term Loan 45,754.62 15,300.00 %
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9.471.79 10,020.00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,776.23 5,280.00 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6,764.52 - -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,893.04 - -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 14,849.04 - -




IRE Infrastructure Trust
Related Party Qutstanding Balances

( Rs. in Million)

. Ason Ason Ason
Sr. No. Particul i
F AEsieuky Relation March 31,2024 Sept 30,2023 March 31,2023
7 Short Term Loan 6,470.38 6,174.09 5421.29
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 319.59 493.89 478.89
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,361.80 2,487.08 2,348.08
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 284.55 156.71 156.71
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 24.00 24.00
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2275.35 1,737.81 1,335.31
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,169.09 734.80 558.50
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 60.00 20.00 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 519.80 519.80
8 Other payable 40,760.47 36,979.65 35,776.26
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Spansor srid Prgject 37,030.95 3327455 32,095.57
Manager
Subsidiaries Company of
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited Sponsor and Project 400.53 376.11 351.69
‘ Manager
Subsidiaries Company of
Modem Road Makers Private Limited Sponsor and Project 1,784.13 1,784.13 1,784.13
Manager
Subsidiaries Company of
IRB Goa Tollway private Limited Sponsor and Project 1,544.86 1,544.86 1,544.86
Manager
9 Other payable ( Reimbursement of Expenses incurred on 0.49 1.77 177
our behalf)
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Rppior i Eiagmos 049 1.77 177
Manager
10 Other Receivable 291.48 299.93 284.13
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.89 4.89 4.89
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6.74 8.17 8.17
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.02 13.71 13.76
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13.97 14.11 14.11
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.00 0.01
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 47.35 4734 47.35
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 182.70 181.58 171.32
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 27.14 26.49 22,90
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.59 0.00
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 8.30 2.65 1.54
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary - 0.39 -
MMK Toll Road Private Limited Investment Manager - - 0.08
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.24 - -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.06 - -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.04 - -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 0.01 - -
11 BG Margin Receivable 30,95 - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Hponsorand Projest 30.95 - -
Manager
12 Interest Receivable 16,378.71 12,690.92 7,681.04
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Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,342,15 737.84 539.90
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,287.32 640,71 485.27
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,664.81 2,810.07 2,112.74
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,55 2,850.44 1,552.00
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,807.30 4.402.67 2991.13
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 942.45 172.97 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,447.27 687.48 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,882.86 388.74 -

13 Trade payable 95.19 101.17 78.54
MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Investment Manager 95.19 101.17 78.54

14 Long term loan ( Interest bearing) -MMR 1,288.71 - -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 407.26 - -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 447.51 - -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 390.71 - -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 43.23 - -

15 Unsccured Loan - 5,122.91 4,872.91

Subsidiaries Company of
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project - 5,122.91 4.872.91
Manager

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited
(Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust)

=

Virendra D. Mhaiskar
Chairman

Place : Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Unit Holders of IRB Infrastructure Trust

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have jointly audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IRB Infrastructure
Trust (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”) and its subsidiaries (Trust and its subsidiaries together
referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024,
the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holder’s Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year then ended, Consolidated Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2024,
Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and Net Distributable cashflows of the Trust
and each of its subsidiaries for the year then ended as an additional disclosure in accordance with
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-
2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended, (“the SEBI Circular”) for the year ended March
31, 2024 and notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and
based on consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements of subsidiaries,
, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by SEBI (Infrastructure
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, together
known as (the “InviT Regulations”) and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian
Accounting Standards prescribed under rule 2(1)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015, as amended (“Ind AS") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to
the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations, of their consolidated state of affairs of the
Group as at March 31, 2024, of consolidated net loss (including other comprehensive loss),
consolidated changes in unit holder’s equity, its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, its
consolidated net asset assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, its consolidated total returns at fair
value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust and each of its subsidiaries for the year ended as
on date and other financial information of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our joint audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAl”). Our
responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAl, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained and on consideration of audit reports of other auditors referred to
in paragraph (a) of the “Other Matters” section below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to Note 13 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, which

describes the presentation of ‘Unit Capital’ as ‘Equity’ to comply with InvIT Regulations. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current year. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report:

Sr. No

Key Audit Matter

How the Key Audit Matter was addressed in

our audit

1

The Trust has payable of Rs. 40,760.96
million as on March 31, 2024 to IRB
Infrastructure Developers Limited
(“Sponsor”) on account of transfer of 9
praject companies by the Sponsor. (Refer
note 17 of the consolidated financial
statements).

Pursuant to settlement of IRB Infrastructure
Trust (‘Trust) by Sponsor, as a Private
InvIT, the Trust has entered into Debt
Novation Agreements (DNA). As per the
terms of DNA, in consideration of assets
taken over in 9 project companies, Trust
has issued units and agreed to transfer to
the Sponsor, the claim amounts when and
to the extent the same are eventually
received by project companies, on account
of Sponsor claims.

Such Sponsor claims are lodged after
obtaining Commercial Operation Date by
respective project companies. The amount
realisable against claims has been
estimated by the valuers based on the
weighted average of probabilities of
realisation of such claims,

Based on the fair value of liability as
estimated by the valuers, a resultant
impact in the value of liability has been
recognised under the head ‘Loss of fair
value measurement of other payables’.

There is significant judgement involved on
assessing fair value of these payables which
is based on key assumptions such as timing
of collection, the discount rate, and the
probability of success in respect of the
claims.

Our audit procedures included:

1.

Evaluated the design and implementation
and testing operating effectiveness of key
controls placed around the assessment
process of the amount payable to
Sponsor.

Obtained Trust’s assessment of the fair
valuation of the deferred consideration
payable. These projections are based on
underlying infrastructure project cash
flows which are sensitive to some of the
claims to be settled with NHAI/HDMA.

Assessed the work performed by
management as well as management’s
external valuation expert, including the
valuation methodology and the key
assumptions used. Further, also assessed
the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the expert used by the
management in the process of evaluating
impairment models.

Involved our internal valuation specialist,
where appropriate, to evaluate the
reasonability of the methodology,
approach and discount rate used in the
valuation carried out for determining the
fair value of deferred consideration
payable.
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Impairment Testing for Intangible Assets
- Toll Collection Rights (refer Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements)

Our audit procedures included:

As at March 31, 2024, the carrying amount | 1. Evaluated the design and implementation
of intangible assets and intangible assets and verified, on a test check basis the
under development is Rs. 3,17,031.31 operating effectiveness of key controls
million and Rs. 64,816.48 million around the estimation of future cash flows
respectively. forecasts, the process by which they were
produced, and the discount rates used.
The Trust’s project subsidiaries have toll
collection rights as intangible assets and | 2. Understanding Trust’s assessment on
intangible under developement pursuant to impairment for intangible assets - toll
the concession agreements. The carrying collection rights and intangible under
value of these rights acquired under Build- development. Assessed the model by
Operate-Transfer (BOT) & Toll-Operate- testing the mathematical accuracy of the
Transfer (TOT) basis is being compared to discounted cash flow model, evaluation of
the recoverable value (which is value in use the assumption and methodologies on a
in the instant case) thereof to ascertain for test check basis that were used to arrive at
impairment. the underlying recoverable value.
The process involves estimating the value in | 3. Engaged internal valuation specialists to
use of the asset which is determined by evaluate the adequacy of specific inputs
forecasting and discounting future cash such as the discount rate, traffic growth
flows. The same is sensitive to changes in rate, toll charges etc.
discount rate, traffic growth rates, toll
growth rates, concession period etc. 4. Focused on key assumptions such as
discount rate, traffic growth rates, toll
The determination of the recoverable rates, concession period etc. which were
amount of the toll collection right involves most sensitive to the recoverable value of
significant judgment due to inherent the intangible asset
uncertainty in the assumptions evaluated
for recoverable amount of these rights. 5. Evaluated the objectivity, independence

Accordingly, the evaluation of impairment
of toll collection rights has been
determined as a key audit matter

and competence of specialists involved.

Disclosures relating to Statement of Net
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of
Total returns at Fair value as per InvIT
Regulations.

The Trust is required to disclose Statement
of Net Assets at Fair Value and Statement
of Total Returns at Fair Value pursuant to
SEBI Circulars issued under the InvIT
Regulations which requires valuation of
assets. Such fair valuation has been carried
out by the independent valuer appointed by
the Investment Manager of the Trust.

For the above purpose, fair value is
determined by the management using

Our audit procedures included:

1.

Obtained an understanding of regulatory
requirements by reading the requirements
of SEB| Regulations along with the relevant
SEBI circulars, pursuant to which the
Statements are prepared by the Investment
Manager.

Obtained an understanding of the Trust’s
policies and procedures adopted by the
Investment Manager for computation and
disclosure of the Statements.
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discounted cash flow (‘DCF’) valuation
method  which  involves  significant
management judgement in respect of
various estimates used as inputs such as
determination of future cash flows,
discount rates, revenue growth rates,
inflation rates, tax rates, amongst others.
The determination of fair value involves
judgement due to inherent high estimation
uncertainty in the underlying assumptions.

Considering the judgement involved in
determination of fair values due to inherent
uncertainty and complexity of the
assumptions used in determination of fair
values, this is considered as a key audit
matter for the current year audit.

. Assessed the work

. Evaluated the

performed by
management as well as management's
external valuation expert, including the
valuation methodology and the key
assumptions used. Also assessed the
competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the expert used by the management in
the process.

. Involved our internal valuation specialist,

where appropriate, to evaluate the
reasonability of the methodology,
approach and assumptions used in the
valuation carried out for determining the
fair value.

. Tested arithmetic accuracy of cash flows

projections and sensitivity analysis.

appropriateness and
adequacy of disclosures for compliance
with the relevant requirements of SEBI

regulations.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the “Board”) are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the Annual Report but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Annual report is expected to
be made available to us after the date of auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in term of the requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position, consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in unit holder’s equity,
consolidated cash flows of the Group, consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024,
consolidated total returns at fair value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust and it’s
subsidiaries for the year ended as on date and other financial information in accordance with the
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requirement of InvIT Regulations; the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under Rule 2(1){a) of
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 , as amended, and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations. The
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance
of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the
assets of the Group for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection and
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the
Board of Directors of the Investment Manager, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of the Trust and the respective Board
of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the
Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of the Trust and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group
are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing (“SAs") will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

We give in “Annexure A" a detailed description of Auditor's responsibilities for Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Matters

a. We did not audit the financial statements of six subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect
total assets of Rs. 1,22,334.50 million (before consolidation adjustments) as at March 31, 2024,
total revenues of Rs. 20,960.13 million (before consolidation adjustments) and net cash outflows
amounting to Rs. 157.30 million for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated
financial statements. These financial statements have been audited by other auditor whose
reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of
these subsidiaries , is based solely on the reports of the other auditor.




Gokhale & Sathe MS K A & Associates

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, Western Express Highway,
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. Geetanjali Railway Colony,
Telephone + 91 (22) 43484242 Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E),
Fax + 91 (22) 43484241 Mumbai 400063, India

Tel: +91 22 6238 0519

b. The consolidated financial statements of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2023, were
audited by Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered Accountants, one of the joint auditors of the Trust whose
report dated May 12, 2023 expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements is not modified in respect of the above matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit and as required by InvIT Regulations, we report that:

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated
financial statements.

b. The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other
comprehensive income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity, the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow, Consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024,
Consolidated total returns at fair value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust and each of
its subsidiaries for the year ended dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant
books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

¢. Inour opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting
Standards (‘Ind AS’) as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the
extent not inconsistent with the InvIiT Regulations.

For Gokhale & Sathe For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
ICAl Firm Registration No.103264W o ICAl Firm Registration No.105047W

CA Kaustubh Deshpande \ o 408 ; z’ Nitin Tiwari

Partner Ny e/ Partner

Membership No.: 121011 e Membership No.: 118894
UDIN: 24121011BKAAO0O4370 UDIN: 24118894BKGQHE9759
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Date: May 03, 2024 Date: May 03, 2024
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON EVEN DATE ON THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF IRB INFRASTRUCTURE TRUST

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on whether the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with
reference to consolidated financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of
such controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group's to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial
statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we
are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial
statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Trust and such other entities
included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our joint
audit.
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Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended March 31, 2024 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

We also performed procedures in accordance with Regulation 13(2)(e) of the InvIT Regulations,
as amended to the extent applicable.

For Gokhale & Sathe For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants

ICAIl Firm Registration No.103264W ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W

CA Kaustubh Deshpande

Nitin Tiwari

Partner & / Partner

Membership No.: 121011 e Membership No.: 118894
UDIN: 24121011BKAAOQ4370 UDIN: 24118894BKGQHE9759
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Date: May 03, 2024 Date: May 03, 2024




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31, 2024

(Rs. in million)
Notes As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property. Plant and Equipment 4.1 6.63 739
Goodwill a4 54 04,54
Other Intangible asscts 42 317.031.32 228.418.29
Intangible asscts under development 42 64.816.48 2421.67
Financial assets
i) Others 7 440810 033
Other non-current assels ) 12.00 174.07
Deferred tax assets 9 2.229.78 782.60
389,108,835 132,419.09
Current assels
Financial asscts
1) Investments 3 1.523.07 1.283.09
ii) Trade receivables G 68.15 84.67
iii) Cash and cash cquivalents 10 160567 731.31
iv} Bank balance other than Cash and cash cquivalents 11 6.672.40 4.8606.60
v} Others 7 2.346.30 1.448.506
Current tax assets (net) 12 174.41 24.81
Other current assels 8 337.93 2.657.07
12,927.93 11,096,200
Total assets 402,036.78 243,515,129
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Unit Capital 13 135.091.22 87.929.33
Subordinate debt 14 16.916.63 -
Other cquity
Other reserves 15 {17.640.04) (10,395 80)
Totul Equity 134,367.83 77.533.53
Non-controlling intcrests 149 081
Total unit holder's equity 134,369.32 77.534.34
Non-current liabilitics
Financial liabilitics
i) Borrowings 16 214.136.34 0R.943.95
ii) Other financial liabilities 17 40.765.03 35.780.k0
i) Trade payables 18 - 4.165.72
Provisions 1y 1.336.9% 296503
Deferred tax liabilitics 9 28089 36,80
256,519.24 141,892.30
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
i) Borrowings 16 117893 6.135.65
it) Trade payables 18
a) total outstanding ducs of micro enterprises and small 241 1.61
enterprises
b) tu(al_oulstandzng ducs of creditors ather than micro ST 1530547
enterprises and small enterpnscs
iii) Other financial liabilities 17 1.883.60 254937
Other current liabilitics 20 23599 O%.13
Provisions 19 223558 -
11,148.22 24,088.65
Total Fabilities 267,667.46 165,980.95
Total equity and liabilities 402,036.78 243,515.29
Summary of material accounting policies 3

The accompanying notes are an inlcgral part of Consolidated Financial Stalements,
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Virendra D. Mhaiskar Dhananjay K. Joshi

Chairman Chicf Execulive officer
DIN :00183354

For Gokhale & Sathe —
Chartered Accountants -
ICAI registration numbc; 3264W-

CA Kaustubh Dcs:lﬁ \ A x |

Partner \\ ) . /
Membership No. 121011 | ]

For MSK A & Associates ™ -

Chartered Accountants
ICAI registration number: 105047W -
b
U\} :/ - /
Nitin Tiwari Shilpa Todankar Kuustubh Shevade
Partner Chicf Financial Officer Company Sceretary

Muinbership No. 118894 Membership No.A27833

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 03, 2024

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 03. 2024




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024
(Rs. in million)

r For the year ended For the year ended
Facticilars Motes n\larchyh 1 2024 Mar:l:y;il, 2023
Income
Revenue from operations 21 38.930.75 26912.59
Other income 22 839.83 263.08
Total income 39,770.58 27,175.67
Expenses
Operating Expenses 23 19,876.05 12,865 52
Project Management Fees 3.573.20 2,647.70
Valuation Expenses 5.41 2.07
Insurance and Security Expenses 94.71 14.72
Trustee Fees 14.97 595
Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 24 0.95 1.25
Amortisation of Intangible Assets 24 3,648.04 2,809.17
Finance costs (Interest) 25 13,449 23 9,005.28
Finance costs (Others) 25 1,007.87 1,249.41
Audit fees 27 1248 5.04
Legal & Professional Fees 72617 163.58
Tnvestment Manager Fees 146,32 56.52
Custodian fees 1.21 0.09
Loss on sale of assets - Q.01
Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 4,93537 560.53
Other expenses 26 116.58 92.71
Total expenses 47,608.56 29.480,14
Profit/{loss) before tax (7,837.98) (2,304.47)
Tax expenses
Current tax 40 5.25 435.25
Deferred tax 40 (1,193.08) (468.13)
Total tax expenses (1,187.83) (32.38)
Profit/{loss) alter tax (6,650,15) (2,271.59)
Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassificd to profit or loss:

(a) Re-measurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) 2 -
Other comprehensive income/ {loss) lor the year, net of tax - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (6,650,15) (2.271.59)
Profit/(loss) after tax (6.650,15) (2,271.59)
Attributable to:

Unit holders (6.650.38) (2.272.18)
Non-controlling interests 0.23 0.59
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:

Unit holders (6.650.38) (2.272.18)
Non-controlling interests 023 0.59
Eamings per unit

Basic (in Rs)) 41 (6.83) (2.59)
Diluted (in Rs.) (6.83) (2.59)

Summary of material accounting policies 3
The accompanying noles are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements

As per our report of even date
For and an behalf of the Board of Directors of
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Date: May 03, 2024
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Date: May 03, 2024




TRB Infrastructure Trust

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period April 01, 2023 to March 31, 2024

Particulars

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax (7,837.98) (2,304.47)
Adjustment to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortisation 3,648.99 2,810.42
Resurfacing expenses 607.54 1,614.45
Fair value gain on mutual funds (10.42) (11.35)
Net (gain) on sale of current Investment (190.86) (62.95)
Finance costs 14,147.00 10.111.65
Interest income (566.97) (186.05)
Gain/(loss) on fair value measurement of other payable 493537 560.53
Dividend income on current investments (0.03) -
Operating profit before working capital changes 14,732.63 12,532,23
Movement in working capital:
Increase/ (Decrease) in trade payables (14,206.31) 1178.92
Increase/ (Decrease) in other financial liabilities (1,202.70) 43572
Increase/ (Decrease) in other liabilities & provision 85.39 (45.01)
(Increase) / Decrease in trade receivables 16.52 (33.12)
Decrease / (Increase) in other financial assets (904.80) 134.16
Decrease / (Increase) in other assets 4.027.16 (343.36)
Cash generated from operations 2,547.88 13,859.54
Taxes paid (net of refunds) (154.86) (345.84)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities (A) 2,393.02 13,513.70
Cash flows from investing activities
Purcha;ee ol'.pro.peny.. plant and equipment including CWIP, intangible (154.655.86) (11.055.81)
assets including intangible assets under development
Proceeds from sale/ (purchase) of current investments (net) (38.67) (549.25)
;::::)stmcnts in bank deposits (having maturity of more than three months) (6.153.51) (2396.72)
Interest received 514.80 200.12
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (B) (160,333.24) (13,801.66)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 165,552.04 32,302.27
Repayment of non convertible debentures (5,396.93) (124.36)
Repayment of non-current borrowings (43,167.48) (25799.39)
Proceed of current borrowings 97.68 1,532.48
Repayment of current borrowings (5,448.38) (447.97)
Issue of Unit capital 51,146.50 242500
Distribution made to unit holders (3,984.60) %
Issue of Subordinate Debt 16.916.65 -
Unit issue expenses (144 30) (15.33)
Finance cost paid (13,880.03) (9,140.79)
Transaction cost paid (2,428.99) -
Interest distribution to unitholders (449.55) -
Net cash flows generated from financing activities (C) 158,812.61 731.91
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 872.39 443,95
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 731.31 28723
Add: Cash acquired on transfer of SPV's 1.98 0.13
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,605.67 731.31
Components of cash and cash equivalents
Balances with scheduled banks:
- Trust, retention and other escrow accounts 477.22 394.06
= Others 349.09 279.37
- In deposit accounts with eriginal maturity less than 3 months 760.00 49.50
Cash on hand 19.36 8.38
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,605.67 731.31




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period April 01, 2023 to March 31, 2024

Particulars

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

Debt reconciliation statement in accordance with Ind AS 7

Opening balances
Long term borrowing
Short term borrowing

Movements
Cash Flows
Long term borrowing
Short term borrowing

Non-cash changes
Long term borrowing
Short term borrowing

Closing balances
Long term borrowing
Short term borrowing

Notes :
1. All figures in bracket are outflow.

1,01,369.82
5,350.72

1,17,874.84

(5,350.70)

2,19,244.66
0.02

94,124.22
4,085.74

7,245,60

1264.98

1,01,369.82
5350.72

2. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities.
3. The Consolidated Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows".

4. The Borrowings reflected in above Debt Reconciliation Statement are gross of Unamortised Transaction Cost.

Summary of material accounting policies

3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements,
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IRB Infrastructure Trust

Consolidated Statement of changes in unitholder's equity for the period April 01, 2023 to March 31, 2024

Statement of changes in Unitholders equity
A. Unit capital:

i) Units issued, subscribed and fully paid
Balance at the beginning of the year

Issue of Unit capital

Return of Unit capital (refer note 37)
Balance at the end of the period / year

B. Other equity

Retained earnings

Balance at the beginning of the year
Loss for the period / year

Interest Distribution (refer note 37)
Unit Issue expenses

Balance at the end of the period / year

C. Movement of NCI

Balance at the beginning of the year

Add: NCI on acquisition

Add: Profit Attributable for the period / year
Balance at the end of the period / year

(Rs. in millions)

As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
No. Rs. No. Rs.
87.92,93,265 87.929.33 85,50,43,265 85,504.33
23,44.00,000 51,146.50 2,42.50,000 2,425.00
- (3.984.60) - -
1,11,36,93,265 1,35,091.22 87,92,93,265 87,929.33

The accompanying notes are an integral part of Consolidated Financial Statements.

As per our report of even date
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(Rs. in million)

As at March 31, As at March 31,
2024 2023
(10,395.80) (8,108.29)
(6.650.38) (2,272.18)
(449.55) -
(144.30) (15.33)
(17,640.03) (10,395.80)

(Rs. in million)

As at March 31, As at March 31,
2024 2023
0.81
0.45 0.22
0.23 0.59
1.49 0.81

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
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IRB Infrastructure Trust
DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS

(SEBI Circular No, SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023)

A. Consolidated Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value

(Rs. in Million)

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023
Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

A, Assets 402,036.78 567,707.56 24351529 348,724 .47
B. Liabilities (at book value) 267,667.46 267,667.46 165,980.95 165,980.95
C. Net Assets (A-B) 134,369.32 300,040.10 77,534.34 182,743.52
D. Number of units (in millions) 1,113.69 1,113.69 879.29 879.29
E. NAV (C/D) (Amount in Rs.) 120.65 269.41 88.18 207.83
Project wise break up of fair value of total assets: (Rs. in Million)
Name of the project March 31,2024 | March 31,2023
IRB Weslcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 34,349.80 35,698.00
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 26,098.85 23,853.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 43,959.36 41,431.00
Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 23,729.03 24,837.00
AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 35,515,99 31,500.00
Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 2647147 26,618.00
CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 28,272.18 28,338.00
Kisk h Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 20,525.91 21,918.00
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) 43,182.42 41,868.00
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 17,954.33 11,277.00
IRB Galconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) 144 280.42 -

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) 4,966,03 -

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited(TLTPL) 49,878.83 -

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited(IKTPL) 7.190.66 -

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited(IGTPL) 13,416,72 -

Subtotal 519,792.00 287,338.00
Add: Net Assets adjusted for Deferred consideration (Refer Note 1) 40,760.96 35,778.03
Add: As per Valuation Report 3,380.52 2,065.50
Add: Other Adjustments at Trust level 3,774.08 23,542.94
Total asscts 567,707.56 348,724.47

B. Consolidated Statement of total returns at Fair Value :
( Rs, in Million)

Particulars For the year ended March 31,2024 For the year ended March 31, 2023
Total Comprehensive [Income
{As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) (6.830.15) (2:271.59)
Add/Less: other changes in fair value (e.g., in investment property, property, plant &
cquipment (if cost model is followed)) not recognized in total comprehensive 165,670.78 105,209.18
income

Tatal Return 159,020.63 102,937.59

Note 1: Liability as per books includes deferred consideration of INR 40,761 Million (PY; 35.778 Million) (Refer Note No. 17 ). Corresponding adjustements carried out
in the Fair value of Assets, which is not considered in the valuation reports issued by independent valuers appointed under the InvIT Regulations. Adjustement will not
have a impact on Net Assets determined by independent valuer,

Note 2: Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are derived
based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the InvIT Regulations.

As per our report of even date
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Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI Circulars No.SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115

a. Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2024

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust

(Rs. in Million)

Sr. No Particulars AR Year cnied
SN0 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023’
| Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest' 3,748.20 2.097.00
2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - -
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above,
3 including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by 199.49 0.92
the Trust
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment
4 i i S e 8.897.76 (1.928.34)
(Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust
5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,845.45 169.58
Less:
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, 5
8 including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager (3.634:54) (H3.33)
7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -
8 Repayment of external debt (646.69) -
9 Promoter contribution in under construction Project SPVs (4.855.00) -
10 |Total cash outflows / retention at the Trust level (B) (8,136.23) (113.33)
11 [Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,709.22 56.25
Note :
Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.7,703.64 millions, Rs.3.009.88 millions.Rs. 922.36 millions,Rs. 12,713.52 millions
I and Rs. 2,124.77 Millions for the six months ended March 31, 2024, six months ended September 30, 2023, six months ended
March 31, 2023, year ended March 31, 2024 and year ended March 31, 2023,
5 Netted - off with disbursement of short-term unsecured loan lo related parties. (Refer RPT
disclosures of standalone financial results).
3 The same is earmarked towards capex for ongoing projects.




(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC)

(Rs. in Million)
Year ended pean
% Description March 31 ehded
No. P S0ale * | March 31,
2023
1 |Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (3,308.86)| (1,135.93)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of] 214.60 164.74
profit and loss
3 |Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (238.79) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non
4 |cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if] 4229 137.31
deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 |Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 3,158.60 530.18
6 |Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) - -
7 |Less: Principal repayment of external debt (121.51) (70.97)
8 |Less: Tax paid - -
9 |Less: Creation of MMRA 322.00 -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (24.56) -
11 |Total adjustments (B) 3,352.64 761.26
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 43.78 (374.67)
Notes:

® Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

'The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from

external lenders and Trust.




(iii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL)

Rs. in Million)
Year ended | Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,302.40) (264.71)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit 573.49 550.99
and loss
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (537.41) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash
4 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed 74.36 41.68
necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,522.05 581.77
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 123.21 109.06
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - (60.29)
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 460.00 (220.00)
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 2,215.70 1,012.21
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 913.30 747.50
Notes

* Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(iv) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL)

Rs. in Million)
Year ended | Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (844.59) (225.45)
2 it(;l:i: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 156.93 168.97
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (109.90) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income
4 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by 36.44 20.80
the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,192.25 560.00
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 71.40 60.75
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt - (5.80)
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA /release of DSRA 260.00 (80.00)
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,607.12 724.66
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 762.53 499.21
Notes:

* Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(v) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)

(Rs. in Million)
Year ended| Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024% 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,895.65) (848.69)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 217.01 212.13
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 633.48 -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash
4 ; . 184.01 96.97
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 2,227.67 1,186.02
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (227.64) 176.65
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (50.13) (121.25)
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA 145.00 -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 3,129.40 1,550.52
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,233.75 701.83
Notes:

¥ Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.




(vi) Agra Etawah Tollway Limited (AETL)

{Rs. in Million)
Year ended | Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024+ 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (3,507.79) (1,749.13)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 326.30 309.71
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 413.41 -
4 Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 120.73 32.54
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager ' e
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 3,266.16 1,333.98
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (133.53) 185.82
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (23.23) (68.51)
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 424,30 -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 4,394.14 1,793.54
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 886.35 44.41
Notes

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.




(vii) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL)

Rs. in Million)
Year ended| Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,460.53) (1,903.87)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 429.26 364.50
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 908.52 -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash
4 : : 109.09 120.39
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - =
6 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) (87.05) 432,11
7 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (35.41) (28.84)
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,324.41 888.16
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (136.12)]  (1,015.71)
Notes:

* Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(viii) Chittorgarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (CGTL)

(Rs. in Million)
Year ended| Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,131.42) (936.67)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 398.41 371.14
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (21.16) -
4 Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 16.69 (110.79)
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager ) '
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - =
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 138.16 126.16
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (100.37) (79.44)
8 Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA - 5
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 451.73 307.08
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (679.69) (629.59)
Notes:

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.




(ix) Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL)

(Rs. in Million)
Year ended| Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024* 2023
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (2,038.30) (247.35)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 259.92 212.76
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (0.73) -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash
4 ; : 249.70 24935
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 942.45 -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 173.73 110.67
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (7.96) (36.32)
] Less: Tax paid - -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA /release of DSRA 360.00 -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 Total Adjustments (B) 1,977.11 536.46
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (61.19) 289.11
Notes

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.




(x) IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM)

Rs. in Million)
Year ended | Year ended
Sr. No. Description March 31, | March 31,
2024% 20234
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,844.84) (75.48)
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 481.39 351.78
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (992.13)
4 Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 33411 120.02
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager - '
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 2,257.27 -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 37237 270.19
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (96.43) (134.90)
8 Less: Tax paid n 5
9 Less: Creation of MMRA/ release of DSRA 600.00 -
10 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (344.10) (62.03)
11 Total Adjustments (B) 2,612.48 545.06
12 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B)# 767.64 469.58
Notes

# Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.

"The above NDCF is excluding amounts borrowed to repay debt availed from external lenders and Trust.

~ The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex.




(xi) Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

Sr. No Descrinfi Year ended \l\';ar ;“g;:d
r. No. escription 5
2 4 March 31,2024| 2102
1 |Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 393.86 1.430.69
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 276.13 94.71
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Tncrease) in Working capital (14447 -
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of]
4 lactual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (78.95) 193.17
Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
0 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) - -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - -
8 Less: Tax paid (5.28) (363.10)
9 Less: Creation of MMRA
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (457.00) (1,332.99)
11 |Total Adjustments (B) (409.57) (1.408.21)
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (15.71) 22.48
Notes:

" Working capital adjustment has been carried out from the current period.
~ The said funds are carmarked towards balance Capex




(xii) IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL)

(Rs. in Million)

Six Months August 11,
Sr. No. Description ended March | 2023 to March
31, 20247 31,2024
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (740.32) (1,008.24)
2 |Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 244.87 312.12
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital (8.83) (8.83)
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of]
4 |actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment 64.19 (120.23)
Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1,867.05 1.882.86
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) (388.74) -
7 |Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) - -
8 |Less: Tax paid - o
9 Less: Creation of MMRA = 5
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project - -
11 |Total Adjustments (B) 1,778.54 2,065.92
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,038.22 1,057.68
Note:

~The said funds would be released post meeting Restricted Payment conditions as stated in Facility Agreement.

The Company has been transferred to Trust from August 11, 2023




(xiii) Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL)

(Rs. in Million)
December 28,
Sr. No. Description 2023 to March
31,2024
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 327.17
2 |Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 343
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 9.15
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of]
4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment 6,92
M
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trusl -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Exy ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid (83.40)
9 Less: Creation of MMRA =
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (254.13)
11 Total Adjustments (B) (318.04)
12 [Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 9.13
Note:  * The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex.

The Company has been transferred to Trust from December 28, 2023,




(xiv) IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (ILTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

November 10,

Sr. No. Description 2023 to March
31,2024
1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 10.16
2 |Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -
3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 98.93
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of]
4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (8.24)
Manager
5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -
6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -
7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -
8 Less: Tax paid -
9 Less: Creation of MMRA -
10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -
11 |Total Adjustments (B) 90.69
12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 10485
Note: The Company has been incorporated on November 10, 2023




(xv) IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

January 01,

Sr. No. Description 2024 to March
31,2024

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (0.87)

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 5.28
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash cxpense / non cash income (net of]

4 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (L1
Manager

5] Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust =

6 |Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Nel) -

7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -

8 Less: Tax paid -

9 Less: Creation of MMRA 5

10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project -

11 |Total Adjustments (B) 4.16

12 [Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 3.29

Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01, 2024




(xvi) IRB Gwalior Tallway Private Limited (IGTPL)

(Rs. in Million)

January 01,

Sr. No. Description 2024 to March
31,2024

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 0.60

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss -

3 Add/Less: Decrease/(Increase) in Working capital 10,70
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of]

4 |actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment (2.62)
Manager

5 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust -

6 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) -

7 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) -

8  |Less: Tax paid -

9 Less: Creation of MMRA -

10 |Less: Capital expenditure towards the project =

11 Total Adjustments (B) 8.08

12 |Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 8.68

Note: The Company has been incorporated on January 01, 2024,




TRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Audited Consnlidated Financial Si as at March 31, 2024

! Corparate Information
The TRB Infrastructure Trust {ihe "l’:usl ) is a trust seliled pursuant to the indenture of trust dated Augnst 27, 2019 which is registered under the Registration Act, 1968 and under the Sccurilics
Exchange Boand of India Trusts) R ions. 2014 as amended from lime to ime. The Trust is seitled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (“IRB™ or the
“Sponsor”), an infrasinicture development conmpany in India. The Trustee to the Trust is IDB Trusteeship Services Limited (the “Trustee™). Investment manager for the Trust is MMK Toll Road
Private Limiled (the "Investment Manager™). The Trust las reccived registraion certificate from SEBI on November 25, 2019,

The Trust has been formed to imvest in infrastmciure asseis primarily being in the road sector in India. The Trist’s road projects are cligible infrastructure projects under the TvIT Regulations and
held through special pumose vehicles (*Project SFVs™ togethier as "Project SPY Group®). The Trust's porifolio comprises of ifteen road projects as listed below:=

. Residual Nature of ipal Country of
Pruject SPV Name** . ’ n b
i e Concessian life* Stianchaldi; Tnvestment St Activities | incorporation
{ e idiary f i
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 17 years 11 Monilis 1% Subsidiary Tolling and India
> 1 days Construction
= o e =
Solupur Yedeshi Tollway Linited (SYTL) 19 years ¥ Mouths 100% Subsidlary Operating Trdin
B 21 days
o idiary ing >
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tallway Limited (YATL) 17 years 3 Months A Sibzmlary Gpeniling hdn
5 (M1 idiany ing i
Kaitlal Tollway Linited (KTL) 18 years 3 Monlhs 1004 Stbsilazy Operating Theli
14 days
AE Tollway Limitcd (AETL) 16 years 4 Monihs | 100% Subsidian: Operating Indin
- days
Uddsipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 14 vears 5 Months 3 100% Subsidian: Operaling India
) days
CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 13 vears 7 Months 4 100% Subsidiany Operaling Tnelizs
3 days
- 1% Tdary = Consuiction i
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) ;? yars 10 Manitis by Opeallng |, doperation fodia
= of road
! 107 idiany ing | . i
TRB Hapur Moradabad Tolhway Linited (IRBHMTL) 17qedrs I MGt % Stibsidlary OperatingNinclyding tol T
24 days collection
" . . 1% Subsidiary Talling and India
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limiled (PDTPL) w.e.f 02.04.2022 1§ vears b T c“ ko e
L onstruction
i L% Subsidiary ali Indi
TRB Golcanda Expressway Private Limited(IGEPL) w.e.f 11.08.2023 ;:‘2 :\;ars 4 Months Ubsidiney Operating ik
2 days
’ 0% idinny Tolling and Tnelia
Samakhiyali Tollway Privaic Limited(STPL) w.c £ 2K 12,2023 19 years B MAE e Stubsidiory S am lia
L 2 27 davs Construction
100% Subsidian: Appainted dale India
MB Lalitpur Tollway Privale Limited(ILTPL) w.e T 10,11.2023 20 vears reccived on April
1, 2024
100% Subsidian’ Appointed daie Indin
B Kota Tollway Private Limited(IKTPL) w.e.f01.01.2024 20 vears received on Apnl
12024
10% Subsidiary Appainted date India
RB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited(IGTPL) w.e.f01.01,2024 20 vears received on April
1.2024

* Represents residual concession Jife s at March 31, 2024 as per ariginal concession period (wilhout considering extension of concession period, if amy).

** Ol the above Project SPVs, IRBWTL, SYTL, YATL. AETL. CGTL. UTL and IRBHMTL have been comverted to public companics on November 13, 2009 and KTLand KGTL on November 14,
01y

The registered office of the Tnvestment Manager is OIT No-111h Floor/1 101 Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, Powai Mumbai 400076.
The Tnist Jus been listed on NSE w.c.l. 03.04.2023,

2 Basis of preparation of Conselidated Financial

A.  Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Project SPV Group.
Consolidated Financial Statemenis are prepared nsing uniform accounting policies for like iransactions and ollier everts in similar circumstimces.
The Financial Statements of all Project SPVs vsed for Ihe purpose of consolidation are drawn up to the same reperting date i.c. vear ended on March 31,
Consolidation procedure:
(a) Consolidale like items of assels. liabilitics. equity, income, expenses and cash llows of Praject SPVs.
(b) Eliminate in full intra Project SP'Vs asscls and liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transaclions between Project SPVs of the Project SPV Group (profits or losses resulling from
intra Project SPV Group Irnsictions that arc recognised in ussets. such as imventory and properiy. plant und equipment. are eliminated in full). Profit or loss and cuch component of ather
comprehensive income (OCI) arc aliribuled to the cquity holders af the Project SPV Group and to the non-controlling interests. even if this resulls in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance,

B. Statement of compliance
The Consolidated Finincial Statements of Project SPY Group comprises of Consolidated Balince Sheet as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the Consolidated Statement of Profil and Loss
(including Other Comprehensive Income) of the Project SPV group. the Canselidated Sttement of Cash Flow, the Consolidated of Clanges in Unithalders equity for the year ended March
31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the consolidated statement of Net Assets at Fair Value as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and the Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value for the
vear ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, o sumnury of nuterial sccounting policies, notes and other explanatory Infornkition.

The Consolidited Financial Statements which comprises the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, the Consolidited Siatement of Prafit amd Loss (including Other Comprehensive
Income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Halder's Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows rer :}: vear then ended. Statement of Nel Asscls al Fair valne as at March 31,

2024, Stalement of Total Returns at Fair Value and Net Disiribulable cashflows for the year then ended as an i in with the Sccurities and E: Board of India
(*SEBI") Master Circular SEBVHO/DDHS-PoD-2P/CIR/2023/1 15 dated July 06, 2023, s amended, (“the SEBI Circular™) for the year ended March 31, 2024 and noltes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. including material ing policy inft and other expl, v inle ion lus been prepared in accordance with (he requirements of SEBT (Infrastuctnre Tivestment
Trusis) Regulations. 2014, as amended from time o lime read with SEB1 Circular. together known as ("InvIT ians"). the Indian A ing T ibed under Rule 2(1) (a) of
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015. as amended. and other accounting principles generally sccepied in Indin to the extent noi inconsisient with the IvIT Regulations (refer note 13
below on presentation of “Unit Capital” as "Equity” instead of compound instruments under Ind AS 32 - Financial Instrumenis: Presentation).

The C lidated Financial arc d in Rs. in millions, excepl when othenvise indicated Wherever Ihe amount represented '0' (zero) construcs value less than Rupees five ihousand.




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Audited C lidated Fi fal S as at March 31, 2024
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The accounting policics adopied. and methods of coniputation followed are consistent with thesc of il previous fincial year, except for ilens disclosed below!:

The Ministry of Corporate Alfiirs lus notified Co
2023

panics (Indian Acconnting Standird) A Rules 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective from | April

Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
Anentity shall disclose material accounting policy i A i pall is natenal if, when considered togeiher with other infornuition incloded in an enlity”s financial
statemenis, it can reasonably be expecied lo influence decisions that the primary users of general purpase financial statements nake on the basis of those financial statements.

Ind AS K, Accounting palicies, Change In Accounting Estimates and Errors
Definition of *Change in Accounting Estimales' inaccount has been replaced by revised definition of * Acconnting Estintate’. As per revised definiti

L accounting cstinulcs arc in

ety amounts in

the financial that ibject o imty. Anentity develops anaccounting estimale to achicve the objective set out by the ing policy. Developing 8
estiniles imvolves the use of judgements or asswnptions bascd on the latcst available, relinble information
Anentity may need to change an accounting estimate if changes occur in the i on which the ling estinite was based or as a resull of new inforniation, new developments or more

experience, By ils mature, a change inan accounting estinate does nol relale ta prior periods and is not the correction of an error.

Summary of material accounting policies

Current versus non-current classification
The Project SPV Group has identificd twehe months as its operating cycle. The operating cycle is the lime between thie ion of assets for and their reali in cash and cash
equivalents,
The Project SPV Graup presents asseis and liabilitics in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. An assed is (realed as current when it is:
= Expecied 10 be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in nomual operating cycle
- Held prinarily for the purpose of Irading
- Expecled to be realised within twelve months afler the reporiing period. or
= Cashor cash equi nnless icted from being exclanged or used 1o settle a liability forat least iwelve months after (he reporting period.
All other asscts are classificd as non-current,

A Tiability is current when:

- It is expecied to be seitled in normal operating cycle

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

- It i5 due 1o be settled within twehe mmanths afer the reporting period. or

- There is no uncanditional right ta defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve monils afier e reporting period
The Project SPV Gronp classifics all other liabilities as non-current.
Deferred W asscls and liabilitics are classificd as non-current asseis and li

ilies respectively.

Use of estimates and juldgements
The preparation of the Project SPV Group's financial

requires e to muake j that affect the reported amounls of expense:

liabilities, and e 1y and e discl af liabilities. U inty abotit these conld resull in that vequire a material adjustiment
1o the carrying amount of assels or liabilities affected in fture vears.

Estimates and assumptions

Esti and underlying ions are reviewed on in ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimales are recognised in the year in which the estinates are revised and funire periods are affected.

The key assumplions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation unceriainty at the reporting date, that kave a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amotmts off
assels and liabilities within the next financial year. are described below, The Project SPV Group based ils ptions and esti on | available when the fiancial skilements were
preparcd. Existing and i about future however, may change due to market clanges or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (refer note 31)

Pravision for major maintenance (refer note 19)

Tmpairment of non financial assets (refer note 3.17)

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition incthod. The cost of an acquisition is as the aggregate of the iderati s fair value on acquisition
date and the amount of airy non-conirolling inlerests in the acquiree. For cach business combination, the Group elecls whether lo measure the non-controlling inferests in the acquirce al fair value or al
e propontiomite share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Al the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilitics assumed are ised at heir isition date fair values. For this purpose, the

linbilities rep ing present obli and they are d al Wheir ncquisition fair values irrespective of the fact that onflow of resources enbodying econar

ies assumed include contingent
enefits is nal probable,

Goodhill is initially measured ol cost, being the excess of the ol the iderati ferred and the amount recognised for non~controlling interesis. and any previous interest held, over the
net ideniifiable assets acquired and ities assumed. If the fir value of the net assels acquired is in excess of the i ion the Group whether it has correcily
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures nsed 1o measure (he amounts to be ised al the acquisition date. 17 the still results in
an excess of the fair value of net asseis acquired over the aggregine consideration trunsferred, then the gain is recognised in QCT and accunulbated in cquity as capital reserve. However. if thiere is no
clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entily recopnises the gain dircctly in cquity as capital reserve. withoul routing the same throngh OCT.

Afer initial recognition. goodwill is measured at cost less amy accunmlated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-gencrating units that are expected lo benefit from the combination, irrespective of whellier other assets or labilities of the acquiree are assigned
1o those units.

A cash gencrating unit to which goodwill has been allocaled is tested for inpainment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unil nay be impaired, If the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit is less than its carrving anount, the impairnient loss is allocated first (o reduce the carrving amount of s goodwill allocated to the unil and then (o the other assels of the
unil pro rata hased on the carrying amount of cach asscl in the unit

Any impainment Joss for poodwill is recopnised in profit or Joss. An iwpainnent loss recognised for goodwill is nol reversed in subscquent periods. Where goodwill has been allocated 1o a
cashgenerating unit and part of the operation within that wiit is disposed of. the poodwill associated with the disposed operition is included in the carrying amount of The operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in tlicse circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating umit retained

Assel acquisition
The acquisition of an assel or i group of assets that does nol constitute a business. In such cases the sequirer shall identify amxd recagnise the individil identifiable assct acquired including those asscls
that meet the definition of. and ifion criteria for, i iblc assct in IND AS 38. Intangible Asscis and Liabilitics assumed. The cosi of the group is allocated to the indiidual identifiable nssels
and liabilitics on the basis of their relative fair values al e dale of purchase. Such o trinsaction or cvent docs nol give nise lo goodwi
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Fair value measurement
The Project SPV Group measures financial insiraments, {refer nale 31) at fir valoe at cach bulanse sheet date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an orderly fon between nurket panici athe date. The [ir value measarement is
based on the presumption tlat the tensaction to sell the asset or transfer he liabilily takes place cither.

= In the principal markel for the nssel or liability. or

- In the absence of & principal markel, in the most advantageous markel for the assct of liability

The principal or the most advantageons market st be aceessible by the Project SPV Group.

The fair value of an assel ar a liability is d using (he ions that nurket partici| would use when pricing the asset or liability. g that market p I act in their

best interesL

A fair value measurement of a non-financial assct takes into account a markel participant’s ability (o generate cconomic benefits by using the assct in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
muarket participant thiat would nse the asset in its highest and best use,

The Project SPV Group uses valuation techniques that aire appropriate in the ci and for which suficient data are available to measure Fair value, maximising the use of refevant observble
inpuls and miinimising the use al unobservable inpitts,

All asscis and linbilities for which fair valuc is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fir value hiemrchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level inpul
that is significant to the fair value measurcment as a whole:

Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markeis for identical asscts or liabilitics

Level 2- Valuation techniques for which Ihe lowest level input. thal is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indircctly observable

Level 3 =Valuation techniques for which the Jowest level input it is significant to the fir value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities thal arc recaghised in the financial statements ona reeurring basis. the Project SPV Group determines whether transfers have ocourred between levels in the hicrarchy by re-
assessing calegorisation (based on the lowest level input that is siguificant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period

The Project SPV Group's Management detlermines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value such as deri i and unquoted financial assels measured at
fair value, and for non-recurring measurement. such as assels held for distribution in discontimied opertions.

Al each reporting date. the Management analyses the movements in the vahies of asscis and liabilities which are required (o be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Project SPV Gronp's accounting
policics. For this analysis, the Mamgement verifics the nmjor inputs applicd in the Infest valuation by agreeing the infe jon in the vauation ion to cantracis and other relevant documents,

The managenient alse compares the change in the fair value of cach assct and liability with relevant extermal sowrees 1o determine whetlier the clomge is reasonible.

On an annual basis, the Management presents the valuation results to the Imvestment Manager and the Project SPV Group's independent auditors. This includes a discussian of fhe major assumplions
used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures. the Project SPV Group lus determined classes of assels and liabilities on the basis of the 1
of the fair value hicrarchy as explained above.

This note summarises accounting palicy for fair value. Other fair valuc related disclosures arc given in the relevant notes.
Disclosures for valuation mecthiods, significant estinates and assumptions (nale 3.02)

Financial instruments (including those carricd at amortised cost) (nole 5.6,7.8.17.31)

Quantative disclosure of fair value measurement hicrarchy (note 32)

ire, clanictenstics and risks of the assel or lability and the level

Revenue recugnition
The Project SPV Group has applied the following accounting policy for revenne recognition:

Revenue from contracts with customers:
The Project SPV Group iscs revenne fro 15 with based on a five siep model as setout in Ind AS 115

Step 1. Mdentify the contract(s) wilh a customer: A coniracl is defined as an agreenent between Iwo or more patlies (hal creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the crileria for eveny
contract that nust be met.

Siep 2. Identily the performance obligations in the cantract: A perfarntince obliga

is a promise in a contract with a customer 1o transfer a good or senvice 1o the custoner.

Step 3. Di ine the ion price: The ion price is the amount of consideration 1o which the Compam expects to be entitled in exclange for transferring promised goods or services loa
customer, excluding amoumts collected on behalf of third parties.
Step 4, Allocate the ion price to (he perfi ¢ obligations in the contract: For o contrict thal his more tsin one performance ebligation. the Company will allocale the irinsaction price 1o

each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of conside:

ion to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation
Step 3. Recagnise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfics a perfomence obligation.

The Project SPV Group satisfics a perft bligntion and iscs revenne over lime, i ong of Ihe following crileria is mel:

I, The customer simult Iy receives and the benefits provided by the Project SPV Group's performance as the Project SPV Group performs: or

2. The Project SPV Group's performance creales or enhances an assel (hal the cusiomer controls as (he assct is ereated or entanced; or

3. The Project SPV Group's perfornuince does not creale an assel with an alterrative use lo the Project SPV Grovp and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed Lo
date,

Contract revenue

Contract revenie associnled with the wiility shifting incidental 1o ion of road are recognized as revenne by reference to the stage of completion of ihe projects at the balance shect date. The
stage of completion of project is determined by the proportion that contract cost incurred for work perfonned up fo the balance sheet date bears ta the estimated tolal comtract cosls.

Project SPVs operations involve levving of GST on the construction work. Goods and Service tax is nol received by e project SPYs on ils own account, rther, i is tax collecled on value added (o
the commodity by the seller on behall of the governmenl. Accerdingly. it is excluded from revene,

Income from the concession armngements camed under the intangible asset model consists of the (i) fair value of contmet revenue, which is deemed to be Fair value of consideration Iransferred to
acquire the asscl; and (i} payments acmally received from the users. The intangible assct is amortised over ils expecied useful life in a way [hai reflects the pattern in which the asscl’s cconomic
benefits arc consumed by the Project SPV Group, starding from the date when the right to operate stars to be used. Based on these principles. the intangible asset is amortised in line with the actual
usage of the specific public wility facility, with a maxi of the duration of the i

Claim Revenue
Claims are recognised as revenue as per relevant lems of concession agreement with the authority when it is prabable that such claims will be accepted by the customer that can be measured reliably.

Income from toll contracts
The income from Toll Contracts on BOT basis arc recognised an actual collection of toll reverue {net of Prenmum and revenue share payable to NHAT) as per Concession Agreement. Revenue from
I ic toll ion is recognised on accnml basis.

Interest income

For all financial assets measured cither at amortised cost or al fair valuc through other comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the cffective interest rmic (EIR). EIR is the rate that
exactly discounts (he estimated future cash p ts or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorier period. where appraprizte. Lo the pross carying amonnt of the fnancial
asset or to (he amartised cost of a financial I ‘. When calculating (he effective interest rate, the Project SPV Group estinutes the expected cash flows by considenng all the contractul terms of
the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar oplions) but doces nol consider the expected eredit losses. Inlerest income is included in Ainance inconie in the statement of
profit and loss.

Dividends
Revenuic is recagnised when the Project SPV Group's rght 1o receive (he payment is established. which is generally when sharcholders approve the dividend.

Trade receivables
A receivable represents the Project SPV Group's right to an amounl of consideration that is uncorditional i.e. anly ihe passage of lime is required before payment of consideration is dne.
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Taxes

Current income (ax

Current income 1ax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid Lo the laxation authoritics in sccordance (he Income Tax Act. 196 1. The fax rates and tnx
Taws used fo conipite the amount are those that are emacted ar substantively enacted at 1he reporting date in the country Where the Conmpany aperates and generates laxable inconic,

Current income tax relating 1o items recognised outside profit or loss (cither in other comprehensive income or in equity). Cumrent fax ilems nre recopnised in lation to the wderlying transaction
cither in OCI or dircctly in equity. Management periodically evalnales positions taken in the tax returns with respect (o si in which appli 1% lations are subject 10 imerpretation and

eslablishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred (ax

Delerred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences belween the tax bases of assets and liabililies and their carrying amonnts for financial reporting purposes al the reporting
date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all wxable temporary differences, execpt!

=When Ihe deferred tax liability arises from (he inilial recogition of goadwill or an assel ar linbili
nzither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss,

v 1n a Irmsaction (hat is nol A business combination and at the time of the iransaction, affects

= Tn respeet of taxable lemporary differcnces associated with imvestments in subsidiarics, when the liming of the reversal of the lemporary differences can be contralled and it is probable that (he
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable fure

Deferred tax assels arc ised for all deductible temporary diffe the carry forward of unused ax credits and any unised Lax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised 10 the extent (hat it is
probable thal taxable prafil will be available against which the deductible emparary differences, and the carry forward of unnsed tax crediis and unused L Josses can be wtilised, except

= When the deferred 1ax assel relaling to the deductible temporiny difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or linbility in o tnmsuction that is not o business comnbinati
time of the. ion affeels pcither the ing profit nar laxable profil or loss

el s the

The carmying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach reporting date and reduced to the extent tat it is vo longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be ivailable to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asscl o be utilised. Unrecognised deferred 1ax assels are resassessed at each reporting date and are recogmised to the extent that it s become probable that fture faxable profits
will allow (he deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arc measured at the tox rafes (hal are expeeted (o apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is seutled, based on tax mates ¢and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted al the reporting thte.

Deferred ax relating lo ilems recognised outside statement af profit and loss is recognised owside statement of profit and loss (either in other compreliensive incame or in equity). Defernd Gix ilems
are iscd in corrclation fo the wderlyi action cither in OCH or direetly in equity .

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax Habilities are affset if a legally enforceable right exists o sel off current tax assels against current tax i
entity and the same taxation authority.

s and the deferred taxes relate 1o the s taxable

Tax benefits ncquired as part of o business combination, bul not satisfving the criterin for separate secognition al et date, recopnised subscquently i new infornation about facts and

circumstances change. Acquired deferred tax benefits recagnised within the measurement period reduce goodwill related to thal acquisition if they resull from new information obtained abaut facts and
i existing at the acquisition date. 1 the carying amount of goadwill is zero, anv remuaining deferred tax benefits are recognised in OCK capital resenve depending on the principle

explained for bargain purchase gains. All other acquired tax benefits realised are recognised in the idated of profil and lass. Deferred 1ax is recognised in lidated of

profit and loss on the consolidated adjustments.

Minimum Alternute Tax (MAT)

Mimimmm Aliernate Tax (MAT) paid as per Indian Income Tax Act. 1961 is in the nature of wused tax credit which ean he carried forvard and wiilised when the Project SPV Group will pay normal

income lax during the specified period. Being DTA tax credit is recognised (o the extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be wilised in the specified future period. The net amotnt of tax

recoverable from or payable to, the tixation authority is included as pant of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Gonds and scrvice tax paid on acquisition of asscts or on incurring expenses

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except:

When the ax incurred ona purchase of asscls or services is not recoverable from the Lax authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of 1he cost of ucqui
1he expense item, as applicable,

vof the assel or as part of

When reccivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax recaverable from, or payable to, the tax authorily is included nis part of recevables or payables in (he
balance sheet.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and cquipmen! are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if any. Cost comprises (he purchase price and any auributable cost of bringing the assel Lo its
waorking condition for iis intended use, Any trade disconnt o1 rebates are dedvcted in arriving at the purchase price.

Depreciation is calculated on written down value method (WDV) using the uscfinl lives as prescribed under the Schedule 11 1o the Companies Act. 2013 or re-assessed by the Projeet SPV Graup based
un lechnical evaluation. The Project SPV Group las estimaled (he following useful lives for its tangible fived nssels:

Asset clasy Useful life
Building 30 vears*
‘OMice cquipment 5 vears
Computers (including server) JloGyears
Fumihire & fixtures 10 years

* The useful life of building has been ealculaled by maagement as per their technical estinile.

Intangible assets
The Project SPV Group exercised first lime adoption under Ind AS 101 aid has elected to continue with the carmying value of its “Toll Collection Rights™ (I ible Assels) including di

obligation. as recognised in the financial stalerments as al the date of transition April 1. 2016 measured as per the Previous GAAP and uses that as its deemed cost as al date of (rnsition.

Toll collection rights arc stated al cosl, less accomulated amortisation , impairment lasses and granl from government. Cosl inclndes:

i1) For acquired Toll Collection Rights - Upfront pay lowards isition and inci expenses rehated therclo.

b) Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against constiuction service rendered by the Project SPV Group on BOT / DBFOT basis - Dircct and indirect expenses on constriction of roads,
bridges, culverts, infrastructure and other asscis at the toll plazas,

¢) Toll Collection Riglts in licu of premium - Unidi d premium oblignti T e ion period.

Amortisation

Toll Collection Rights are amontised over the period of concession, using revenue based amontisation as prescribed in Ind As-36. Under this method, the carrying valuc of the rights is anwontised in the
praportion of actual Loll revenue for the period to projecied revenue far the balance toll period. fo reflect the pattern in which the assets cconamic bencfits will be consumed. At each balance sheet date,
the projecied revenue for e e wll period is reviewed by the mamagemeni. 17 there is any change in the projected revenue from previous esti the isation of 1oll collection rights is
changed prospectively (o reflect amy changes in the estimates,

Intangible assets under development
Expenditure related to and incurred during implementation of project are included under * ible Assets under Devels . The sane will be transferred fo (he respective intangible assets on
complction of praject.
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Borrowing costs directly 1a the acquisiti ion or production of an assel that necessanly takes o subsiantial period of fime (o get ready for its iniended use or salc are capitalised
as part. of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they oceur, Borrowing costs consist of inferest and olher costs hat on entily incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also inclndes exclange differences bemween the farcign currency borrowing and the functional currcney borrawing to the extent regarded as an adjustment to

the borrowing cosls.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Project SPV Group has a present obligation (legal of cunsinictive) as a result of a past even, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying cconomic
benefits will be required 1o seitle the obligation and a reliable estinuie cian be nade of the amonnt of the obligation. When the Project SPV Group expects somie or all of a provision (o be
reimbursed, for example, under an i contract, the reimt is recopnised as a separate assel, but only when the reimburseinient is virtually certain. The expense relaling to a provision is

presented in the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.

1l the effect of the time value of maney is matcrial. provisions arc disconnted tsing a current pre-tax mte that reflects, when appropriate. the risks specific 10 the liability. When discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of lime is recognised as a fimance cost. Provisions arc reviewed at each balance sheet daie and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

Resurfacing expenses

As per the Concession Agreements. the Project SPV Group is obligated 1o carmy out resurfacing of the reads under concession. Provision required for ing expenscs arc d at the present
value of the expenditure required to seitle the prescot obligation at the end of reponting period. The discount rate used 1o determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the
i . The increase in the provision due to the passage of lime is recognised as finance cost. Provisian for the planned expenditure is made for the period nplo end of the period for which periodic
muinienance is required, oul of the lotal entitiled period The same is stated in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in accordance with Ind AS 37 "Provisions. Contingent Liabilitics and
Conlingent Asscls.”

Contingent liability and Contingent asscts

A contingent 1 41 possible obligation tlat arises from past events whose existence will be confinned by 1he acenrrence or non-peeurrence of one or more uncertain Mitire events beyond the
control of the Project SPV Group or a present ebligation tlal is nol recognised because it is not probable that an eutflow of resonrces will be required 1o sciile the obligation. A contingent liability also
arises in extremely rare cases where there s a liability that cannot be recogised becanse it eannot be measured reliably, The Project SPV Gronp does nol recognise n contingent lity but discloses
its existence in the financial statements.

A conlingent assels is not recognised unless it becomes virhually certain that an inflow of econamic benefits will arise. When an inflow of cconomic benelits is probable, contingent asscis arc disclosed
inthe financial sialements.

Contingent liabililies and conlingent asscls are reviewed al cach balance sheel date.

Financial instruments
A financial instrunent is any contract that gives risc to a firancial assct of one entity and a Minancial li

Tty or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
Initial recagnition and measurement

All financial assels are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets nol recorded at fair valve through statement of profit and loss, trmnsaction costs that are altributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

On initial recognistion, a financial assel is elassified as measured of

= inmortised cost

= FVOCI - Debt insimmcnts

-FVOCI - equily instrumenis

-FVTPL

Financial assels are nol reclassificd subsequent (o their initial recagnition, except ifand in the year, the Project SPV Group changes its business model for managing financial assels.

Debt instruntents at amaortised cost

A "debt i "is d at the ised cost if both the following conditions are met:

= The assel is held within o business modcl whose objective is to hold asscts for callecting contrachual cash flows. ad

- Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specificd dates 1o cash fows thal are salely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amoun{ outstanding.

Affer initial measurement, such fimncial nsscls are atl iscd cost using (e cifective inlerest rate (EIR) incthod. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or cosls that arc an |||t=5mi part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the statcment of profil and loss. The losscs ari
impairment are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Debt instrument at FYTOCT

A *debl instrument” is classified as al the FVTOCT if both of the following criteria are met:

- The objective of the business model is achicved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets, and

- The asscl’s contractwal cash Nows represent SPPL

Debt instrumets included within the FVTOCI calegory are ineasured initially as well as at cach reporting date at fair value, Fair value movements are recognived in the other comprehensive income
(OCIy. However, the Project SPV Gmlp mmgn.lv::s interest income. impairment losses and reversals and foreign exclinge gain or loss in the statement of profit and loss. On derecognition of the
assel, lative gain or loss previ ised in OCl is i from the equity lo Statement of profil and loss.Interest earned whilst holding FVTOCT deblt instramient is reponted as interest
income using the EIR meihod.

Dbt instrument at FVTPL
FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Am- debt instrument, which does nat meet the criteria for calegorization as at amortized cost or as al FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL

In addition, the Project SPV Group muay eleet lo dcmgn.ﬁ: s debt instrument, which otherwise meels amortized cost or FVTOCI eriteria, as a1 FVTPL. However, such clection is allowed only if doing
50 reduces or elimii; a or istency (referred to as “accounting inismatcl’). The Project SPV Group has designated certain debt instrument as at FVTPL,

Dbt instruments included within the FVTPL caicpory arc measurcd al fair valoe with all changes recognized in the Statement af profit and loss,

Equity investments

All cqnity investmenis in scope of Tnd AS 109 are measured at Gair value. Equi nstruments which are held for trading are classified as al FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Project SPV
Group nuay ke an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The Project SPV Group makes such election on an instrument-byinstrument
basis, The ¢lassification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

If the Praject SPV Group decides to classify an equily instniment as at FYTOCI, then all fair value ehanges an the i luding dividends, are
the amounts from OCT 1o P&L, even on sale of investment. However. the Project SPV Group may transfer the cunul. n or loss within equity.

d in the OCI, There is no recycling of

Equity instraments included within the FVTPL category arc measured al fair vilue with all changes recognized in the Statement of profit and loss.
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Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or partof a Project SPV Group of similar fimancial asscts) is primarily derccognised (i.c. removed from the Projcct SPV Gronp's

consolidaled balance sheet) when:

= The rights 1o receive cash Mows from the assel has expired, or

~The Project SPV Group las transferred its rights 1o receive cash Mlows from Ilic assct or las assumed an obligation 1o pay the received cash Mows in full withont naterinl delay 1o a third pany under
a *pass-throvgh' arrangement; and cither (a) the Project SPV Group has transferred substantially all ihe risks and rewards of the asset, ar (b) the Project SPV Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewands of the asseL bit has iransferred control of the asset.

When he Project SPV Group has trnsferred its rights to receive cash Mows from an asscl or Ins entered into a pass-through ammngement, il evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and
rewards of pwnership. When it has neither d nor retained sub ially all of the risks and rewards of the asscl. nor trnsferred control of the assel, the Project SPV Group continues o

recopnise the transferred asset w the extent of the Praject SPV Group's contim involvemenl. In that case, the Project SPY Group also pnises an ferred assel aud
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Project SPV Gronp has retained.

Conlinuing involvement that takes the forni of a over tlic femed asset is dat the lower of the original canying amount of the asset and the nuxinum amouni of consitleration
that the Project SPV Group could be required (o repay.

Impairment of financial asvets

Tn accordance with Ind AS 109, the Project SPV Group applics expected credil loss {ECL) madel for and enition of impai loss on the g Minancial assets and credit risk
exposure;

-Financial assels ilat are debt i and arc d al ised cost e.g., loans, debl securitics, deposits, trade receivables and bank balance

-Financial assels thai are debl instruments and are meagured as at FVTOCT

-Lease receivables under Ind AS 17

=Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial assel that result from transactions that arc within the scope of Tid AS 18 (referred o as contrachul revenne receivibles”
in these fnancial statements)

-Loan i which are not das al EVTPL

-Financial guarantee contricts which are not measured as at FVTPL

The Project SPV Group follows “simplificd approach” for ition of impai Joss all on
~Trade reccivables; and

~Other receivables

The application of simplificd approach does not require the Project SPV Group to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at cach reporting
date, right from ils initial recopnition.

For recognition of impairment loss on other fimancial assets and risk exposure. the Project SPV Group determines that whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since i
recognition. If credil rigk has not increased significanily, 12=month ECL is uscd lo provide for impaimient loss. However, if eredit risk las increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. I inx
subsequent period, credit quality of the insirument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the cnlity revers (o recognising impairment
loss allowance based on 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL arc the expected credil losses resulting from all possible defanlt events over the expeeted life of a fi
from defiult events that are possible within 12 months afer the reporting dite.

nstrument, The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which results

ECL is the difTerence between all contractual eash flows that are duc to the Project SPV Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash Mlows tlat the entity expeets lo reecive (ic. all cash
shartfalls), disconnted at the original EIR. When estimating the cash flows. an enlity is required to cansider:

=All contractual terms af the financial i (including prepay call and similar oplions) over the expected life of the financial instrument. However, in rare cises when the
expected life of the financial instnunent cannat be estinaied reliably, then IJu.-cnIm is required (o use the rentining cantractual term of the financial instniment. =

=Cash Mlows fram the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancemenis that are integral 1o the contractual lerms

~Financial nssels asal I cosL. al revente peceivibles wd lease receivables: ECL is presented as an allowance, Le.. as an integral part of Ur: nwasurement of those assets in
the balance sheet. The allowance reduces the pet carying amount. Until the assel meels wrile-ofT crileria the Project SPV Group docs nal reduce impairment allowance from the gross camrying
amounl.

Financial liabilities
Inifial recoynition and medsurement
Fiancial liabilities are classified, at initial ition, as financial labilities at fair value (hrongh Sticment ef profit and loss. loans and borrowings, or payables. as appropriale.

All linancial liabilities arc recognised Iy at fair value and. in the casc of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly anributable iransaction cosis.
The Project SPV Group”s financial liabilitics include trade and other payables. loans and borrowings including bank overdrafls and derivative financial instnunents.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their clussification, as described below:

Financial labilities at fair value through Statement of profit and foss
Financial liabilitics at fair valuc through profit ar loss include fnancial liabilities held for trading and financi
and loss. Financial liabilitics arc classificd as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repiis

iabilitics designated upon initial recognitian as at fair value through statement of profit
n the near tenn. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered

into by the Project SPV Group thal are not desi| d as hedging i in hedge i ips as defined by Ind AS 109,
Gitins or losses on liabilitics held for trading are recognised in the lidited of profit amd loss.
Loans and barrawings

This is the calegory most relevant to the Project SPV Group. Afer initial recognition. intcrest-bearing loans and borrowings arc subscquently measured at amortised cost using (he EIR method. Gains
and losses arc recognised in statement of profit and loss when the liabilitics are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process,

Amortised cost is caleulaled by taking into account any discount or premium e acquisi and fees ar costs that ase

the statement of profit and loss.

ntegral part of the EMR. The EIR amor

included as finance costs in

This calegory generally applics 1o borrawings. For more information refer nole 16.

Derecagnition

A financial liability. is derccognised when the obligation under the v is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the sime lender on
substantially different terms, or the lerms of isting linbility are ially modified, such an excl or modiffcation is treated as the ition of the eriginal liability and ihe recognition
of a new liability. The difference in the respective camying amounts is ised in the lidated of profit and loss.

Offsetting of fimancial instruments
Firancial assets and financial labilitics are offset and the net amount is reporied in the standalone balance sheel if tere is a currently enforeeable legal right 10 offset the recugnised amounts and there
is an inlention lo scttle on a net basis, (o realise the asscts and seitle the liabilitics simultancously,

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent in (he balance sheet comprises of cash at banks and on hand and short-lcrm deposits with an original matunity of three manths or less, which ire subject 1o an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Far the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposils, as defined abave, as they are considered am integral part of the Project SPV
Group's cash management

Cash dividend to equity holders of the Project SPV Group
The Praject SPV Group recognises a liability 1o make cash or non=cash distributions 1o cquity holders of the parent when (lic distnbution is anthorised and 1he distnbution is no longer at the discretion
of the Praject SPV Group. As per the corporale Liws in India. a distribution is autharised when it is approved by the sharcholders. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in cquity.
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317 Impairment of non-financial assets

k|

=

=

The Project SPV Gronp assesses, al cach reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. IT amy indication exists, or when anmual smpainneni testing for an asset is
required. the Project SPV Group eslimales the assel’s recoverable amounl. An asscl's recoverable amount is the higher of an asscl's or cash-gencrating unit’s (CGU) fair vailue less costs of disposal
and i1s valuc in use, Recovernble amount is determined for an individual assel. unless the assel does not gencrate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other asscls or Project SPV
Group's of asscts. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the assct is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amonnt.

In ing valuc in use, the esti future cash Mows are discounted to (heir present value using a prestax discount mte that refects current nawkel assessments of the lime value of money and the
risks specific lo the assel. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, reeent murket transactions are taken inte account. If no such transactions can be identificd, an appropriate valuation model is
used, These calculations are corroborated by valuation mulliples. quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Project SPV Group bases its impairment caleulation on detailed budgets and forceast calenlations. which are prepared separately for each of the Praject SPV Group's CGUs fo which the
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forceast ealeuliations generally cover a period of five years. For langer periods. a lang-term growth rate is ealeulated and applicd to project Toture
cash Mows afier the fifth year. To estimate cash Mlow projections bevond periods covered by the most recent budpets/lorceasts. the Project SPV Group extrapolates cash flow projections in the budget
using a steady or declining growth rale for subsequent vears, unless an i ing rate can be justificd In any case, this growth rte docs not exceed the long-term average prowth mile for the products,
industries, or conniry or countries in which the entity operales, or for the narket in which the assel is used.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is muade al cach reporting date (o determine whether there is an thal previoushy pai losses no longer cxist or have decreased.
If such indication exists, the Project SPV Group estimales the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount, A previously recognisedl impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the

P used to d inc the asscl's bl amount since the last impainment Joss was recognised The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset docs nof cxceed ifs
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carmying amount (hal would lave been d incd, net of depreciation. had no impail loss been nised for the assel in prior years: Such reversal is
recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Goodwill is tesied for impaimment annually as at 3 1st March and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired,
Irpairment is detcrmined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of cach CGU (or Project SPV Graup of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is
4 T

less than ils carrying amount, an i loss is i Insses relating (o goodwill cannol be reversed in Mnture periods.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment anmually as at 31st March it the CGU level. as appropriate, and when ci indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired.

Earnings per unit

Basic camings per unit are caleulated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period atinbutable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units onistanding during the period For the purpose
of calculating diluted camings per unil, the net profit or loss for the period atiributable (o unitholdars and the weighted avernge number of units onstanding during the period are adjusted for the effecis
of all dilutive polential units.

Recent pronouncements
Ministry of Corporite Affairs (*“MCA™) notifies new or 1o the existi Lards under C ics {Indian i Rules as issued from time (o time. For the
year ended March 31, 2024, MCA las not notified any new stanedards or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Gronp.
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Note 4.1 Property, Plant and Equipment (Rs. in million)
Building Computer qu:::n s Fu:;;li;t:J“r:eand Total

Cost
Balance as at 31 March 2022 16.09 0.30 1.40 0.39 18.18
Additions - - - B -
Disposals/ Adjustments - - 0.09 - 0.09
Balance as at 31 March 2023 16.09 0.30 1.31 0.39 18.10
Additions - - - - -
Disposals/ Adjustments - - - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 16.09 0.30 1.31 0.39 18.10

Depreciation

Balance as at 31 March 2022 7.40 0.29 1.28 0.38 9.34
Additions 1.20 0.00 0.03 0.01 1.25
Disposals/ Adjustments - - 0.08 - 0.08
Balance as at 31 March 2023 8.60 0.29 1.23 0.39 10.51
Additions 0.94 - 0.01 0.01 0.95
Disposals/ Adjustments - - - - =

Balance as at 31 March 2024 9.54 0.29 1.24 0.39 11.47

Net Book value

Balance as at 31 March 2024 6.55 0.01 0.07 0.00 6.63

Balance as at 31 March 2023 7.49 0.01 0.08 0.00 7.59
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Note 4.2 Other Intangible Assets and Intangible Assets under development

Intangible Assets (Rs. in million)
. Toll Collection
Particulars Rights Total
Cost
Balance as at 31 March 2022 2,28,159.42 2,28,159.42
Additions 9.663.30 9.663.30
Deletions / Adjustments 295.32 295.32
Balance as at 31 March 2023 2,37,527.40 2,37,527.40
Additions 92,261.06 92.261.06
Deletions / Adjustments - -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 3,29,788.46 3,29,788.46

Amortisation

Balance as at 31 March 2022 6,299.93 6,299.93
Additions 2,809.17 2,809.17
Deletions / Adjustments - -

Balance as at 31 March 2023 9,109.10 9,109.10
Additions 3,648.04 3,648.04
Deletions / Adjustments - -

Balance as at 31 March 2024 12,757.14 12,757.14

Net Book value

Balance as at 31 March 2024 3.17,031.32 3,17,031.32
Balance as at 31 March 2023 2.28.418.29 2.28.418.29
Intangible assets under development (Rs. in million)
Particulars March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Toll Collection Rights

At the beginning of the year 2,421.67 1,290.89
Add : Development during the year 79,809.18 11,128.99
Sub total 82,230.85 12,419.88
Less : Transfer to Intangible Asset 17,414.37 9,998.21
(Toll Collection Rights)

Closing balance 64,816.48 2,421.67
Note:

a. Property Plant & equipments and Intangible assets given as security
b. Property Plant and Equipments and Intangible assets are subject to first charge to secured long-term borrowings from the lenders
of the Trust.
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Financial Assets
Note 5 : Investment (Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023

Particulars e Vil Face Vil
Ace Yalue No of Units Amount ace Vilue No of Units Amount

(Rs.) (Rs.)

i) Investments in Mutual Funds
Quoted (Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL))

Canara Robeco Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 1,000 31,932.12 92.40 1,000 18,486.04 49.85
Canara Robeco Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth - - - 1,000 5,174.20 6.00
IDBI Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth - - - 1,000 64,718.69 156.76
LIC MF Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 1,000 8,064.54 10.01 - - -
ABSL Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 100 22285168 86.84 - - -
LGRD - Unien Liquid Fund Growth - Direct 1.000 4479738 104.31 - # &
HSBC Liquid Fund Direct Growth 1,000 34,375.85 82,71 - - -
SBI Liquid Fund - Direct Growth 1,000 2,96,120.25 1,119.12 1,000 291,778.24 1,028.03
Bank of India Liquid Fund - Direct Growth 1,000 9,954.90 27.68 - < =
SBI Overnight Fund - Direct Growth 1,000 - - 1,000 11,632.96 42.44
Total 1,523.07 1,283.09
Apgregate book value of quoted investments 1,512.65 1,271.74
Market value of quoted investments 1,523.07 1,283.09
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Note 6 : Trade receivable

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated)
Related parties ( Refer Note 47)

Others

Total

The group has not identified any credit impairment loss as at March 31, 2024 and March 31. 2023

Note 7 : Other financial assets

(Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
0.51 0.61
67.64 84.05
68.15 84.67

(Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023

Current Non-current Current Non-current
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated)
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 63.74 - 11.57 -
Interest receivable from others 10.63 - 3.73 =
Retention money receivable 638.59 - 530.54 -
Receivable from Related parties ( BG Margin receivable) } 30.95 } )
( Refer Note 47) ’
Receivable from Government Authoritics (NHAT) 1.522.49 - 816.07 -
Other receivable
- related parties (refer note 47) 0.01 - - -
- other parties 99.85 - 75.65 -
Security and other deposits 10.99 29.35 10.99 0.33
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity - 4,547.80 5 -
Total 2,346.30 4,408.10 1,448.56 0.33
Note 8 : Other assets (Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Current Non-current Current Non-current
Advance with suppliers
- Related parties (refer note 47) 140.22 1,347.33 -
- Others 48.70 45.29 -
Mobilisation advances (refer note 47) 100.74 33.68 -
Prepaid expenses 126.39 45.88 -
Bank Guarantee margin receivable -related party - - -
Duties and taxes receivable 53.71 1,184.89 -
Contract assets 68.17 - -
Duties and taxes receivable - 12.00 174.07
Total 537.93 12.00 2,657.07 174.07
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Note 9 : Deferred tax assets / Deferred tax liabilities (Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred tax liabilities:

Difference in Depreciation and other differences in block of Property, Plant and 351.58 36.80
equipment and Intangible assets as per tax books & financial books

Deferred tax assets:
Business Losses 70.69 -

Deferred tax liabilities 280.89 36.80

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred Tax assets on Fair valuation# 2,229.78 792.60
Deferred Tax Assets 2,229.78 792.60

# Standalone Trust is taxable at maximum marginal rate of 42.74%, However, domestic tax rate applicable to the SPVs which is in the
range of 25.168% to 29.12% basis the section as per Income Tax Act, 1961.

Note 10 : Cash and cash equivalents (Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31,2023
Balances with banks:
-on current accounts 349.09 279.37
-on trust, retention and other escrow accounts*® 477.22 394.06
-In deposits with original maturity of less than three months 760.00 49.50
Cash on hand 19.36 8.38
Total 1,605.67 731.31

* First charge on above to the extent of amount payable as per the waterfall mechanism as defined in the Concession Agreement / Common
Loan Agreement.
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Note 11 : Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalent (Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Maturity more than 3 months less than 12 months
Cash Reserve 1,000.00 -
Other deposits - 15.09
Debt service reserve account with banks /earmarked balance** 3,403.90 3.459.60
Major Maintenance Reserve Account 1,985.50 1,390.00
Margin money deposits against bank guarantees 91.00 -
Maturity more than 12 months
Debt service reserve account with banks /earmarked balance** 190.00 -
Other deposits 2.00 2.00
Total 6,672.40 4,866.69

Debt service reserve account/ major maintenance reserve account and trust, retention and other escrow accounts

Bank deposits are marked lien / pledged against the non current secured loan as per term loan agreement with the lender, further the
lenders have first charge on trust, retention and other escrow accounts.

** The deposits to the extent of Rs. 7,237.20 million (March 31, 2023 : Rs. 3,459.60 million) maintained by the Project SPV Group with
bank includes time deposits, which are held against Debt Service Reserve (DSR), are considered as current portion under the head “Other
bank balances” since the same are encashable by the lenders in the event of default by the Project SPV Group, if any.

Current deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
group and earn interest at the respective current deposit rates. Other time deposits earn interest at the rate of 5.50% to 7.75% p.a. (March
31, 2023: 4.70% to 7.95% p.a).

Refer note 16 for details of security against term loans.

Note 12 : Current tax assets (net) (Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31,2023
Advance income-tax (net of provision : Rs. 5.25 Millions, March 31, 2023 : 174 41 24 81
Rs.435.25 Million) ) ’ o
Total 174.41 24.81
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Note ; 13 : Unit capital (Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
No. of Amount No. of Amount
units (Rs. in million) units (Rs. in million)
Unit capital*
Authorised unit capital 1,11,36,93,265 1,35,091.22 87,92,93,265 87,929.33
1,11,36,93,265 1,35,091.22 87,92,93,265 87,929.33
Issued, Subscribed and fully paid up unit capital 1.11,36,93.265 1.35,091.22 87.92.93.265 87.929.33
Total 1,11,36,93,265 1,35,091.22 87,92,93,265 87,929.33

Terms / rights attached to units

The Trust has only one class of units, Each unit represents an undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. Each holder of unit is entitled to one
vole per unit.

The Unitholder has no equintable or proprietary interest in the projects of the Trust and is not entitled to any share in the transfer of the
projects (or any part thereof) or any interest in the projects {or any part thereof) of the Trust. A unitholder's right is limited to the right to
require due administration of the Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Investment Management Agreement.

* Under the provisions of the InviT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unitholders not less than 90% of the net distributable cash
flows of the Trust for each financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to
its Unitholders cash distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is 2 compound financial instrument which contains equity and liability
components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial [nstruments: Presentation. However, in accordance with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of
the SEBI circular, the Unit capital have been presented as "Equity" in order to comply with the requirements of Section H of Chapter 3 to the
SEBI circular, dealing with the minimum presentation and disclosure requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Capital
being classified as equity, the distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders' Equity when the
distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager.

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly recorded in equity, net of tax.

Reconciliation of the units outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year:

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Units issued, subscribed and fully paid No. of Amount No, of Amount
units (Rs. in million) units (Rs. in million)
Balance at the beginning of the year B7,92.93.265 87,929.33 85.50,43,265 85,504.33
Issued during the year (refer a, b & c below) 23,44,00,000 51,146.49 2,42,50,000 2425.00
Distributions (refer note 37) - (3.984.60) 5 2
Balance at the end of the year 1,11,36,93,265 1,35,091.22 87,92,93,265 87,929.33

a) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 9,20,00,000 units of the Trust (the ‘units’), for cash at a price of Rs. 244.86 per unit (the “issue
price’), aggregating to Rs. 22,527.00 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined in the Letter of Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and
GIC affiliates in the ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on March 12, 2024 (the ‘Issue”) in accordance with the InvIT
Regulations. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll Road Private Limited (‘Investment Manager’). considered and approved allotment of
9,20,00,000 rights units to the eligible unitholders of TRB Infrastructure Trust on March 21, 2024.

b) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 14,24,00,000 units of the Trust (the *units”), for cash at a price of Rs. 200.98 per unit (the “issue
price’), aggregating to Rs, 28,619.50 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined in the Letter of Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and
GIC affiliates in the ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on July 28, 2023 (the ‘Issuc’) in accordance with the InvIT
Regulations. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll Road Private Limited (*Investment Manager’). considered and approved allotment of
14,24.00.000 rights units to the eligible unitholders of IRB Infrastructure Trust on August 10, 2023.

¢) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 2,44,29,805 units of the Trust (the “units™), for cash at a price of Rs. 100 per unit (the ‘issue
price’), aggregating to Rs. 2,442.98 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined in the Letter of Offer) on a rights basis to Sponseor and
GIC affiliates in the ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on April 8, 2022 (the ‘Issue’) in accordance with the InvIT
Regulations. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll Road Private Limited (*Investment Manager’), considered and approved allotment of
2,44,29,805 rights units to the eligible unitholders of IRB Infrastructure Trust on April 13, 2022,




Details of unit holders holding more than 5% units:

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited
Anahera Investments Pte Ltd
Bricklayers Investments Pte Ltd
Chiswick Investments Pte Ltd
Stretford End Investments Pte Ltd
Dangenham Investments Pte Ltd

Details of Sponsor units
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited

Note : 14 : Subordinate Debt

At the beginning of the year
Increase / (decrease) during the year
At the end of the year

Note : 15 : Other equity

Attributable to the unit holders

Retained earnings

At the beginning of the year

Profit for the year

Interest Distribution (refer note 37)
Unit Issue expenses

At the end of the period

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

Y of total unit

% of total unit

No. of units s No. of units 4
capital capital
56,82,39.840 51% 44,8439 840 51%
27,86,23,181 25% 21,98,23,181 25%
6,65,57,561 6% 5,27.57.561 6%
6,65,57,561 6% 5,27.57,561 6%
6,67,57,561 6% 5,27,57,561 6%
6,69,57,561 6% 5,27,57,561 6%
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
56,82,39,840 51% 44,84,39, 840 51%

(Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

16.916.65

16,916.65

(Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

{10,395.80) (8,108.29)
(6.650.38) (2272.18)
(449.55) -
(144.31) (15.33)
(17,640.04) (10,395.30)
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Note : 16 : Borrowings (Rs. in million)

As at March 31,2024 As at March 31, 2023

Non-current Borrowings

Term loans
Indian rupee loan from banks (secured)

Project loans for SPVs 1,45,510.79 61,005.36
Less : current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date (787.41) (639.16)
Total (a) 1,44,723.38 60,366.20
Indian rupee loan from financial institutions (secured)

Project loans for SPVs 45,697.98 6,931.63
Less : current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date {303.06) (9.75)
Total (b) 45,394.92 6,921.90
Non-convertible debentures (secured) 28,035.89 33432.82
Less : current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date (64.17) (130.59)
Total (c) 27,971.72 33,302.22
Less: Unamortised transaction cost (d) (3,953.68) (1.646.37)
Total non current borrowings (e=a+b+c+d) 2,14,136.34 98,943.95

Current Borrowings
Short-term borrowings
Current maturity of long term loans

Indian rupee loan from banks (secured) 787.41 639.16
Indian rupee loan from financial institutions (secured) 303.06 9.75
Non convertible debentures (secured) 64.17 130.59
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 2427 5.43
(Unsecured, repayable on demand and interest free)

Loan from related parties (refer note 47) 0.02 5.350.72
Total current borrowings (f) 1,178.93 6,135.65
Total borrowings (c+f) 2,15,315.27 1,05,079.60
Apgregate secured loans 2,15,290,98 99,723.46
Agpgregate unsecured loans 0.02 5,350.72

Borrowing includes terms loans from banks, financials institutions and secured Non-convertible debentures.

March 31, 2024: Rs. 2,19,244.66 million; March 31, 2023: Rs.1,01,369.83 million; pertains lo term loans taken by SPV's (Special Purpose
Vehicles) & Trust for Project financing.

Rate of interest

Rate of interest on the Indian Rupee loan from banks and financial institutions varies from 7.75% to 10.65% p.a. (March 31, 2023; 7.75% lo
10.75% p.a.) and are secured by pledge of shares of its subsidiaries and subservient charge on the current assets of the trust.

Secured redeemable Non-convertible debentures carries interest rates which varies from 8.65% - 8.95% p.a.

Nature of security

i) Secured by first charge on the movable/immovable asset by way of mortgage/hypothecation: first charge on all intangible assets, assignment of all
receivables; book debts, loans and advances extended by the Borrower to SPVs and all rights and interest in project, both present and future,
excluding the Project Assets of respective companies;

ii) Secured by first charge over all the equity shares, Preference shares, Debentures representing 100% of such securities.

iii) Secured by first charge on the Escrow Account, Debt Service Reserve Account and any other reserves and other bank accounts of the respective
Companies.

iv) Unconditional and irrecovable corporate guarantee by each of the RG SPV's. in a form and manner satisfactory to the Finance parties (the
"Corporate Guarantee"). )

v) An irrevacable and unconditional corporate guarantee from IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited to meet shortfall (if any) between debt due
and termination payments received from Concessioning Authority in case of termination of Concession Agreecment for any reason in case of Project
SPV's,

vi) Pledge of securities of obligators created pursuant to the terms of loan Agreement held as common security for the benefit of Rupee lenders.

Repayment terms

The Non Convertible Debentures of YATL are redeemable at par on in August 2027 for Rs.12,150 million and Rs.3,000 millien are repayable in
structured monthly installments commencing from October 2027.

The Non Convertible Debentures of SYTL are redeemable at par on in September 2027 for Rs.4.910 million and Rs.1,000 million are repayable in
structured monthly installments commencing from November 2027.

The Indian rupee loans from Banks, Financial Institutions, Non Convertible Debentures(other than above) are repayable in structured
monthly/quarterly installments such that the total tenor does not exceed 19 years and repayable as per the repayment schedule specified in common
loan agreement with the Lenders.
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Note 17 : Other financial liabilities

Obligation for construction
Directors sitting fees payable
Deposit

Retention money payable

- Related parties (refer note 47)
- Others

Revenue share payable

Other payable

- Related parties (refer note 47)
- Others

Total

Note 18 : Trade payables

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small

enterprises

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and

small enterprises

- Related parties (refer note 47)
‘- Others

Total

Note 19 : Provisions

(Rs. in million)

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Current Non-current Current Non-current
178.54 - 1,102.31 -
1.24 - 0.44 -
1.18 - 1.18 -
946.54 - 636.46 :
287.75 4.07 295.83 2.77
455.58 - 345.46 -
9.84 40.760.96 167.70 35,778.03
2.93 - - -
1,883.60 40,765.03 2,549.37 35,780.80
(Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Current Non-current Current Non-current
2.41 i 1.61 i
4,151.31 - 13,812.18 4.165.72
1,460.40 m 1,491.69 "
5,614.12 - 15,305.48 4,165.72

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2023

Current Non-current Current Non-current

Major maintenance expenses 2,235.58 1,336.98 - 2.965.03
Total 2,235.58 1,336.98 - 2,965.03
The movement in provision for resurfacing expenses is as follows:

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023
Opening balance 2,965.03 1,350.57
Obligation on new toll projects 2.029.54 1.614.45
Utilised / reversed during the year (1.422.00) -
Closing balance 3,572.57 2,965.03

The above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfill the resurfacing obligation as per the service
concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred over the period. The actual expense
incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected from any sources against the above obligation.

Note 20 ; Other current liabilities (Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Duties and taxes payable 157.31 64,12
Advance from customer- Others 78.68 34.03
Total 235.99 98.15
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Note 21 : Revenue from operations

Contract revenue (road construction)
Income from toll collection (gross)

Less - Revenue Share to NHAI

Income arising out of toll collection (net)
Revenue share to NHAI- Fastag

Other operating revenue

Total

Note 22 : Other income

Interest income on

- Bank deposits

- Others

Dividend income on :

- Other investments (non-trade, current)
Profit on sale of investments

Fair value gain on mutual funds

Other non operating income

Total

Note 23 : Operating expenses

Contract expenses

Operation and maintenance expenses

Site and other direct expenses
Sub-contracting / Security expenses

Technical consultancy and supervision charges
Total

Note 24 : Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (refer note 4)
Amortisation on intangible assets (refer note 4)
Total

Note 25 : Finance cost

Interest expense
- Banks and financial institutions
- Debentures
Subtotal

Other borrowing costs
- Amortisation of Transaction cost
- Unwinding of discount on provision of MMR
- Interest unwinding on loan/retention money
- [nterest unwinding of Trade Payable- Associates
- Others
Subtotal
Total

(Rs. in million)

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

19,154.21 11,672.04

27,470.26 21,097.46

(7.546.06) (5.671.70)

19,924.20 15,425.76

(147.66) (185.44)

. 0.23

38,930.75 26,912.59

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

563.24 178.88
373 7.17

0.03 -
190.86 62.95
10.42 1135
71.55 2.73
839.83 263.08

For the year ended
March 31, 2024

For the year ended
March 31, 2023

18,037.07 11,330.01
1,719.43 1,471.41
85.90 0.00

- 0.35

33.65 62.84
19.876.05 12,865.52

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
0.95 1.25
3,648.04 2,809.17
3.648.99 2.810.42

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
10,773.55 7,387.76
2.675.68 1.617,52
13,449.23 9,005.28
226.41 128.80
310.10 143.04
48.84 48.71
187.67 765.00
234.85 163.82
1,007.87 1,249.41
14,457.10 10,254.69
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Note 26 : Other expenses

Rent

Rates and taxes

Travelling and conveyance
Membership & Subscription
Director sitting fees
Corporate social responsibilities expenditure
Donations

Security expenses

Bank charges
Miscellaneous expenses
Total

Note 27 : Auditor's Remuneration

As auditors:

- Statutory audit fees

- Limited review fees

In other capacity

- Other services (certification fees)*
Reimbursement of expenses

Total

{Amount in Millions.)

For the year ended March

For the year ended March

31,2024 31,2023
0.07 0.03
44,16 81.75
5.53 0.01
0.05 -
331 1.83
16.10 -

- 2,50
0.89 ]
9.16 2.83

37.31 3.76
116.58 92.71

For the year ended March

For the year ended March

31, 2024 31,2023
7.30 1.42
4,15 2.05
0.80 1.37
0.23 0.20
12.48 5.04

* Excluding Rs 2.95 millions paid to joint statutory auditors in connection with services rendered for rights issue considered as part of
Y P J ry B P

capital cost of the respective SPV's

Note 1: The above values are inclusive of Goods & Services Tax (GST)
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Note 28 : Contigent liabilities and Commitments
a. Leases

Rental expense recorded for short-term leases/ low-value lease was Rs.0.07 million (March 31, 2023: Rs.0.03 million)

b. Capital commitments

(Rs. in million)

As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Estimated value of contracts in capital account remaining to be executed 2B.594.95 14,295.07
SPV's have entered into agreement for toll operations and management services with Sponsor and Subsidiary of Sponsor.
c. Contingent liabilities {Rs. in million)
Asat Asat
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Contigent liabilities - -

Total -

a) UTL, CGTL and KGTL have filed Writ petition with Hon'ble Rajasthan High Court with prayer to commence payment of Premium to National Highways Authority of India

(NHAI) six months post actual completion of the project construction work. The Hon'ble High Court prima facie agreed with the contention of these companies and had

provided interim relief from payment of premium. Vide judgement order dated 25th August, 2021, the Hon’ble High Court found merit in the contention of the companies and

has directed the parties to resolve the dispute under Arbitration. The said matter is currently pending under Arbitration. (Refer Note 38 (b))
Note 29 : Trade payable

Disclosure relating to suppliers registred under MSMED Act based on the information available with the respective companies in the Group:

(Rs. in million)

Particulars At Axt
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
(a) Amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the year end:
Principal amount 241 1.61
Interest due thereon - -
Tatal 2.41 1.61
(b) Amount of interest paid by the group in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along with the amount of the payment made to - -
the supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period.
(c) Amount of interestsdue and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the - -
appointed day during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006
(d) Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period - -
(¢) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the interest . -
dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under
section 23 of the MSMED Act, 2006
a) MSME agcing schedule as at
Particulars ALt Asat
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
MSME Undisputed Dues - -
Less than 1 year 241 1.61
1-2 Years - -
2-3 Years - s
More than 3 years - -
Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 2.41 1.61
There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006. The amounts payable to MSME are not due for payments.
b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at
Particulars Asat A
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Undisputed Dues
Unbilled Dues 2,833.79 2,660.17
Less than 1 year 1,847.87 4,778.20
1-2 Years 146.78 9,433.59
2-3 Years 491.75 2,559.45
More than 3 years 291,52 38.18
Total dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 5,611.71 19,469.59

There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises.
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Note 30 : Intangble Asset under development ageing schedule
a) Intangible asset under development

(Rs. in million)

Y As at As at
Farticalars March 31,2024 March 31, 2023
Less than 1 year 64,522.14 2,339.97
1-2 Years 212.64 54.59
2-3 Years 54.59 27.11
More than 3 years 27.11

Total 64,816.48 2,421.67

Note 31 : Fair values

Financiul assets

Other Financial assets
Trade receivable

Cash and cash equivalents
Other Bank balances

Financial assets measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss
Investments (Quoted)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Trade payables

Borrowings (net of transaction cost)

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through statement of Profit & Loss

Other financial liabilities

(Rs. in million)

Carrying amount Fair Value
As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
6,754.40 1,448.89 6,754.40 1,448.89
68.15 84.67 68.15 84.67
1,605.67 731.31 1.605.67 731.31
6,672.40 4,866.69 6,672.40 4,866.69
1,512.65 1,283.09 1,523.07 1,283.09
5,614.12 19,471.20 5,614.12 19,471.20
21531527 105,079.60 215,315.27 105,079.60
1,887.67 2,552.14 1,887 .67 2,552.14
40,760.96 35,778.03 40,760.96 35,778.03

The management assessed that the fair value of other financials assets, trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents. other bank balance, trade payables, borrowings and other
financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other

than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

Note 32 : Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) price in active market for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect an the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or indirectly,
Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data.
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Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 31, 2024:
(Rs in million)
Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period using

As on March 31,
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments (Quoted) 1,523.07 1,523.07 - .
Liabilities
Other financial liabilities 40,760.96 - - 40,760.96

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 31, 2023:

(Rs in million)
Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period using

As on March 31,

2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments (Quoted) 1,283.09 1,283.09 - -
Liabilities
Other financial liabilities 35,778.03 - - 35,778.03

There has been no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 & Level 3 during the period.

Sensitivity: Higher probability by 5% and lower discount rate by 0.5% will decrease the fair value by Rs. 4,397.66 million (31st march 2023 - Rs, 4,166.87 million). Lower
probability by 5% and higher discount rate by 0.5% will increase fair value by Rs.4,171.25 million (31st March 2023 - Rs, 3,946.06 million).

Fair value movement for Payable to IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited is as under: {Rs in million}
As at Asat

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Opening balance as at 1st April 2023 (Previous period: 1st April 2022) 35,778.03 35,168,79
Add: Recognised during the period/ year 4.935.38 360.53
Less: Payment of deferred consideration - -
Add: Adjustment on account of interest unwinding 47.56 48.71
Closing balance of payable as on March 31, 2024 (Previous period: March 31, 2023) 40,760.97 35.778.03

Note 33 : Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits, Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activilies

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework.

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the Group is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Currency risk.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of
risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and
borrowings, deposits, FVTOCI investments and derivative financial instruments,

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to
the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after excluding the credit

exposure on fixed rate borrowing. With all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax is affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:
(Rs in million)

Particulars
As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
If the interest rate is 50 basis point higher
- Decreased by 956.04 339.69
- Increased by -956.04 -339.69
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Credit risk on financial assets

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to

credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange
transactions and other financial instruments.

Financial instruments
Credit risk from balances with banks, trade receivables, loans and advances and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s management in accordance with the Group's

policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are
reviewed by the top management on an annual basis, and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Company's board of directors. The limits are set to
minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparty's potential failure to make payments.

Trade receivables and Loans and Advances

Customer credit risk and Loans and advances is managed by each business unit subject to the Group's established policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit

risk management. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major trade receivables and loan and advances. The Group has not
identifed any impairment loss as at March 31, 2024,

The following table provides information about the ageing of gross carrying amount of trade recievables as at :

(Rs in million)

. As at As at
GEoisChregingAumaunt March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Undisputed Trade recievables -considered
Less than 6 months - 33.02
6 months - 1 year 12.96 0.10
1-2 Years 33.02 29.37
2-3 Years 0.51 0.51
More than 3 years 21.66 21.66
Tatal 68.15 84.67

Other financial assets
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group in accordance with the Group's policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only in
highly marketable debt instruments with appropriate maturities to optimise the cash return on instruments while ensuring sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities,

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group may not be able to meel its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. The group’s
objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The group closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a
robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt from banks at an optimised cost.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Trust's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:
(Rs. in million)

As at March 31, 2024 C;:::_:['l:;g Total On Demand Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years

Borrowings 5 ~ . " 4

(Gross of unamortised transaction cost) 2,19,268.95 2,19.268.95 0.02 1,178.91 37,618.23 1,80,471.79

Other financial liabilities 42,648.63 42,648.63 - 1,883.60 40,765.03 -

Trade payables 5,614.12 5.614.12 - 5,614.12 - -

Total 2,67,531.70 2,67,531.70 0.02 8,676.63 78,383.26 1,80,471.79
(Rs. in million)

As at March 31, 2023 Cartylog Total On Demand Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years

amount
Borrowings
; 2 5 533 3 2

(Gross of dramortised transaction cost) 1,06,725.97 1,06,725.97 5,350.72 784.93 17,853.83 82,736.49

Other financial liabilities 38,330.17 38,330.17 - 2,549.37 35,780.80 -

Trade payables 19,471.20 19,471.20 - 15,305.48 4,165.72 -

Total 1,64,527.34 1,64,527.34 5,350.72 18,639.78 57,800.35 82,736.49

Note 34 : Transfer of Projects
On April 7, 2022, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (*SPV') by the Trust and accordingly,

the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust.

On October 12, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (‘SPV") by the Trust and accordingly,

the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust.

On July 29, 2023, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (*SPV') by the Trust and
accordingly, the project is being executed by the SPV and the Trust.
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Note 35 : Corporate Social Responsibility

(Rs. in million)

For the year ended March 31, 2024

(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Group during the period
(b) Amount spent during the period on;

15.97

Particulars

In Cash

Yet to be paid in Total

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset
(ii) On purposes other than (i) above

16.10

- 16.10

For the year ended March 31, 2023

(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Group during the period -
(b) Amount spent during the period on:

Particulars In Cash Yet to be paid in Total

(i) Construction/acquisition of any asset - - -
(i1) On purposes other than (i) above - - -

Note 36 : Capital Management

Capital includes equity attributable to the unitholders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise unitholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business requirements. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Project SPV Group may adjust the dividend payment to unitholders, return capital to unitholders or issue new units. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2024.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents,

Asat As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Borrowings (Refer Note 16) 21531527 105,079.60
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 10 ) (1,605.67) {731.31)
Net debt 213,709.60 104,348.29
Equity (Note 13, 14 and 15) 134,367.83 77.533.53
Total equity 134,367.83 77,533.53
Capital and net debt 348,077.43 181,881.82
Gearing ratio (%) 159.05% 134.58%

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-
bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the lenders to immediately call loans and
barrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current period.

Note 37 : Distribution made (Rs in million)
As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Distributed during the period as ;
Interest 449.55 =
Return of Capital 3,984.60 -
4,434.15 -

Note: The Beard of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 1st Distribution of Rs.1.52 per unit which comprises of Rs.0.44 per unit as interest and Rs. 1.08 per
unit as return of capital in their meeting held on October 25, 2023. Also, the Investment Manager have declared 2nd Distribution of Rs.2.82 per unit towards return of capital
in their meeting held on January 25, 2024.

Note 38 : Revenue share / premium payment to NHAI

(a) During the period ended March 31, 2024, the Group has paid/accrued Rs. 7,546.06 millions (March 31, 2023, Rs. 5,671,70 millions) as Revenue Share (Additional
Concession Fee) to National Highways Authority of India (“NHAI") out of its toll collection in accordance with the Concession Agreements entered with NHAIL Income from
Operations in the financials for the above periods is net off the above Revenue Share to NHAL

(b) During the year ended March 31, 2017, AE Tollway Limited (AETL) has entered into a Concession agreement (CA) with NHAI for a period of 24 years. As per the terms
of the CA, AETL has agreed to pay a premium in the form of "Additional Concession Fee" equal to Rs. 810.00 millions for the first year and each subsequent year such
premium shall be determined by increasing the amount of premium in the respective year by an additional 5% as compared to the immediately preceding year, Management
based on the legal opinion obtained and their evaluations of the terms of the CA, believes that such premium pavable is restricted to the toll collection during the year and is in
the form of revenue sharing arrangement. Accordingly, the premium payable for the year is accounted for as revenue share. The said treatment has been followed in case of
KGTL, UTL, CGTL and IRBHM where premium payment has commenced. Further, in case of IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited, at the time of refinancing, NHAI
granted approval for refinancing subject to payment of premium not paid of earlier years. The SPV has paid the premium (INR 214 Million) to NHAT under protest and the
same would be reconciled based on the outcome of Rajasthan projects which are of similar nature,

Note 39 : Details of Project management fees and Investment management fees

i) Project Management Fees
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In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the Project SPVSs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed
upon for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPV, on an arm’s length basis, after taking into
account the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services to be provided by the Project Manager to such Project SPV.

ii) Investment Management Fees

Pursuant to a resolution dated July 4, 2023 of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager and a resolution dated July 27, 2023 of the Unitholders, the Management Fees
have been revised to be equivalent to 110% of the cost incurred by the Investment Manager in connection with providing investment management services to the Trust
including routine administrative and operational expenses (exclusive of any out of pocket expenses, reimbursements and taxes).
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Note 40 : Income Tax

Reconciliation of tux expenses and the uccounting of profit multiplied by Indian Domestic tax rate for the year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 are:

(Rs in million)

Year ended March  Year ended March

31,2024 31,2023

Profit Before tax (7,837.98) (2,304.47)
Tax rate 42.74% 42.74%
Expected income tax at India's statutory rate (3,349.95) (984.93)
Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets 1,647.45 1,549.80

Difference in tax rate as per new regime as compared to normal tax rates 502.76 (259.63)
Additional Prior Period Taxes booked in current year for current tax of prior years 6.64 (9.25)
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the Deferred tax of prior years - (339.00)
Others 527 10.13

Income tax expense reported in statement of Profit and loss (1187.83) (32.88)
Effective Tax Rate 15.15%, 1.43%

Deferred tax reflects the impact of current year timing differences between taxable income and accounting income for the year and reversal of timing differences of earlier
years in accordance with Ind AS 12. Deferred tax is measured based on the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The carry
forward of unabsorbed depreciation & business loss and specific Ind AS related adjustments resulted into net deferred tax assets. The deferred tax asset is not recopnized by
the Group since there is no probable certainty that the same will be utilized in future against the taxable profit. The Group has an unabsorbed tax depreciation amounting to*
1,62,545.71 lakhs as at March 31, 2023 (March 31, 2022: * Nil) that are available for offsetting against future taxable profits for indefinite years.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised on losses incurred in SPV's(except for PDTPL) due to uncertainty of future taxable business income.

Note 41: Earnings Per Unit (EPU)
EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to unit holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year,

The following reflects the income and share data used in the EPU computations:

Year ended March  Year ended March 31,

31, 2024 2023
Profit attributable to unit holders for eamings (Rs in million) (6.650.15) (2.271.59)
Weighted average number of Units for EPU 97,34,89.986 87.79,64,498
Earnings per unit
Basic (in Rs.) (6.83) (2.59)
Diluted (in Rs.) (6.83) (2.59)

Notc 42 ; Segment reporting

The Group is engaged in setting up, operating, and managing of toll road assets in India, Based on the guiding principle given in Ind AS 108 "Operating Scgments" all the
activities of the Group fall within a single operating segment. Further, the entire operations of the Trust are only in India and hence, disclosure of secondary/ geographical
segment information does not arise. Accordingly, giving disclosures under Ind AS 108 does not arise.

Note 43 : Subsequent Events
The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 3rd Distribution of Rs.0.24 per unit towards interest distribution in their meeting held on May 03, 2024.
Note 44 ;: Previous year comparatives

Previous year's figures has been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to confirm to current year classification. The impact of the same is not material to the user of the
Consolidated financial statements.




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Ci lidated Fi inl S

Note d5:

as nt March 31, 2024

(A) Disclosures with regard ta Toll Collection Rights (Intangible Assets)

Disclosure pursuant to Appendix - A to Ind AS 115 - " Service Concession Arrangements” ('SCA')

Start of concession 1 Construction completion
. End of concession . . .
i Type of period under T i Period of concession since date or expected
Sr. No. Name of Concessionaire . 2 period under concession s 3 3
Concession  |concession agreement the appointed date construction completion
z agreement i
(Appointed date) date, as applicable
| IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited BOT March 3, 2014 March 2, 2042 28 years June 30, 2022
2 Solapur Yedeshi Tallway Limited BOT January 21, 2015 January 20, 2044 29 years October 13, 2019
3 [Yedeshi  Aumngabad - Toltwny  por July 1, 2015 June 30, 2041 26 years September 24, 2020
Limited
4 Kaithal Tollway Limited BOT July 15, 2015 July 14, 2042 27 years March 29, 2019
5 AE Tollway Limited BOT August 1, 2016 July 31, 2040 24 years November 24, 2020
21 vi i
6  |Udaipur Tollway Limited BOT Seplember 3,2017 |  September 2, 2038 P21 yearm f'[‘)’::f"““'"“d June 01, 2021
30 years i inte
7 |ca Toliway Limited BOT November 4,2017 |  November 3, 2037 20 yoors "D“::EA""“'“““ August 14, 2021
- = =
3 K-:slmngarl\ Gulabpura  Tollway BOT February 21, 2018 February 20, 2073 20 years from Appointed June 10, 2022
Limited Date
2 v 1 3,
9 IBB»Hapur Moradabad Tollway BOT May 28, 2019 May 26, 2041 22 yewrs from Appointed June 30, 2022
Limited Date
i ankuni i . . 17 i i . .
10 PF:IIS!l Dankuni  Tollway Private BOT April 2, 2022 April 1,2039 years from Appointed Telling & Construction
Limited Date
1 mB. Golconda Expressway Private ToT August 12, 2023 August 11, 2053 30 years from Appointed NA
Limited* = Date
o - = -
g [onukinali CTetwny Bidnf  gop December 28,2023 | December 27,2043 | -0 years from Appointed 1y & Construction
Limited Date
IRB Lalitpur Tallway Privat Appointed date 20 years from Appointed
13 o P y fovalel ot received on April 01, March 31, 2044 £¥ 7P NA
Limited# Date
2024
Appointed date . F
14 |IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited® TOT | receivedon April 01, | March 31, 2044 20 yearsifrom Appointed NA
Date
2024
. . Appointed date . .
j5, [WB Gwalior Teliway Privatel ey received on April 01, | March 31, 2044 20years fronvAppeTited NA
Limited § 2024 Date

* Upfront concession fee of Rs. 73,800 million
# Upfront concession fee of Rs. 44,280 million
* Upfront concession fee of Rs. 52.156 million
$ Upfront concession fee of Rs, 11,614.40 million

Note:

The above BOT/ DBFOT projects shall have following rights/ obligations in accordance with the Concession Agreement entered into with the Respective Government

Authorities:=
a. Rights to use the Specified assets

b. Obligations to provide or rights to expect provision of services
c. Obligations to deliver or rights to receive at the end of the Concession.

Note 46 :Disclosure as per Ind AS 115
a) Disaggregation of revenue from confracts with customers

The Group believes that the information provided below for Revenue fram Operations,
under Ind AS 115, Revenue from Contracls with Customers and also refer note (b).

Contract Revenue (refer note b below)
Income from toll collection (net) (refer note b below)
Tatal

b) Reconciliation of revenue as per Ind AS 115

Contract Revenue
Construction revenue (Utility shifting & Construction wark)
Total

Income from toll collection

Revenue total collected

Less: NHAI Premium

Less : NHAI Revenue share - Double user fee
Tatal

£

is sufficient to meet the disclosure objectives with respect to disaggregation of revenue

{Rs. in million)

For the year ended March

For the year ended March

31,2024 31, 2023
19,154.21 11,672.04
19,776.53 15,240.56
38,930.74 26,912.59

(Rs. in million)

For the year ended March

For the year ended March

31, 2024 31,2023
19.154.21 11,672.04
19,154.21 11,672.04
27,470.26 21,097.69
(7,546.06) (5,671.70)

(147.66) (185.44)
19,776.53 15,240.56



Note 47 : Related Party disclosures

L List of Related partics of the Trust [As per Regulation 2 (1) (zv)]

Parties to the InvIT

Sponsor Group and Project Manager {as per Table A'
below)*

MMEK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment
Manager)

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee of the IRB
Infrastructure Trust)

Associates, Promoters, Directors and Partners of the
persons mentioned in clause |

As per Table B' below#

* Table A - Sponsor Group and Project Manager

(ii) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by

(iii) Entities or person(s) who control such body

(iv) Entitics or person(s) which

(i) The sponsor(s) are controlled .llj' en tities or
such sponsor corporate person(s) specified in clause
(i)
IRB Infrastructure Modem Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, VDM Ventures Private
Developers Limited Promoter of Sponsor Limited

IRB Ahmedabad Vadedara Super Express Tollway
Private Limited (IRBAV)

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL)
Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited
(TGTRPL)

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development
Company Private Limited (IRBK)

ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL)
Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL)
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL)

GE1 Expressway Private Limited (Formerly known as
IRB PP Project Private Limited)

IRB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS)

IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA)
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL)
Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private Limited
(AIIPL)

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL)

IRB MP Expressway Private Limited

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRB Goa)
MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of
MRMPL)

VM7 Expressway Private Limited

Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited
Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary
upto 27.12.2023)

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited - IV

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) - JV
IRB Infrastructure Trust - JV

Project SPV's of IRB Infrastructure Trust as
mentioned below:

1. IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL)

2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL)

3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL)
4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)

6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL)

7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL)

8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL)
9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited
(IRBHMTL)

10. Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL)

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited
(IRBGEPL)

12. IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w.e.f
10.11.2023

13. Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w.e.f.
28.12.2023

14. IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited w.e.f.
01.01.2024

15. IRB Gwalior Private Limited w.c.f. 01.01.2024

IRB Holding Private Limited

Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoter of Sponsor
Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Virendra
Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor

Duex Farming Films Private
Limited




# Table B - List of promoters, directors and partners of the persons mentioned in clause 1

Parties to the Trust Promoters Directors
(i) IRB Infrastructure |1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 1. Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar, Chairman and Managing
Developers Limited Director

(Sponsor and Project
Manager)

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Virendra D, Mhaiskar (HUF)

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director
3. Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goneer

4. Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal

5. Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan- Independent
director

6. Mr. Sunil H. Talati -Independent director

7. Mr. Sandeep I. Shah - Independent director

8. Ms. Priti Savla - Independent director

(ii) Entities or person(s)
which are controlled by
such sponsor

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi
4. Mrs. Arati Taskar

5. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing
6. Mr. Rajpaul Sharma

7. Mr. Amitabh Murarka

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

9. Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar

10.
11
12
13.
12.
14.
15,
16.
17.

Mr. Nikhil Maniar

Mr. Tushar Kawedia

Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh

Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon

Mr. Sunil Tandon -Independent Director
Mr, Nikesh Jain -Independent Director

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi

Mrs. Anusha Date-Independent Director
Mr. Kulumani Gopalratnam Krishnamurthy-

Independent Director

18,
19.
20.
21,
22,
23
24
25
26
27.
28.

Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director
Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director

Ms. Shilpa Todankar

Mr, Abhay Phatak

. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar

. Mr. Omprakash Singh

. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan
. Mr. Boon Chin Hau

Mr. Nagendraa Parakh
Mr. Amyn Jassani

(iii) Enfities or
person(s) who control
such body corporate

1. Mr, Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr, Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

(iv) Entities or
person(s) which are
controlled by entitics or

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

1. Mr, Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2, Mrs, Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

MMK Toll Road
Private Limited
(Investment Manager)

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

Mr.

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr

. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

. Boon Chin Hau

. Arvan Mhaiskar

. K G Krishnamurthy -Independent director

Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director

Mr.

. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director

Mr. Amyn Jassani - Independent director
IDBI Trusteeship 1DBI Bank Limited Mr. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai
Services Limited LIC Corporation Limited Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain
(Trustee of IRB General Insurace Corporation Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade
Infrastructure Trust) Mr, Pradeep Kumar Malhotra

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Mandal




IRB Infrasiruciure Trusi
Notes (o Ci lidated Financlal Si us at March 31,2024

1L Related Party Transactlons

(R0 Millions)

Felluw subsidiurics of Spunsor Trustee of IRB Infrastructure
Spans d P i M. Y ¢ ¢ Mans al pe
pansar and Project Manager Investmen! Manager and Project Manager Key Managerial personncl Trust
i Partlculars
J1maezd 310372023 J1msu24 31032023 A1032024 30312013 310372024 3132023 Jpmanuzd 31032023
{Audlited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) {Audited) (Aulited) (Audiied) (Audited) (Audited) {Audited)

1 |Cantract expenses 16,327.35 - - - 924.21 H5H.69 - - =; g,
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 16,327 35 - - - - - - - - -
Mouderm Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 92821 838,69 - = . -

2 |Interest Distribution 12935 - - - - - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 22935 - - - - - - - - -

3 |Capiral Reduetion 2,032.44 - - - - - - - B .
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limated 203284 - - - - - a i - a;

4 |Operation & Maln. Expenses 5,229.00 2,719.41 - - e = 3 = - -
IRB Infraatructure Developers Limited 522900 271941 - - - - - - - -

§ |Finance Cost -Inferest unwinding on Trade payable - - - - 187.67 765.06 - - - -
Madern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 18767 76506 B - - 5

& Finanee Cost =Inferest unwinding on Trade payable -| . _ R R 17203 35 R . . :
TCR
Maodem Road Makers Private Limiled - - - - 17203 KRR ] - - - -

7 |Subrordinate dehis 16,916.65 - - - - - 5 s - =
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 16.916.65 = 4 F % % s - 2 .
IRD Guoa Tollway Private Limited - - - - - - - - :. -

4 |Unsecured laan received 726,22 153245 - - - - - - - =
IRB Infrastruciure Developers Limited 71622 133248 S 5 = P 3 3 § =

9 |Unsccured loan repaid 6,174.59 267.50 - - - - & - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 6,174.59 267.50 - a . . - o - 5

10 | Expenses incurred on behalf of athers 36.96 - 145 - it - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Lumited 3696 - - - - - - - - -
MMEK Toll Road Private Limited - - 043 - - - - - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Lamited - - - - 0ol - - . - “

11 | Mobilisation advances given ¥02.50 - - - - » - B - -
IRR Infrastructore Develapers Limited K02 50 - - = 5 = = & B &

12 | Mubilisation advances recovered 33.68 5n9.07 - - - - - - - -
IRB Intrastructure Developers Limited 33.68 309.07 - - - - - - B -

13 |Material nggregaie purchase - - - - - ENN.05 - - S =
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - SHR 03 - - - -

14 |Genoral advance - given 7,190.62 - - & = = - B = =
IRA Infrastructure Developers Limiled 7,190 62 - - - - - - - g 5
Maodem Road Makers Privale Limited - - - - - - - - - -

15 |General advance repayment - 0.03 - - - - - - - -

IRB Infrastrueture Developers Limiled o3 - - - - . - g g =
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - - - -

16 |Trustce Fees - - - - - - - - 0.56 £.30
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - - - - - - - 056 330

I7 |Canstruction cast 907.75 11,1792 - - - - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited o775 117192 - - - - - - - .
Muodem Road Makers Private Limited L - - - - - - - 5 -

1% |Other payable 493538 560.52 - = AN 473 = = 5 =
RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 493538 360 52 - - - - - - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - E = = 00 3 = = ”
IRB Goa Tollwiy Private Limited - - - - - - - - = =
{Mhaiskar Infrastructure Pavate Limiled - - - - PERT] 871 - - - -

19 [Professional Fees 419.96 - - - - - - - - -
IRB Infrstructure Developers Limited 41996 - - - - - - - - -

20 [Unita Tssued 26,139.68 1,236.75 - - - - - - - z
IRB Infrmstructure Developers Limited 26,139.68 123675 . g - = - a 5 5

21 |Additlonal Infangible Assel - ¥ 745.66 - - - 3373 - - - -
IRA Infrastructure Developers Limited - R,745.66 - - - 337 - - - -
Modem Rowd Makers Private Limited ~ - - - - - - - s .

22 |Deletion Intangible Assct - - - - - 1346 - - - -
Modem Road Makers Luniled - - - - - 2346 - - - -

23 [Investment Management Fees - - 146.32 56.52 - - - - - -
MMEK Toll Roud Pv1 Limited - - 146.32 56.52 - - - - - -




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Nutes ta Consnll | Financlal S av af March 31, 2024

1L Refuted Party Transuctions

(Rs.in Milhons)
Sponsor and Project Manager  Tnvestment Manager ;‘;,":J"lt"':::‘::i::""" Key Manugerial porsonnel 1+ 110 <MD Infrasirueture
:; Partlculars
31032024 31372023 310372024 3in3zozs 31032024 310372023 21032024 313z 3103024 31103/2023
(Audital) (Audited) (Audited) (Audired} (Audited) (Audited) fAudited) {Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
24 | Dircctor siting fees pald - - - - - - 3.39 LK3 - -
Mrs. Arati Taskar - - - - - - 019 o6 - -
Mr Darshan Sangurdekar - . a . - . 024 022 - .
'Mr Owmprakash Singh - - - - - - 024 01y - -
Mr. Sudhir Toshing - - - - - - 016 006 - -
Mr. € 8 Kaptan - » . - - - 0.54 033 - -
Ms. Shilpa Todankar - - - - - - 0.71 031 - =
Mr. Tushar Kawedia - - - - - - 0.0y - - -
Mr. Rajpaul 8. Sharma - - - - - - 0.2% - - -
Mrs Ranjana Paranjape - - - - - 017 0as - -
Mr. Abhay Pathak - - . - - - 035 0125 - -
Mr_Amitabh Murarka - - - - - - 041 D06 - -




TRB Infrastructure Trust

Notes to Consnlldated Financlul Statements us st March 31, 2024

111, Related party balunces

(Rs_in milliuns)

Particulars

Spansor und Project
Munuger

Investment Manager

Fellow subsidiaries af Sponsar and
Project Manager

Key Managerial pessonnel

Trustee of IRI Infrastructure
Trust

31032024
(Audited)

1m0
(Audited)

310372024
(Audited)

/3028
(Audired)

J1manazd
(Audited)

31032023
(Auilited)

a1m3024
{Audited)

310372023
(Audited)

Jiminanzd
(Audited)

J103a03
(Andited)

Subordinated debt (unsecured und
Interest free)
RB Infinstructure Developers Limited

Modem Road Makers Private Limited
IRB Goa Tollway Private Limiled

2 |Shart-term borrowings
A Infirastructure Developers Limited
Modern Road Makers Private Limited

3 | Trade payable
TRB Infrastructure Developers Limited

Modem Road Makers Private Limited
MMEK Toll Road Private Limited

4 |Mobilivstlon advances
IRB Infrastiucture Developers Limited

5 | Advance given
B Infrastructure Developers Limited
Modein Road Makers Privale Limited

& | BG Muargin Muncy Recelvuble
TRB Infrastructure Developers Limited

7 |Retention payable
RB Infrastructure Develapers Limited

Modern Road Makers Private Limited

Other Puyable Including BG margin
H |puyable
B Infmstructure Developers Limited

Modem Road Makers I'rivate Limited
[RB Goa Tollway Private Limited
Mhaiskar Infrastnucture Private Limited

9 |Amount Held Up
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited

Modem Road Makers Private Limited

10 |Short-term louns & advances
Modemn Road Makers Privale Limited

Other puyable (Exp Incurred on behalf
of others)
IR Infiastucture Developers Limiled

Moxdem Road Makers Private Limited

Unsecureil Lonn
RB Infinstructure Developers Limited

=

13 |Trude Receivuble
Modem Road Makers Private Limited

14 |Expense payuble

TRB Infrastruciure Developers Limiled
Modem Hoad Makers Private Limited
DRI Trusteeship Services Limited

15 |Other recelvable
MMK Toll Road Private Limited
Modern Road Makers Privale Limited

16 [Director sitting fees Puyable
Mrs. Aarti Taskar

Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar
Mr. Omprakash Singh
Mr. Sudhir Hoshing

Mr. Jitendra Sharma

Mr. Rajpaul 8, Sharma
M. C 5 Kaplan

Miss Shilpa Todankar
Mr. Abhay Pathak

Mr. Amitabh Murarka

Mr, Tushar Kawedia

Mzs. Raniana Farniape

16,916.65 -

16.916.65 -

- 47781
47781

397113
397113

493160
4,931 60

100,74
100,74

REXS
3308

14022
140.22

EEINE]
EHRE)

30.95 -
s -

T08.5821 -
T08.82 -

37,030.44

32,146.65

370304 | 3224665

4T

144,74

a7 177

kR 177

oz 4,872.91
0.02 437291

- 491.53
491.53

- 0.8
008

RiLE6

K066

92.54

42,54

3770.5

178413
1,544.86
4n0.53

0

044

605

605

.51
0.51

Q.01

12,475.69

1247569

W15

2133

3,697.3%

180084
154480
35169

0.61
nel

L4 044
0 nul
nno nns
.07 004
005 o001

012 -

IR ES 0.08
029 01
013 na7
16 naol
.03 -

0.07 0.03

- 051

051




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024
Note 48 : Other Statutory Information

i) The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.
ii) The Group does not hold benami property and no proceedings under Benami transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have been initiated against the Trust.

iti} The Group does not have any relationship with companies struck off,

iv) The Group does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
v) The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contract for which there were any material foreseeable losses.

vi) The Group has not declared a wilfull defaulter by any bank / financial institution or any other lender during the year.

vii) The Group has complied with the number of layers prescribed under section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Restriction on Number of Lavers)

Rules, 2017,

As per our report of even date

For Gokhale & Sathe
Chartered Accountants

ICAI registration number: 103264W

CA Kaustubh Deshpande
Partner

Membership No. 121011

For M S KA & Associates
Chartered Accountants

ICAT registration number: 105047W

\\J\‘\d}

Nitin Tiwari
Partner
Membership No. 118894

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 03, 2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

MMK Toll Road Privite Limited

(As Investment Manager to [RB Infrastructure Trust)

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512

A

Virendra D. Mhaiskar
Chairman
DIN :00183554

Shilpa Todankar
Chief Financial Officer

Place : Mumbai
Date: May 03, 2024

»
ﬂ : R 1 : ) (’.‘_YL
Dhananjay K. Joshi

Chiel Executive officer

ot

Kaustubh Shevade
Company Secretary
Membership No.A27833




Gokhale & Sathe MS K A & Associates

Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
304/308/309, Udyog Mandir No.1, 602, Floor 6, Raheja Titanium
7-C, Bhagoji Keer Marg, Western Express Highway,
Mahim, Mumbai 400 016. Geetanjali Railway Colony,
Telephone + 91 (22) 43484242 Ram Nagar, Goregaon (E),
Fax + 91 (22) 43484241 Mumbai 400063, India

Tel: +91 22 6238 0519

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Unit holders of IRB Infrastructure Trust

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements
Opinion

We have jointly audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IRB Infrastructure Trust
(“the Trust”), which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, the Standalone
Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income) , Standalone Statement of
Changes in Unit Holders’ Equity, Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended,
Standalone Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2024, Standalone Statement of Total
Returns at Fair Value and Net Distributable cashflows (‘NDCF’) of the Trust for the year then ended
as an additional disclosure in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”)
Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as amended, (“the SEBI
Circular”) for the year ended March 31, 2024 and notes to the standalone financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information (hereinafter
referred to as the “standalone financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by SEBI (Infrastructure
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular, together
known as (“InvIT Regulations”) and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting
Standards prescribed under rule 2(1)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as
amended (“Ind AS") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not
inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations, of the state of affairs of the Trust as at March 31, 2024, and
profit (including other comprehensive income), changes in unit holders’ equity, its cash flows for the
year ended on that date, its net asset assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, its total returns at
fair value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust for the year ended as on date and other
financial information of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our joint audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards
on Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). Our
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Trust
in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAl, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the
audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion
on the standalone financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to Note 8 of the accompanying standalone financial statements, which describes

the presentation of ‘Unit Capital’ as ‘Equity’ to comply with InvIT Regulations. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the standalone financial statements for the current year. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Sr. Key Audit Matter How the Key Audit Matters were
No addressed in our audit
1

The Trust has significant investments | Our audit procedures included:
(including sub-debt) and has granted loans
to its subsidiaries amounting to Rs. | 1. Read the policy, evaluated the design
69,752.19 million and Rs. 1,62,699.54 and implementation and verified, on a

million respectively. The value of test check basis the operating
investments and loans in aggregate effectiveness of key controls placed
comprise of 95% of the balance sheet. around the impairment assessment
(Refer note 4.1, 4.2 and 5.4 of the process of the recoverability of the
standalone financial statements). investments and loans.

The subsidiaries are licensed to collect toll | 2. Assessed the net worth of subsidiaries on

from road infrastructure projects under the basis of latest available financial
concession arrangements with NHAI/HMDA statements. Further:

under Toll-Operate-Transfer (TOT) and

Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT) model. - Compared the carrying amount of

investments and loans with the
relevant subsidiaries balance sheet to

The Trust performs an annual assessment of identify their net assets, being an
impairment for its investments at each cash approximation of their minimum
generating unit (CGU) level, to identify any recoverable amount. Where the net
indicators of impairment. The recoverable assets are in excess of their carrying
amount of the CGUs which is based on the amount, also assessed that those
higher of the value in use or fair value less subsidiaries have historically been
costs to sell, has been derived from profit making.

discounted forecast cash flow models which

requires management to make significant | . For the investments and loans where
estimates and assumptions related to the carrying amount exceeded the net
future revenue growth, concession period, asset value, comparing the carrying
operations costs, the discount rate and amount of the investment with the
assessments of the status of the project and expected value of the business based
cost to complete balance work. discounted cash flow analysis.

3. Tested and verified some of the key
assumptions such as future revenue
growth, concession period, traffic
growth which were most sensitive to the
recoverable value of the investments and
loans.

4. Assessed the work performed by
management as well as management's
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external valuation expert, including the
valuation methodology and the key
assumptions used. Also assessed the
competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the expert used by the management in
the process of evaluating impairment
models.

5. Involved our internal  valuation
specialist, where appropriate, to
evaluate the reasonability of the
methodology, approach and key
assumptions mainly weighted average
cost of capital used in the valuation
carried out for determining the fair value
of respective subsidiaries.

2 The Trust has payable of Rs. 40,760.96 | Our audit procedures included:
million as on March 31, 2024 to IRB

Infrastructure Developers Limited [ 1. Evaluated the design and
(“Sponsor”) on account of transfer of 9 implementation and testing operating
project companies by the Sponsor (Refer effectiveness of key controls placed
note 10.2 of the standalone financial around the assessment process of the
statements). amount payable to Sponsor.

Pursuant to settlement of IRB Infrastructure | 2. Obtained Trust’s assessment of the fair

Trust (‘Trust’) by Sponsor, as a Private valuation of the deferred consideration
InviT, the Trust has entered into Debt payable. These projections are based on
Novation Agreements (DNA). As per the underlying infrastructure project cash
terms of DNA, in consideration of assets flows which are sensitive to some of the
taken over in 9 project companies, Trust claims to be settled with NHAI/HDMA.

has issued units and agreed to transfer to
the Sponsor, the claim amounts when and | 3. Assessed the work performed by

to the extent the same are eventually management as well as management’s
received by project companies, on account external valuation expert, including the
of Sponsor claims. valuation methodology and the key

assumptions used. Further, also assessed
Such Sponsor claims are lodged after the competence, capabilities and
obtaining Commercial Operation Date by objectivity of the expert used by the
respective project companies. The amount management in the process of evaluating
realisable against claims has been impairment models.

estimated by the valuers based on the
weighted average of probabilities of | 4. Involved our internal  valuation

realisation of such claims. specialist, where appropriate, to

evaluate the reasonability of the
Based on the fair value of Lliability as methodology, approach and discount
estimated by the valuers, a resultant rate used in the valuation carried out for
impact in the value of liability has been determining the fair value of deferred
recognised under the head ‘Loss of fair consideration payable.

value measurement of other payables’.

There is significant judgement involved on
assessing fair value of these payables which
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is based on key assumptions such as timing
of collection, the discount rate, and the
probability of success in respect of the
claims.

3 Disclosures relating to Statement of Net
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total
returns at Fair value as per InvIT
Regulations.

The Trust is required to disclose Statement
of Net Assets at Fair Value and Statement
of Total Returns at Fair Value pursuant to
SEBI Circulars issued under the InvIT
Regulations which requires valuation of
assets. Such fair valuation has been carried
out by the independent valuer appointed by
the Investment Manager of the Trust.

For the above purpose, fair value is
determined by the management using
discounted cash flow (‘DCF’) valuation
method  which  involves  significant
management judgement in respect of
various estimates used as inputs such as
determination of future cash flows,
discount rates, revenue growth rates,
inflation rates, tax rates, amongst others.
The determination of fair value involves
judgement due to inherent high estimation
uncertainty in the underlying assumptions.

Considering the judgement involved in
determination of fair values due to inherent
uncertainty and complexity of the
assumptions used in determination of fair
values, this is considered as a key audit
matter for the current year audit.

Our audit procedures included:

1,

Obtained an understanding of regulatory
requirements by reading the
requirements of SEBI Regulations along
with the relevant SEBI circulars, pursuant
to which the Statements are prepared by
the Investment Manager.

Obtained an understanding of the Trust's
policies and procedures adopted by the
Investment Manager for computation and
disclosure of the Statements.

Assessed the work performed by
management as well as management's
external valuation expert, including the
valuation methodology and the key
assumptions used. Also assessed the
competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the expert used by the management in
the process.

Involved our internal  valuation
specialist, where appropriate, to
evaluate the reasonability of the
methodology, approach and discount
rate used in the valuation carried out for
determining the fair value.

Tested arithmetic accuracy of cash flows
projections and sensitivity analysis.

Evaluated the appropriateness and
adequacy of disclosures for compliance
with the relevant requirements of SEBI
regulations.
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Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager (the “Board”) are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the Annual Report but does not include the standalone
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Annual report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the Investment Manager and Those Charged with Governance for the
Standalone Financial Statements

The Board are responsible for the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a
true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, changes in unit holders’ equity,
cash flows of the Trust, net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, total returns at fair value, net
distributable cashflows for the year ended as on date and other financial information in accordance
with the requirement of InvIT Regulations; the Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) defined under
Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 , as amended, and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT
Regulations. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records for
safeguarding of the assets of the Trust and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of
adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the
standalone financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, the Board are responsible for assessing the Trust’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intends to liquidate the Trust or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board are also responsible for overseeing the Trust’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
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if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements.

We give in “Annexure A" a detailed description of Auditor’s responsibilities for Audit of the
Standalone Financial Statements.

Other Matter

The standalone financial statements of the Trust for the year ended March 31, 2023, were audited by
Gokhale & Sathe, Chartered Accountants, one of the joint auditor of the Trust, whose report dated
May 12, 2023 expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Based on our audit and as required by InviT Regulations, we report that:

{a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

{b) The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including other
comprehensive income), the Standalone Statement of changes in unit holder’s equity, the
Standalone statement of cash Flow, Standalone net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024,
Standalone total returns at fair value and net distributable cashflows of the Trust for the
year ended dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

(¢) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Indian
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS') as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other accounting principles generally
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT Regulations.

For Gokhale & Sathe For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No.103264W ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W

A1
ot
CA Kaustubh Deshpande :
Partner
Membership No.: 121011
UDIN: 24121011BKAAOM3465

Nitin Tiwari
N Partner
RCAM Membership No.: 118894
MBAI V' UDIN: 24118894BKGQHD3520

Place: Mumbai NToN M 1rnfi Place: Mumbai
Date: May 03, 2024 NZ Date: May 03, 2024
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ANNEXURE A TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON EVEN DATE ON THE STANDALONE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF IRB INFRASTRUCTURE TRUST

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on whether the Trust has in place an adequate internal financial controls with
reference to standalone financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such
controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

e [Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our joint audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2024 and are therefore, the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

For Gokhale & Sathe For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
ICAl Firm Registration No.103264W ICAI Firm Registration No.105047W

-
CA Kaustubh Deshpande B Nitin Tiwari
Partner / Partner
Membership No.: 121011 / O~ Membership No.: 118894
UDIN: 24121011BKAAOM3465 [/ /7 c‘ UDIN: 24118894BKGQHD3520
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Date: May 03, 2024 NNV gy Date: May 03, 2024



IRB Infrastructure Trust
Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024
( Rs. in million)

As at March 31,  As at March 31,

Note No.
el 2024 2023
T  ASSETS
(1) Non-current assels
Financial assets 4
i) Investments 4.1 69,752.19 94,424.44
i) Loans 4.2 154,248.07 30,351.69
ii) Other financial assets 43 613.15 -
Total non-current assets 224,613.41 124,776.13
(2) Current assets
Financial assets 5
i) Investments 51 86.84 20.08
11} Cash and cash equivalents 52 150.39 6.56
iii) Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 53 2,041.10 -
iv) Loans 54 8,451.47 5,421.29
v) Other financial assels 55 21,008.09 7,965.17
Current tax assets (net) 6 9.52 -
Other current assets 7 - 4438
Total current assets 3174741 13,417.58
Total assets 256,360.82 138,193.71
IT  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Unit capital 3 135,091.23 §7,929.33
Other equity 9 18,052,09 9,526.42
Total unit holder's equity 153,143.32 97,455.75
(1) Non-current liabilitics
Financial liabilities 10
i) Borrowings 101 61,702.15 -
i, Other financial liabilities 102 40.760.96 35,778.03
Total non- current linbilities 102,463.11 35,778.03
(2) Current liabilities
Financial liabilities 11
i) Borrowings 1.1 647.39 4,872.91
il Trade payables 1.2
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small
enterprises 0.27 0.01
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro
enlerprises and small enterprises 102.05 81.34
Other Current liabilities 12 4.68 5.67
Total current liabilities 754,39 4.959.93
Total linbilities 103.217.50 40,737.96
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 256,360.82 138,193.71
Summary of material accounting policies 3
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements
As per our report of even date
For Gokhale & Sathe For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants - MMK Toll Road Private Limited
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 103264W (Investment Manager of TRB Infrastructure Trust)

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512

. o L\a
L ) e Jes
CA. Knustubh Deshpande 4 Virendra D, Mhaiskar Dhananjay K. Joshi
Partner L Chairman Chief Executive Officer
Membership No.: 121011 DIN: 00183554

For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants
ICAI registration number: 105047V
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-
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Nitin Tiwari Shilpa Todunkar Kaustubh Shevade
Partner Chief Financial Officer Company Sccretary

Membership No.: 118394 Membership No. A27833

Place: Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024

Place : Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024

{ Rs. in million)

For the year ended

For the year ended

Note No. March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Income
Other income 13 16,710.05 4,222 87
Total Income 16,710.05 4,222.87
Expenses
Valuation Fees 541 -
Audit Fees 6.41 1.63
Investment Manager Fees 146.32 56.52
Custodian Fees 0.19 -
Trustee fees 7.18 -
Finance costs (Interest) 14 2,463.56 -
Finance costs (Others) 14 68.53
Fair Value loss on measurement of other payable 4,935.37 560.53
Other Expenses 15 33.25 55,18
Total Expenses 7,666.22 673.86
Profit before tax 9,043.83 3,549.01
Tax expenses & -
Profit after tax (A) 9,043.83 3,549.01
Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax)
Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) - -
Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) (B) - -
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax : (A+B) 9,043.83 3,549.01
Earnings per unit 16
Basic (INR) 9.29 4.04
Diluted (INR) 9.29 4.04
Summary of material accounting policies 3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Standalone Financial Statements
As per our report of even date
For Gokhale & Sathe

Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Numgier: 103264W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

MMK Toll Road Private Limited

(Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust)
CIN_ U45200MH2002PTC135512

e

CA. Kaustubh Deshpande Yirendra D. Mhaiskar
Partner ‘ - Chairman
Membership No.: 121011 J DIN : 00183554

For M S K A & Associates
Chartered Accountants
[CALI registration number: 105047W
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Partner
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/

Shilpa Todankar
Chief Financial Officer
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Date : May 03, 2024
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Date : May 03, 2024
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Chief Executive Officer
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Company Secretary
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IRB Infrastructure Trust

Standalone statement of cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024

( Rs. in million)

For year ended

For year ended

Fartienkes March 31, 2024 March 31,2023

Cash flow from operating uactivities
Profit / (Loss) before tax 9,043.83 3,549.01
Adjustments ta reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Finance costs 2,532.09
Fair value gain on investments (1.44) (0.18)
Profit on sale of investments (101.01) (0.92)
Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 493537 560.53
Interest income on
- Fixed deposits (97.04)
- Others (16,461.72) (4,221.77)
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes (149.92) (113.33)
Movement in working capital:
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 20.97 {0.36)
Increase/(decrease) in other financial liabilities 47,57 48.71
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities (0.99) 4.48
(Increase)/decrease in Other current assets 448 (4.48)
(Increase)/decrease in loans - (1,928.34)
(Increase)/decrease in Other Financial assets (620.87) (229.72)
Cash gencrated from/(used in) operations (698.77) (2,223.06)
Direct taxes paid (net of refunds) (9.51) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (A) (708.28) (2,223.06)
Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in subsidiaries (13,948.63) (1,212.00)
Investment in sub debt of subsidiarics (27,866.12) (2,282.64)
Repayment of sub debt from subsidiaries 6,553.77 -
Loan given to subsidiaries (87.978.13) (48.71)
Loan repayment from subsidiarics 20,984.80 -
Proceeds from sale/ (purchase) of current investments (net) 35.69 1.06
Investments in Bank deposits (having maturity of maore than three months) (2,041.10) -
Interest received on fixed deposit 77.35 -
Interest received from related parties 3.446.20 2,097.00
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (B) (100,736,17) {1,445.29)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of unit capital 51,146.50 2,425.00
Return of unit capital (3,984.60) =
Proceeds from long term borrowings 63,677.20 -
Repayment of long term borrowings (646.54) -
Transaction cost on long term borrowings (708.60) -
Proceeds of curent borrowings - 1,532.48
Repayment of current borrowings - (267.50)
Loan received from Sponsor 726.20 -
Loan repayment to Sponsor (5,599.11) -
Unit Issuc Expenses (68.61) (15.33)
Interest Distribution (449.55) -
Finance Cost paid (2,504.61) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (C) 101,588.28 3,674.65
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 143.83 6.32
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6.56 0.25
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (refer 5.2) 150.39 6.56
Components of cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks

- On Current Account 141.83 6.56

- On_Escrow Account 8.56 -
Total Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 5.2) 150,39 6.56




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Standalone statement of cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024

Debt reconciliation statement in accordance with Ind AS 7
. For year ended For year ended

Particul.

artientars March 31, 2024 March 31,2023
Opening balances as at beginning of the period
Long term borrowings - -
Short term borrowings 487291 3,607.93
Movements
Long term borrowings 63,030.66 -
Short term borrowings 4,872.91 (1,264,98)
Closing balances as at end of the period
Long term borrowings 63,030.66 -
Short term borrowings - 487291

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone statement of cash flows

Notes:
1. All figures in bracket are outflow,

2, Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities.
3. The Standalone Statement of cash flows has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows™ .
4. The Barrowings reflected in above Debt Recanciliation Statement are gross of Unamortised Transaction Cost.

As per our report of even date

For Gokhale & Sathe
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 103264W

CA. Kaustubh I\!g]-ahde

Partner
Membership No.: 121011

e

Virendra D. Mhaiskar
Chairman
DIN : 00183554

For M S KA & Associates
Chartered Accountants
ICAI registration number: 105047W

Nitin Tiwari
Partner
Membership No.: 118894

Shilpa Todankar
Chicf Financial Officer

Place; Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024

Place : Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
(Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust)
CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512
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Dhananjay K. Joshi
Chief Exccutive Officer

L3R

Kaustubh Shevade
Company Secretary
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IRB Infrastructure Trust

Standalone Statement of changes in Unitholders Equity for the year ended March 31, 2024

( Rs. in million)

\
Asat March 31,2024 5 3t March 31,2023

L. Unit Capital

a, Issued, subscribed and fully paid up Unit Capital
Unit Capital of Rs 100 each issued, subscribed and fully paid up

At the beginning of the year 87,929.33 85,504.33
Issued during the year 51,146.50 2.425.00
Less: Capital reduction during the year (3,984.60) -

At the end of the year 135,091.23 87,929.33

T1. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital:

Asat March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
No. of units Amount in Million No. of units Amount in Million
At the beginning of the year 879,293,265 87,929.33 855,043,265 85.504.33
Issued during the year 234,400,000 51,146.50 24,250,000 2,425.00
Less : Capital Reduction during the year = (3,984.60) - -
At the end of the year 1,113,693,265 135,091.23 879,293,265 87,929.33

Other Equity

( Rs. in million)

As at March 31,2024 As at March 31, 2023

Retained earnings

At the beginning of the year 9,526.42 599274
Profit / (Loss) for the year 9,043.83 3.549.01
Unit issue expenses (68.61) (13.33)
Interest Distribution (449.53) -
At the end of the year 18,052.09 9,526.42

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the standalone statement of chunges in unitholder's equity

As per our report of even date
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IRB Infrastructure Trust
DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS
(SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06-July-2023)

A. Standalone Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value

As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023

Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
A. Assets 256,360.82 403,257.61 138,193.71 223,482 .48
B. Liabilities (at book value) 103,217.50 103,217.50 40,737.96 40,737.96
C. Net Assets (A-B) 153,143.32 300,040.10 97.455.75 182,744 .52
D. Number of units (in millions) 1,113.69 1113.69 879.29 879.29
E. NAV (C/D) (Amount in Rs.) 137.51 269.41 110.83 207.83
B. Standalone Statement of total returns at Fair Value

. As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
Particulars
Total Comprehensive Income =

9,043.83 :

(As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) ’ Hoa%AL
Add/(less): Other Changes in Fair Value 146,896.78 85,288.77
Comprehensive Income 155,940.61 88,837.78
Notes :

Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are
derived based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the InvIT Regulations.

As per our report of even date

For Gokhale & Sathe For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants (Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure Trust)
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 103264W CIN : U45200MH2002PTC 135512
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Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI Circular No.SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115

Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2024

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust

(Rs. in Million)

Sr. No Particul Year ended Year ended
R S March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023°
1 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest’ 3,748.20 2,097.00
2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - -
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above,
3 including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by 199.49 0.92
the Trust
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment
4 recen el R 8,897.76 (1,928.34)
(Net) of the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust”
3 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 12,845.45 169.58
Less:
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level,
: 2 ; A
¥ including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 253454 (.3
7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - =
8 Repayment of external debt (646.69) -
9 Promoter contribution in under construction Project SPVs (4,855.00) -
10 |Total cash outflows / retention at the Trust level (B) (8,136.23) (113.33)
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 4,709.22 56.25
Note : )
Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.7,703.64 millions, Rs.5,009.88 millions.Rs. 922.36 millions.Rs. 12,713.52 millions and
I Rs. 2,124.77 Millions for the six months ended March 31, 2024, six months ended September 30, 2023, six months ended March 31,
2023, year ended March 31. 2024 and vear ended March 31, 2023.
2 Netted - off with disbursement of short-term unsecured loan to related parties. (Refer RPT disclosures
of standalone financial results).
3 The same is earmarked towards capex for ongoing projects.




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024
1. Trust Information and Nature of Operations

IRB Infrastructure Trust (the "Trust") is a trust settled pursuant to the indenture of trust dated
August 27, 2019 which is registered under Indian Trust Act, 1882 and under the Securities
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from
time to time. The Trust is settled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (“IRB”
or the “Sponsor”), an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Trust is
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the “Trustee”). Investment manager for the Trust is MMK
Toll Road Private Limited (the "Investment Manager”). The Trust has received registration
certificate from SEBI having registration number IN/InviT/19-20/0012.

The Trust has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in
India. The Trust’s road projects are eligible infrastructure projects under the InvIT Regulations
and held through special purpose vehicles (“Project SPVs” together as "Project SPV Group"). The
Trust’s portfolio comprises of fifteen road projects as listed below:-

The Trust had acquired the projects at Srno 1 to 11 and 13 from the Sponsor, The SPV at Sr. no
11 has been added to portfolio from 11.08.2023. The SPV at Sr. no 12 has been added to portfolio
from 10.11.2023. The SPV at Sr. no 13 has been added to portfolio from 28.12.2023. The SPV at
Sr. no 14 & 15 has been added to portfolio from 01.01.2024.

il Project SPV Name Type
No.
1 AE Tollway Limited (AETL) DBFOT
2 CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) DBFOT
3 IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) DBFOT
4 IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) DBFOT
5 Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) DBFOT
6 Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) DBFOT
7 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) DBFOT
8 Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) DBFOT
9 Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) DBFOT
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) (w.e.f
10 02.04.2022) DEFGT
T IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited (IGEPL) (w.e.f TOT
11.08.2023)
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited (ILTPL) (w.e.f
121 10.11.2023) ToT
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (STPL) (w.e.f
3128122023 PRFOT
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited (IKTPL) (w.e.f
b 01.01.2024) ot

X




Sr

No. Project SPV Name Type

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited (IGTPL) (w.e.f

01.01.2024) or

The registered office of the Investment Manager is Off No-11th Floor/1101 Hiranandani
Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, Powai Mumbai 400076.

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed by the
board of directors of the Investment manager on May 03, 2024.

The Trust has been listed on NSE w.e.f. 03.04.2023

2. Basis of preparation

The Standalone Financial Statements which comprises the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March
31, 2024, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income),
the Standalone Statement of Changes in Unit Holder’s Equity, the Standalone Statement of Cash
Flows for the year then ended, Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2024,
Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and Net Distributable cashflows for the year then ended
as an additional disclosure in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(“SEBI”) Master Circular SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 06, 2023, as
amended, (“the SEBI Circular”) for the year ended March 31, 2024 and notes to the Standalone
Financial Statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of SEBI (Infrastructure
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular,
together known as ("InvIT Regulations"); the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under Rule
2(1) (a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India to the extent not inconsistent with the InvIT
Regulations (refer note 8 below on presentation of "Unit Capital" as "Equity" instead of
compound instruments under Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation).

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis except for Statement of Cash
flows and under the historical cost convention except for certain financial assets and liabilities
(refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value
and on Going Concern Basis.

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('TNR') which is the functional currency of
the Trust and all values are rounded to the nearest millions, except when otherwise indicated.
Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than Rupees five thousand.

The accounting policies adopted, and methods of computation followed are consistent with those
of the previous financial year, except for items disclosed below:

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standard)

Amendment Rules 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective
from 1 April 2023

N




Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. An entity shall disclose material accounting
policy information. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

Ind AS 8, Accounting policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors Definition of ‘Change
in Accounting Estimates' in account has been replaced by revised definition of ‘Accounting
Estimate’. As per revised definition, accounting estimates are monetary amounts in the financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. An entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable information.

An entity may need to change an accounting estimate if changes occur in the circumstances on
which the accounting estimate was based or as a result of new information, new developments or
more experience. By its nature, a change in an accounting estimate does not relate to prior periods
and is not the correction of an error.

3. Summary of material accounting policies
3.1. Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. Although these estimates
are based upon management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could
differ from these estimates.

3.2. Current versus non-current classification

The Trust presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current
classification.

An asset is treated as current when it is;

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

- Held primarily for the purpose of trading

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities respectively.




The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Trust has identified twelve months as its operating
cycle.

3.3. Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Trust and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made.
Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the consideration received or receivable, taking
into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on
behalf of the government.

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and
the rates applicable. For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate
(EIR).

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the Trust's right to receive the payment is established, which is
generally when shareholders approve the dividend.

3.4. Taxes

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the
Trust operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is
recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in
equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI
or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and
establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the
reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that




it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside
statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity).

Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or
directly in equity. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

3.5. Goods and Services Tax (GST) paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except:

When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of the expense item, as applicable.

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in
the balance sheet unless the tax is available for Tnput tax credit.

3.6. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of Trusts. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to
the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

3.7. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. When the Trust expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example,




under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
Statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

3.8. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the
control of the Trust or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in
extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be
measured reliably. The Trust does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in
the financial statements.

A contingent asset is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic
benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are
disclosed in the financial statements.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

3.9. Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular
way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Trust commits to purchase or
sell the asset,

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories;
- at amortised cost

- at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

- at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Financial Assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting
contractual cash flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.




This category is the most relevant to the Trust. All the Loans and other receivables under financial
assets (except Investments) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market.

After initial measurement such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Statement of Profit and Loss/Other comprehensive
income

All investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. The Trust has investment in
Debt oriented mutual Trust which are held for trading, are classified as at FVTPL. The Trust
makes such election on an instrument by instrument basis. The classification is made on initial
recognition and is irrevocable. The gain/ loss on sale of investments are recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss.

Instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes
recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Derecognition

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Trust's balance sheet) when:
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

The Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Trust has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Trust continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Trust's continuing involvement. In that case, the Trust also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Trust has retained.

3.10. Impairment of assets
Impairment of financial assets

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition
other than financial assets in FVTPL category.

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Trust recognizes 12 month
expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the reporting date the
credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial recognition. The
expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on financial
assets increases significantly since its initial recognition.

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets




The Trust assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Trust estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Trust's assets. When the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Trust’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Trust that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by Ind AS 109.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and
loss.

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Trust. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs
in the statement of profit and loss.

De-recognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments




Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the standalone
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

3.11 Investment in subsidiaries

Investments (equity instruments as well as subordinate debt) in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying
amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. On
disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal proceeds and carrying
amounts are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

3.12 Foreign currencies

The Trust’s financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Trust’s functional
currency. The Trust does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency
to be INR.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Trust at their respective functional
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of
exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

3.13 Fair value measurement

The Trust measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet
date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

P In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

> In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Trust.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.




The Trust uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

P Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

> Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

» Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Trust determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Trust's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value
measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value,
and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued
operations.

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and
liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Trust's accounting
policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation
by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant
documents,

The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with
relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the
Audit Committee and the Trust's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major
assumptions used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Trust has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are
given in the relevant notes.

- Disclosures for Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions (note 28)

- Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 22 and 23)

- Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 22 and 23)

3.14 Distribution to unit holders

The Trust recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is
authorised and a legal obligation has been created. As per the InvIT Regulations, a distribution is
authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.




3.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and

short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered
an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.

3.15 Earnings Per Unit (EPU)

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average number of units
outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units.

3.16 New pronouncements issued but not effective

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing
standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time.

For the year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards or amendments to
the existing standards applicable to the Trust.




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

( Rs. in million)

As at
March 31,2024

As at
March 31,2023

Note 4 : Financial assets (Non-current)
4.1 Investments
Investments at cost

A. Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries (unquoted)
436,500,000 equity shares of AE Tollway Limited

203,500,000 equity shares of CG Tollway Limited

371,500,000 equity shares of IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited
174,194,303 cquity shares of IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited
155,500,000 equity shares of Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited
328,000,000 equity shares of Kaithal Tollway Limited

98,250,000 equity shares of Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited
116,800,000 equity shares of Udaipur Tollway Limited

215,757,001 equity shares of Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited
121,200,000 equity shares of Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited
715,450,000 equity shares of IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited
116,200,000 equity shares of Samakhivali Tollway Private Limited
420,580,000 equity shares of IRB Lalilpur Tollway Private Limited
39,347,500 equity shares of IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited
103,285,000 equity shares of IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited
Investments in Equity Instuments of subsidiaries (unquoted) (A)

B. Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries
AE Tollway Limited

CG Tollway Limited

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited
Kaithal Tollway Private Limited

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited
Udaipur Tollway Limited

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited
Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries (B)
Total non-current investments (A +B)

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments

4.2 Loans

Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Loans to Related Parties (interest bearing) (refer note 21)
Less: Current maturities of loan lo related parties

Total (A)

4,365.00 4,365.00
2,035.00 2,035.00
3,715.00 3,715.00
1,741.94 1,741.94
1,555.00 1,555.00
3,280.00 3,280.00
982.50 982.50
1,168.00 1,168.00
2,157.57 2.157.57
1,212.00 1,212.00
7,154.50 -
1,162.00 -
4,205.80 -
393.48 -
1.032.85 -
36,160.64 22,212.01
- 10.265.88
2,896.26 2,727.80
- 9,798.52
- 12,203.92
- 249538
- 4426.04
- 442370
8,803.41 8,338.40
- 16319.79
3,637.50 1,213.00
1,268.00 -
12,617.40 -
1,180.43 -
3,098.55 -
33,591.55 72,212.43
69,752.19 94,424.44
69,752.19 94,424,44
45,754.62 -
(1,567.20) -
44,187.42 -




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

( Rs. in million)

As at Asat
March 31,2024 March 31,2023
4.2 Loans (continued)
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Loans to Related Parties (interest bearing) (refer note 21) 32,819.71 30,000.00
Less: Current maturitics of loan to related parties (413.89) -
Loans to Related Parties (interest free) (refer note 21) 400.53 351.69
Subordinate debt (interest bearing) 77,254.30
Total (B) 110,060.65 30,351.69
Total (A+B) 154,248.07 30,351.69
4.3 Other Financinl Assets
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Receivable from Related Parties -
- Guarantee Margin receivable (refer note 21) 30.95
Earmarked balance with bank (DSRA)
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity 582,20
613.15 -
Note 5 : Financial assets (current)
5.1 Investments
Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss
Investments in mutual fund (quoted)
Investments in Mutual Funds (quoted) 86.84 20.08
( ABSL Liquid Fund Growth Direct - March 31,2024 - 2,22 85168 units & NAV as
on March 31, 2024 - Rs 389.68)
86.84 20,08
5.2 Cash and cash equivalent
Balances with banks:
- In cwrent accounts 141,83 G.56
- In escrow accounts 8.56 -
150.39 6.56
5.3 Other bank balances
Earmarked balance with bank
= Maturity more than 3 but less than 12 months 1,950.10 -
Balances with bank held as margin monev*
- Maturity more than 3 but less than 12 months 91.00 .
2,041.10 -
* The Balance has been held as Margin money with the bank for gunrantee given for SYTL & YATL
5.4 Loans
Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Current maturitics of long term loans (interest bearing) 1,567.20 -
Total (A) 1,567.20 -
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Loans to Related Parties (interest bearing) (refer note 21) 3,025.94 -
Loans to Related Parties (interest free) (refer note 21) 3,444.44 5421.29
Current maturities of Unsecured Jong term loan fo related parties 413,89 -
Total (B) 6,384.27 5,421.29
Total (A+B) 8,451.47 5,421.29




TRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

( Rs. in million)

Asat As at
March 31, 2024 March 31,2023
5.5 Other financial assets
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 19.69 -
Interest receivable from related parties ( Refer note 21 ) 20,696.56 7,681,04
Other receivables
- related parties ( Refer note 21 ) 29] 48 284.13
- other parties 0.36 -
21,008.09 7,965.17
Note 6 : Current tax assets (net)
Advance income tax (net of provision : Rs. Nil, March 31, 2023 : Rs Nil) 9.52 -
9.52 -
Note 7 : Other current assets
Duties and taxes receivable - 330
Prepaid cxpenses - 1.18
- 4.48




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024
Note 8 : Unit Capital
( Rs. in million)

As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

I. Unit capital*

a. Issued, subscribed and fully paid up Unit Capital
Unit capital issued, subscribed and fully paid up

At the beginning the year 87.929.33 85,504 33
Issued during the year 51,146.50 2,425.00
Less : Capital Reduction during the year (refer note 30) (3,984.60) -

At the end of the year 135,091.23 87,929.33

* Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unitholders not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the
Trust for each financial year, Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay to its Unitholders cash
distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument which contains equity ond liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 -
Financial Instruments. However, in accordance with Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the SEBT circular, the Unit capital have been presented as "Equily” in
order to comply with the requirements of Section H of Chapter 3 lo the SEBI circular, dealing with the minimum presentation and disclosure
requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Cupital being classified as equity, the distributions to Unitholders is also presented in
Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

Units are classified as equity. [ncremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly recorded in equity, net of tax

IL. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital:

As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
No. of units Amount in Million No. of units Am.oulm n
Million
At the beginning of the year 879,293,265 87,929.33 855,043,265 85,504.33
Issued during the period/year* 234,400,000 51,146.50 24,250,000 2,425.00
Less : Capital Reduction during the period/year - (3,984.60) - -
At the end of the period/year 1,113,693,265 135,091.23 879,293,265 87,929.33

*a) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 9,20,00,000 units of the Trust (the ‘units’), for cash at a price of Rs. 244.86 per unit (the “issue price’),
aggregating to Rs. 22,527.00 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined in the Letter of Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and GIC affiliates in the
ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on March 12, 2024 (the ‘Issue’) in accordance with the InvIT Regulations. The Board of Directors
of MMK Toll Road Private Limited (‘Investment Manager™), considered and approved allotment of 9,20,00,000 rights units to the eligible unitholders of
IRB Infrastructure Trust on March 21, 2024.

b) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 14,24,00,000 units of the Trust (the ‘units’), for cash at a price of Rs. 200.98 per unit (the “issue price’),
aggregating to Rs. 28,619.50 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined in the Letter of Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and GIC afTiliates in the
ratio of 51:49 held by them on the record date, being on July 28, 2023 (the “Issue’) in accordance with the InvIT Regulations. The Board of Directors of’
MMK Toll Road Private Limited (‘Investment Manager’), considered and approved allotment of 14,24 ,00,000 rights units to the eligible unitholders of
IRB Infrastructure Trust on August 10, 2023,

¢) The Trust offered rights issue of up to 2,44,29,805 units of the Trust (the ‘units’), for cash at a price of Rs. 100 per unit (the ‘issue price’), aggregating
to Rs. 2,442.98 million to the eligible unitholders (as defined in the Letter of Offer) on a rights basis to Sponsor and GIC affiliates in the ratio of 51:49
held by them on the record date, being on April 8, 2022 (the ‘Issue’) in accordance with the InvIT Regulations. The Board of Directors of MMK Toll
Road Private Limited (‘Investment Manager’), considered and approved allotment of 2,44,29,805 rights units to the eligible unitholders of IRB
Infrastructure Trust on April 13, 2022,

IIL Details of Promoter

As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
No. of units % No. of units Yo
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 568,239,840 51% 448 439 840 51%
Anahera Investments Pte Ltd 278,623,181 25% 219,823,181 25%
Bricklayers Investments Pte Ltd 66,557,561 6% 52,757,561 6%
Chiswick Investments Pte Ltd 66,557,561 6% 52,757,561 6%
Stretford End Investments Pte Ltd 66,757,561 6% 52,757.561 6%
| Dangenham Investments Pte Ltd 66,957,561 6% 52,757,561 6%
Total 1,113,693,265 100% 879,293,265 100%




Note 9 Other Equity

( Rs. in million)

As at As at
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Retained earnings

At the beginning of the year
Profit/(loss) for the year

Unit issue expenses

Interest Distribution (refer note 30)
Total Other Equity

9,526.42 5.992.74
9,043.83 3,549.01
(68.61) (15.33)
(449.55) -
18,052.09 9,526.42




TRB TInfrastructure Trust

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

( Rs. in million)

Agat Asgat
Mareh 31,2024 March 31,2023

Note 10 : Non-current financial liabilitics
Note 10.1 : Borrowings
Non Current Borrowing
Term loans
Indian rupee loan from banks (Secured) 34,421.27 -
Less: Current maturities (349.00) -
Total (a) 34,072.27 5
Indian rupee loan from financial institutions (Secured) 28,609.39 -
Less: Current maturities {290.00) -
Total (b) 28,319.39 -
Less : Unamortised transaction cost (c) (689.51) -
Tatal (c) (689.51) -
Total Non Current Borrowing (d=a+b+c) 61,702,15 -
10.2 Other financial liabilities
Other Payable
- related party( Refer note 21) 40,760.96 35,778.03

40,760.96 35,778.03
Note 11 : Current financial liabilities
Note 11.1 : Current Borrowing
Current maturities of long-term borrowings
- Indian rupee loan from banks 349.00 -
- Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 290.00 -
Loan from related parties
- Interest free ( Refer note 21 ) - 4872.91
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 8.39 =
Total Current Borrowings (¢) 647.39 4,872.91
Total Borrowing (d+e) 62,349.54 4,872.91

Rate of Interest

Rate of interest on the Indian Rupee loan from banks and financial institutions varies from 8.60% to 8.70% p.a. (March 31, 2023: Nil)

Nature of security

1) Secured by first charge on the movable/immovable asset by way of mortgage/hypotheeation; first charge on all intangible assets,
assignment of all receivables; book debts, loans and advanves extended by the Borrower lo SPVs and all rights and interest in project,

bath present and future, excluding the Project Assets of respective companics,

i) Sccured by first charge over all the equity shares, Preference shares, Debentures representing 100% of such securities.

iii) Secured by first charge on the Escrow Account, Debt Service Reserve Account and any other reserves and other bank accounts of the

respective Companies.

iv) Unconditional and irrevocable corporate guarantee by each of the RG SPVs , in a form and manner satisfactory to the Finance Parties

( the " Corporate Guarantee™ )

v) Pledged of Securities of obligators created pursuant to the terms of loan Agreement held as common security for the benefit of Rupee

Lenders

Repayment terms

The Indian rupee loans from Banks and Financial Institutions are repayable in structured monthly installments such that the total tenor
does not exceed 16 years and repayable as per the repayment schedule specified in common loan agreement with the Lenders.




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Naotes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31,2024

( Rs. in million)

As at Asat

March 31, 2024 March 31,2023
11.2 Trade Payables
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 0.27 0.01
b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises
- related parties ( Refer nole 21 ) 95.19 78,54
- others 6.86 2,80
Total 102.32 81.35
Note 12 : Other current liabilities
Statutory dues payable (including TDS & GST) 4.68 5.67
Total 4.68 5.67




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024
( Rs. in million)

For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2024 March 31,2023
Note 13 : Other income
Interest income on
-bank deposits 97.04 -
-loans to related parties (Refer Note 21) 16,461.72 4,221.77
Profit on sale of investment 101.01 0.92
Interest unwinding- loan (Refer Note 21) 48.84 -
Fair value gain on Mutual Fund 1.44 0.18
16,710.05 4,222.87
Note 14 : Finance costs
Interest expense on
- Term loan from bank and financial institutions 2,463.56 -
- interest unwinding on loan (Refer Note 21) 48.84 -
Other borrowing costs - -
- Amortisation of transaction cost 19.09 -
- Other finance costs 0.60 -
2,532.09 -
Note 15 : Other expenses
Rates and taxes 1.61 0.60
Legal and professional fees 26.89 54.19
Bank charges 4.13 0.03
Miscellaneous expenses 0.62 0.36
33.25 55.18
Auditors' remuneration
As auditors:
- Statutory audit 4.09 0.29
- Limited review 2.20 0.42
- Reimbursement of expenses 0.11 0.09
In other capacity:
- Other services (certification fees) 0.01 0.82
6.41 1.63

Note: The above values are inclusive of Goods & Services Tax (GST)




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Fi ial Stat ts as nt March 31, 2024

Note 16 : Earnings per unit (EPU)

The following reflects the income and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations:

{ Rs. in million)
For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Profit attributable to unit holders of the Trust for basic eamings 9,043.83 3,549.01
Weighted average number of units 973,489,986 877.964,498
Basic caming per unit (Amount in Rs,) 9.29 4.04
Diluted earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 9.29 4.04

Note 17 ; Capital and other commitments
There are no capital and other commitnients as at March 31, 2024. ( As at March 31, 2023, Nil)

ote 18 ;Contingent liabiliti
The Trust has provided Corporate guarantee for the subsidiary companies i.e. SYTL and YATL in respect of the NCDs issued during the FY 2022-23,

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identified on the basis of information available with the Trust
{ Rs. in million)

Particulars Asat Arat
March 31. 2024 March 31,2023

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as al the period end 0.27 0.0l
Interest due thereon = L
Amount of interest paid by the company in the terms of section 16 of the MSMED. along with the amount of the payment made 1o the
supplier beyond the appointed date during the accounting period N -
Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day
during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 " *
Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period - -
The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding vears, until such date when the interest dues as above are
actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disall as a deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 & °
1) MSME agcing schedule as at

As at Asatl

Particulurs

March 31, 2024

March 31,2023

MSME Undisputed Dues
Unbilled ducs

Less than | year

1-2 Years

2-3 Years

Morg than 3 vears

0.01

Total

b) Ageing of creditors sther than micro enterprises and small enterprises as al

Particolurs

Asat
March 31, 2024

As at
March 31, 2023

Undisputed Duoes

Unbilled dues 6.68 0.27
Less than | year 16.83 50.29
1-2 Years 47.76 30.78
2-3 Years 3078 -
More than 3 vears - =
Talal 102,07 H41.34
Nate 20 : Operatin n

The Trust comprise of owning and investing in infrastructure SPVs to gencrate cash flow for the distribution to the beneficiaries. Based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS 108 ‘Operating
Segment’. this activity falls within a single operating segment and accordingly the disclosures of the Ind AS 108 have not separately been provided
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Note 21 : Related party disclosures

List of Related parties of the Trust

Parties to the InvIT

Sponsor Group and Project Manager (as per 'Table A'
below)*

MMEK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment
Manager)

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee of the
IRB Infrastructure Trust)

Associates, Promoters, Directors and Partners of the

persons mentioned in clause 1

As per 'Table B’ belowdf

* Table A - Sponsor Group and Project Manager

(i) The sponsor(s)

(ii) Entities or person(s) which are controlled by
such sponsor

(iii) Entitics or person(s) who control such bady
corporate

(iv) Entities or person(s) which

are controlled by entities or
person(s) specified in clause
(iii)

IRB Infrastructure
Developers Limited

Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL)

IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway
Private Limited (IRBAV)

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL)
Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited
(TGTRPL)

IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development
Company Private Limited (IRBK)

ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL)
Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL)
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL)

GEI Expressway Private Limited (Formerly known
as [RB PP Project Private Limited)

IRB PS Highway Private Limited (IRBPS)

IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (TIRBSA)

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL)
Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private Limited
(AIIPL)

Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL)

IRB MP Expressway Private Limited

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRB Goa)
MRM Mining Private Limited (Subsidiary of
MRMPL)

VM7 Expressway Private Limited

Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited
Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited (Subsidiary
upto 27.12.2023)

Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited - IV

MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) - JV
TRB Infrastructure Trust - JV

Project SPV's of IRB Infrastructure Trust as
mentioned below:

L. IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL)

2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL)

3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL)

4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL)

5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL)

6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL)

7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL)

8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL)

9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited
(IRBHMTL)

10. Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL)

11. IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited
(IRBGEPL)

12. IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited w.e.f
10.11,2023

13. Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited w.c.f.
28.12.2023

14, IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited w.e.f.
01.01.2024
15. IRB Gwalior Private Limited w.e.f. 01.01.2024

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar,
Promoter of Sponsor

IRB Holding Private Limited

Ms. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Promoler of Sponsor
Virendra D. Mhaiskar HUF (Karta Mr. Virendra
Mhaiskar), promoter of Sponsor

VDM Venlures Private
Limited

Duex Farming Films Private
Limited




# Table B - List of promoters, directors and partners of the persons mentioned in clause 1

Parties to the Trust

Promoters

Directors

(i) IRB Infrastructure
Developers Limited
(Sponsor and Project
Manager)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar, Chairman and Managing
Director

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar, Whole Time Director

3. Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goneer

4. Mr. Rayindra Dhariwal

5. Mr. Chandrashekhar 5, Kaptan- Independent
director

6. Mr, Sunil H. Talati -Independent director

7. Mr. Sandeep J. Shah - Independent director
8. Ms, Priti Savla - Independent director

(i) Entities or
person(s) which are
controlled by such
sponsor

[RB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

3, Mr, Dhananjay K. Joshi

4. Mrs. Arati Taskar

5, Mr, Sudhir Rao Hoshing

6. Mr. Rajpaul Sharma

7. Mr. Amitabh Murarka

8. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

9. Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar

10. Mr. Nikhil Maniar

11. Mr. Tushar Kawedia

12. Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh

13. Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon

12. Mr. Sunil Tandon -Independent Director
14. Mr. Nikesh Jain -Independent Director
15. Mr. Rushabh Gandhi

16. Mrs. Anusha Date-Independent Director
17. Mr. Kulumani Gopalratnam Krishnamurthy-
Independent Director

18 Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape -Independent Director
19. Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

20. Mr. Sandeep Shah -Independent Director
21. Ms. Shilpa Tedankar

22, Mr. Abhay Phatak

23, Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar

24. Mr. Omprakash Singh

25. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan

26. Mr. Boon Chin Han

27. Mr. Nagendraa Parakh

28. Mr. Amyn Jassani

(iii) Entities or
person(s) who control
such body corporate

1. Mr, Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF)

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar

(iv) Entities or
person(s) which are
controlled by entities

L. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs, Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

1. Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar
2. Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar
3. Mr. Aryan V. Mhaiskar

MMK Toll Road
Private Limited
(Investment Manager)

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL)

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar

Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah

Mr. Boon Chin Hau

Mr. Aryan Mhaiskar

Mr. K G Krishnamurthy -Independent director
Mrs.Ranjana Paranjape - Independent director
Mr. Nagendraa Parakh- Independent director
Mr. Amyn Jassani - Independent director

IDBI Trusteeship
Services Limited
(Trustee of IRB
Infrastructure Trust)

IDBI Bank Limited
LIC Corporation Limited
General Insurace Corporation

M. Jayakumar Subramonia Pillai
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain

Mrs._ Jayashree Vijay Ranade

Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra
Ms. Baljinder Kaur Mandal
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IT) Related party transaction during the peiod

( Rs. in million)

Year ended Year ended
Sr. No. Particul i
MECRIARS Relation Murch 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
1 Equity Investment 13,948.63 1,212.00
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 7.154,50 -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 4,205.80 -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,162.00 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 39348 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,032.85 -
Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - 1,212.00
2 Subordinated Debt 45,187.19 2,282.64
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 159.52 -
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 168 .46 -
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 454.18 383.76
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 46.82 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 164.035 685.88
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 555.01 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 29947 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 828.35 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 45745 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 21.465.00 -
Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 242450 1,213.00
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,268.00 =
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 12,617.40 =
[RB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,180.43 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,098.55 g
3 Subordinated Debt- repaid 6,553.77 -
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 540.00 =
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.872.57 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 260.00 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 513.50 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 367.70 =
4 Long term loan given (Unsecured) 13,627.54 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 198.88 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 32.00 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,662.56 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,118.40 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,615.70 -
5 Long term loan repaid (Unsecured) 12,096.53 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,202.81 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 221701 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2.05 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 041 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.674.25 -
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Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

I1') Related party transaction during the peiod

( Rs. in million)

. Year ended Year ended
Sr. Na. .
r-ne Particalite Relation March 31,2024 March 31, 2023
6 Short Term Loan given 3,479.84 2,643.20
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 265.00 -
TRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 46.50
IRB Weslcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 33572 1.231.10
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 272.84 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 24.00 -
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 940.04 1,120.90
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 610.59 24220
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 160.00 -
TRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 246.60 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 36.04 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 69.21 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 519.80 2.50
7 Short Term Loan repaid 1,886.95 525.10
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 424.30 -
IRB Wesltcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 322.00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 145.00 525.10
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 24.00 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 519.80 -
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 246.60 -
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 69.21 -
[RB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 36.04 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 100.00 -
8 Unit Capital Issued 26,139.68 1,236.75
IRR Infrastructure Develapers Limited e 42 26,139.68 1.236.75
Manager
9 Interest income 16,461.72 4,221.77
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1.192 560.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1.522 581.77
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2.228 1,186.02
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3.171 560.00
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3.266 1,333.98
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 042 =
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2.257 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,883 -
10 Receipt of Interest Income 3,836.20 ¥
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 390.00 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 720.00 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 675.60 =
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 400,60 .
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 450.00 ’
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,200.00 -
11 Interest income unwinding on loan (Tnterest Fee) 48.84 48.71
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 48.84 4871




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

I1) Related party transaction during the peiod

( Rs. in million)

s i Year ended Year ended
Sr. No.

e Eertisalazs Relation March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
12 Investment Management Fees 146.32 56.52
MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Investment Manager 146.32 56.52
13 Expenses incurred on behalf of others 96.54 358.05
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.55 111
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 4845
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 11.38 194.00
TRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 425 32,63
IRB Weslcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8.05 1.61
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 16.08
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 378
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 8.69
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5.13 0.01
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 38.85 45.60
MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Tnvestment Manager 045 0,08

IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.39 -

IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 598 -

Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.24 -

IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 4.67 -

IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 12.57 -
14 Unsecured Loan received 726.20 1,532.48
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited §pansokand Project 726.20 1,532.48

Manager
15 Unsecured Loan paid 5,599.11 267.50
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Spagsar and Pigject 5,599.11 267.50
Manager

16 Long Term loan given - MMR 1,300,00 -

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 413.00 -

Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 45230 -

AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 390.90 -

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 43.80 -
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11') Related party transaction during the peiod

{ Rs. in million)

. . Year ended Year ended
Sr. No. Particul
' WA Felactan March31,2024 | March 31,2023
17 Long Term loan repaid-MMR 11.29 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5.74 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.79 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.19 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.57 -
18 [Secured Long Term Loan given 46,239.70 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9.605.30 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.827 40 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6,767.90 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,996.00 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 15,043.10 -
19 |Secured Long Term Loan repaid 485.08 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 133.51 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 51.17 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3.38 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 102.96 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 194.06 -
20 Expenses Payable 4,984.22 609.23
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project 4,935.38 560.52
Manager
Subsidiaries Company
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited of Sponsor and Project 48.84 48.71
Manager
21 Interest Distribution 229.35 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Stigngor atd Prgject 229.35 -
Manager
22 Capital Reduction 2,032.84 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponisor iric Prgjegt 2,032.84 -
Manager
23 Expenses incurred on our behalf 4.10 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Spu"sc.'r and Feujees 4.10 -
Manager
24 Trustee Fees 0.56 2.53
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited Trustee 0.56 253




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

IIT ) Related party outstanding balances

( Rs. in million)

. : Ason As on
Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31,2024 March 31,2023
1 Equity Investment 36,160.64 22,212.01
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,365.00 4,365.00
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,035.00 2,035.00
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,715.00 3,715.00
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,741.94 1,741.94
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,555.00 1,555.00
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,280.00 3,280.00
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 982.50 982.50
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,168.00 1,168.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,157.57 2,157.57
Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,212.00 1,212.00
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 7,154.50 -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,162.00
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 4.205.80 -
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 393.48
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,032.85
2 Subordinated Debt 33,591.55 72,212.43
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 10,265.88
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,896.26 2,727.80
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 9,798.52
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 12,203.92
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 2,495.38
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary B 4.426.04
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 4.423.70
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8,893.41 8,338.40
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 16,319.79
Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,637.50 1,213.00
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,268.00
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 12,617.40
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 1,180.43
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 3,098.55
3 Unsccured long term loan ( Interest bearing) 31,531.00 30,000.00
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,941.31 9,528.41
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,445.55 4,000.00
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8.915.73 8,471.59
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000.00
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000.00
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 196.83
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 31.59




IRB Infrastructure Trust

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

IIT ) Related party outstanding balances

( Rs. in million)

. . Ason As on
Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31,2024 March 31,2023

4 Subordinated debt - (Interest bearing) 77,254.30 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 10,425.40 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9.712.69 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 7,788.81 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,399.43 -
Kaithal Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 4.472.86 -
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.209.67 -
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 16,780.44 -
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 21,465.00 -

5 Long term loan (Interest bearing) -MMR 1,288.71 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 407.26 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 447.51 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 390.71 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 43.23 -

6 Long term loan ( Interest free) 400.53 351.69
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 400.53 351.69

7 Secured Long Term Loan ( Interest bearing) 45,754.62 -
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,472 -
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,776 -
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6,765 -
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 9,893 -
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 14,849 -

8 Short Term Loan 6,470.38 5,421.29
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 319.59 478.89
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - =
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2.361.80 2,348.08
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 284.55 156.71
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 24.00
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,275.35 1,335.31
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary - 519.80
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary - -
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,169.09 558.50
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 60.00 -




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements as at March 31, 2024

IIT ) Related party outstanding balances

( Rs. in million)

" . As on As on
Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31,2024 March 31,2023
9 Other Payable 40,760.47 35,776.26
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project 37.030.95 32,005.57
Manager
Subsidiaries Company of
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited Sponsor and Project 400.53 351.69
Manager
Subsidiaries Company of
Modern Road Makers Private Limited Sponsor and Project 1,784.13 1,784.13
Manager
Subsidiaries Company of’
IRB Goa Tollway private Limited Sponsor and Project 1,544.86 1,544.86
Manager
10 .Other payable ( Reimbursement of Expenses 0.49 177
incurred on our behalf)
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project
0.49 1.77
Manager
11 Other Receivable 291.48 284.13
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.89 4.89
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 6.74 8.17
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.02 13.76
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13.97 14.11
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.01
CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 47.35 47.35
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 182.70 171.32
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 27.14 22,90
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 0.01 0.00
Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 8.30 1.54
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary -
Samakhiyali Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.24
IRB Gwalior Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.06
IRB Kota Tollway Private Limited Subsidiary 0.04
IRB Lalitpur Tollway Private Limted Subsidiary 0.01
MMK Toll Road Private Limited Investment Manager - 0.08
12 Interest Receivable 16,378.71 7,681.04
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,342 539.90
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,287 485.27
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,665 2,112.74
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5 1,552.00
AE Tollway Limited Subsidiary 5,807 2,991.13
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 942
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IIT) Related party outstanding balances

( Rs. in million)

A . As on As on
Sr. No. Particulars Relation March 31,2024 March 31,2023
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,447
IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limted Subsidiary 1,883
13 BG Margin Receivable 30.95 -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited §pongorand Projoet 3095 -
Manager
14 Trade payable 95.19 78.54
MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited Investment Manager 95.19 78.54
15 Unsecured Loan / other payable - 4,872.91
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited Sponsor and Project 487291

Manager




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standalone Fi inl St as at March 31, 2024

Note 22 ; Fair Values

Financial assets and labilities

The carrying values of financials instruments of the Trus! are reasonable and approximations of fair values.
The accounling classification of each category of financial instruments, their carrving amounts and the categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, are sel out below:

( Rs. in million)
Carrying amount Fair Value

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 March 31,2024 Niarch 31, 2023

Financial assels
Investment in subsidiaries 69.752.19 94.424.44 - -
Loans 162,699.54 3577298 - -
Other linancial assets 21,621.24 7.963.17 - -
Cash and cash equivalenls 150.39 6.56 - -
Other Bank balances 204110 - - -
Financial assets measured ot fir value through statement of Profil & Loss
Investments in Mutual funds K340 20,08 B6.R4 20,08
Finuncial liabilitics

inancial labilili amorli H
Trade payables 10232 X1.35 - -
Borrowings (net of unamortised Tranasaction cost) 6(2.349.54 487291 - -
Finuncial liabilities

Financial liabililies measured gl.f'nirvnl ue through siatement of Profit & Loss
Other financial liabilities 40,760.96 35,775.03 40.760.96 35,778.403

The management assessed that the fair value of other cash and cash equivalents, other bank balance, trade payables, borrowings and other financial liabilitics approximale their carrving amounts largely
due to the short-lerm maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabililies is included al the amount ot which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, olher than in a forced or
liquidation sale,

The discount for lack of masketability rep the thal the Trust has deternuned that markel participants would lake into account when pricing the investments.

The above investments does not include equity investments in joint ventures which are carried al cost and hence are not required to be disclosed as per Ind AS 107 'Financial Instrument Disclosure.
has conlext menu

Note 23 : Fair Value Hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as lollows, based on the lowest level input that is significan to the fbir
value measurement as a whole.

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assels or labilities

Level 2; Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed. either directly or indirectly,
Level 3: Valualion lechnique for which Lhe lowest level input has a significant efect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data.
There were no transfers between Level 1. Level 2 and Level 3 during the vear.

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assels and liabilities measured af fuir value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2024:
( Rs. in million)
Fair value measurement at end of the reporting period

As on March 31, using
2024 (Audited)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assels
Investments in mutual fund (Quoted) R6.84 86,84 - -
Liabilitics
Other financial liabilities 40,760.96 - - 40,760,906
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The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities mensured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2023;

( Rs. in million)

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting vear
As on March 31, P B i

2023 (Audited) i |
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assels
Investments in mulual fund (Quoted) 20.08 20,08 - -
Liabilitics
Other financia liabilities 35,778.03 - - 35,778.03

There has been no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 & Level 3 during the vear.
Sensilivity: Higher probability by 5% and lower discounl rale by 0.5% will increase Ihe fair value by Rs4,397 66 million (31 March 2023 - Rs.4,166.87 million). Lower probabili
discount rate by 4.5% will reduce fair value by Rs.4,171.25 million (31 March 2023 - Rs.3,946.06 million).

v by 3% and higher

Fair value movement for Pavable to IRB Infrastructure Developers Limiled is as under:

March 31,2024 March 31,2023

Opening balance as al April 01, 2023 (Previous period: April 01. 2022) 33.778.03 33,168.79
Add: Recognised during the yvear 4.935.37 360.53
Less: Pavment ol deferred consideration - -

Add: Adjusiment on account of interes! unwinding 47.55 48.71
Closing balance of payable as on March 31, 2024 (Previous period: March 31, 2023) 40,760,95 35,773.03

Note 24 : Taxes -
In accordance with section 10 (23FC) of the Income Tax Acl, the income of business Trust in the form of interest received or receivable from Project SPV is exempl from tax. Accordingly, the Trusi is not
required (o provide any current (ax liability, Furiher, deferred tax assels on carry forward losses is not being created since there is no virtual certaunty of reversal of the same in the near luture.

Note 25 : Invesiment Management Fess

Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the fees will be paid to the Investment Manager for the services provided by it (“Management Fees™). The Management Fees have been
revised for the Financial Year with the approval of the Unitholders, where the votes cast by Unitholders so entitled and voling in favor of a resolution are not Jess than one-and-a-hall limes the votes cast
against such resolution. Pursuant to a resolution of the Unitholders. the Management Fees for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been revised to Rs. 146,32 million

Note 26 ; Financial Risk Management ohjectives and policies

The Trust's risk management policies are established 1o idenlify and analyse the risks faced by the Trust, Lo sel appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 1o limils. Risk
managemenl policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Trust's activilies.

The Board of Directors of Invesiment Manager have overall responsibility for the establishment and eversight of the Trust’s risk management framewaork,
In performing ils operating, invesling and linancing aclivilies. the Trust is exposed Lo the Credit risk. Liquidity risk and Market risk.

. Market Risk

Marke risk is the risk thal the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrament will fluctuate because of changes in markel prices. Markel risk comprises three types of risk: inlerest rate risk,
currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodily risk. Financial instrumenis affected by market risk include loans borrowings and deposits.

b. Credit risk

Credil risk is the risk that a counter party will not meel ils abligations under a financial instrument or customier contract, leading 1o a financial loss. The Trust is exposed lo credit risk from ils invesling
aclivities including loans (o subsidiaries, deposils with banks and other financial instruments. As at March 31, 2024. the credil risk is considered low since subsiantial t ions of the Trust are with its
subsidiaries.

c. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rale rigk is the rigk that the fair value of future cash Mows of a financial instrument will Alucluate because of changes in market interest rates. The Trust's exposure 1o the risk o changes in markel
interest rates relales primarily to the Trust’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

Interest rute sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensilivity o a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, afier excluding the credit exposure for fixed rale
barrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Trust's profit before tax is aflected through the impact on [leating rate borrowings, as follows:

( Rs. in million)
Particulars Maich 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

If the interest rate is 50 basis point higher (lower). the impact on profit or loss would be
- Decreased by 315.15 -

= Increased by (315.13) 7

d. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk thal the Trust may niot be able to meel ils present and future cash and collateral obligations withoul incurring unacceptable losses. The Trust's objective is to. al all limes maintain
optimum [evels of liquidity lo meet its cash and collateral requirements.

The Trust closely menitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash system. [t maintoins adequate sources of financing including debt and overdrafl from banks at an optimised cost.

e. Financial Instruments

Credit risk (rom balances with banks and financial inslitutions, trade receivables. loans and advances is managed by the Group's manngement in accordance with the Group's policy. Invesiments of surplus
funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limils assigned to cach counterparty. Counlerparty credit limils are reviewed by the top management on an annual basis, and may be
updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Company's board of directors, The limits are set 1o minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate linancial loss through counlerparty’s
potential failure to make payments.

I Investment in Equity shares of Subsidiaries
The Trusl has investments in equity shares of Subsidiaries. The settlement of such instrumenis is linked 1o the completion of the respective underlying projects. Such Financial Assets are not impaired as
on the reporting date.

( Rs. in million)
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March 31,2024 Carrylag Total On demand L3 Less than 1 year 1o 5 years > Syears
Amount months b

Borrowings (Gross ol unamorlised Lransaction cosl) 63.030.66 63,030.66 - - 647.39 6.390.00 55993.27

Other financial liabilities 40,760.96 40,760.96 - - - 40,760.96 -

Trade pavahles 102.34 102.34 - 0.27 102,07 - -

Total 103,893.95 103,393.95 - 0.27 749.46 47,15096 55,993.27

March 31,2023 Caying Total On demand Less than 3 Less than 1 year 1105 years > S years
Amount months

Bomrowings (Gross ol unamortised transaction cost) 487291 487291 - - 4.872.91 - -

Other financial liabilities 35.778.03 35,778.03 - - - 35.778.03 -

Trade payables ®1.33 81.35 - 0,01 50.56 30.78 -

Total 40,732.29 40,732,29 - 0.01 4,923.47 35,808.50 -

Al present, the Trust does expects to repay all liabilities at their contractual maturity. In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activily is expected to generate sullicient cash inflows.
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Note 27 ; Capital management

Capital includes equily allributable to the Unit holders to ensure (hat it maintains an efTicient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order Lo support its business and maximise shareholder value.
The Trust manages ils capilal structure and makes adjustments lo it. in light of changes in economic conditions or ils business requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure. the Trust iy
adjust the distribution of cash flow of retum capital to Unil holders or issue new units. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the vear ended March 31, 2024 and year
ended March 31, 2023,

The Trust maniters capital using a gearing ratio, which is net deblt divided by lotal equity. Nel debt is calculated as loans and borrowings (gross of unamorlised transaction cost) less cash and cash
equivalents,
( Rs. in million)
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Borrowings (Secured) 63.030.66 4.872.91
Less: cash and cash equivalents (150.39) (6.56)
Net debt 62.880.27 4.866.35
Unit capital 135.091.23 R7,920.33
Other equity 18.052.00 9.326.42
Total equity 153,143.32 97455.78
Capital and net debt 216.023.60 102.322.11
Gearing rafio (%) 41.06% 4.99%

In order lo achieve this overall objective. the Trust's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-beanny loans and borrowings that
define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeling the financial covenants would permil the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in (he finaneial
covenants ol any interest-bearing borrowings in the currenl year.

Note 28 : Signifi i imates and

The preparation of the Trust's financial stalements requires n to make jud estimates and assumplions that afTect the reported amounls of revenue, expenses, assels and liabilities and the
acTrusting disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in out comes that require a materal adjusiment 1o the carrving amount ol
assets or liabilities afTected in future periods.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Trust's ing policics. { has made the judgement, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements

Classification of unit holders Trusts

Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, Trust is required to distribute to Unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash Nows of Trust for each financial vear. Accordingly, a
partion of the unit holders’ Trusls conlains a contractual obligation of the Trust to pay Lo ils Unit holders cush distributions. The Unit holder's Trusts could therefore have been classified as compound
financial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance witlh Ind AS 32-Financial Instruments: Presentation.

However. in accordance with SEBI Circulars(No.CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No.CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016) issued under the InvIT Regulations. the unit holders’
Trusis have been classified as equily in order 1o comply with the mandalory requirements of Seclion H of Annexure A (o the SEBI Circular dated 20-0cl-2016 dealing with the minimum disclosures for
key financial statements. In line with the above. the income distribution payvable Lo unil holders is recognized as liability when the same is approved by the Investment Manager.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumplions conceming the future and other key sources of estimation uncenainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 10 the canmying amounts of
assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next financial year. The Trust based its assumptions and estimates on paramelers available when the financial slatements were prepared. Existing
circumstances and assumplions aboul future developments. however. moy change due lo market changes or circumstances ansing that are beyond the control of the Trust. Such charges are reflected in the
assumplions when they occur.

Fair valuation and disclosures

SEBI Circulars issued under the InvIT Regulati quired is dicl relating to nel assets al fair value and total retums au fair value. In estimating the fair value ol invesiments in subsidiaries (which
constilute substantial portion of the net assets), the Trust engages independent qualified extemal valuers to perform the valuation. The management works closely with the valuers Lo establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inpuls to the model. The reports the valualion report and findings to the Board of the Investment Manager hall yearly 1o explain (he cause of lluctualions

in the fair value of the road projecis. The inpuis to the valuation models are taken from observable markets where possible. but where Ihis is noi feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing
fair values. include ids of inpuls such as WACC, Tax rales, Inflation rates etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value

Tud,

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assels of the Trust primarily comprise of investments in subsidiaries. Impairment exists when the carrving value of an asset or cash generating unil exceeds its recoverable amounl, which is
the higher of its fair valuc less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recordable amounts for the investments in subsidiaries are based on value in use of the underlving projects. The value in use
calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from budgeis / forecasts over the life of the projects.




IRB Infrastructure Trust
Notes to Standal Financial S as at March 31, 2024

Note 29 : Transfer of projects

On April 7. 2022, the Trus! has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (‘SPV") by the Trust and accordingly. the project is being executed
by the SPV and the Trust.

On Oclober 12, 2023, the Trust has execuled arangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Samakhivali Tollway Private Limited ("SPV") by the Trust and accordingly, the project is being
executed by the SPV and the Trusl.

On July 29, 2023, the Trust has exceuted wrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of IRB Golconda Expressway Private Limited {"SPV") by the Trust and sceordingly, the project is being
executed by the SPV and the Trust.

Nete 30 : Distribution made ( Rs_in million)

March 31,2024 March 31, 2023

Distributed during the period as :

Interest 449,55 -
Retum of Capital 3,984.60 -

443415 -
Note: The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 15t Distribution of Rs.1.52 per unit which comprises of Rs.¢.44 per unil as interest and Rs, 1.OS per unil as retum of capital in their
meeling held on October 25, 2023, The Board of Directors of the | M have declared 2nd Distribution of Rs.2.82 per unit towards retumn of capital in their meeting held on January 25,
2024

Node 31 : Subsequent Events
The Board of Directors of the Invesiment Manager have declared 3rd Distribution of Rs.0.24 per unit towards interes! distribution in their meeting held on May 03, 2024,

Note 32 Other Statufory Information

i) The Trust has not traded or invesled in Cryplo curmrency or Virtual Currency during the current or previous year.

ii) The Trust does nol hold benami property and no proceedings under Benami transaction (Prehibition) Act 1988 have been initiated against the Trusl.

iii) The Trust does not have any transactions with companies struck off.

iv) The Trust does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the vear in the tax assessments under the Income
Tax Acl, 1961

v) The Trust did not have any long=lerm contracts including derivative contracl,

vi) The Trust has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any bank / financial institution or any other lender during the year.

Note 33 : Previous year comparatives

Previous vear's ligures has been reclassified / regrouped wherever necessary to conlirm to currenl vear classilication. The impact of the same is nol material to the user ol'the Standalone financial
Slalements,
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MMK Toll Road Private Limited
Balance sheet as at March 31, 2024

(Rs. in millions)

Note No. As at March 31, 2024 As at March 31, 2023
(Audited) (Audited)
I ASSETS
(1) Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 0.16 0.38
Financial assets 5
i) Investments 5.1 0.10 0.10
0.26 0.48
(2) Current assets
Financial assets 6
i) Investments 6.1 - 5.10
ii)  Trade receivables 6.2 95.19 78.54
iiiy  Cash and cash equivalents 6.3 11.56 5.39
iv)  Bank balance other than (iii) above 6.4 13.00 10.00
v)  Other financial assets 6.5 - 0.01
Current tax assets (net) 7 6.85 4.84
Other current assets 8 0.47 0.01
127.07 103.89
TOTAL ASSETS 127.33 104.36
Il EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity share capital 9 70.00 70.00
Other equity 10 38.62 19.47
108.62 89.47
(1) Non-current liabilities
Provisions 11 9.26 8.01
9.26 8.01
(2) Current liabilities
Financial liabilities 12
i) Trade payables 121
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises = &
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small-enterprises 0.11 0.11
ii)  Other financial liabilities 12.2 3.35 3.52
Other liabilities 13 5.02 2.44
Provisions 14 0.97 0.81
9.45 6.88
Total liabilities 18.71 14.89
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 127.33 104.36
Summary of material accounting policies 3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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MMK Toll Road Private Limited
Statement of Profit & Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024

(Rs. in million)

Year ended March 31,

Year ended March 31,

Higheitics 2024 2023
Income
Revenue from operations 15 124.00 47.90
Other income 16 1.13 1.13
TOTAL INCOME 125.13 49.03
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 17 82.88 53.61
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 18 0.28 0.00
Other expenses 19 16.95 6.35
TOTAL EXPENSES 100.11 59.96
Profit / (loss) before tax 25.02 (10.93)
Tax expenses 20
Current tax 5.64 2.42
TOTAL TAX EXPENSES 5.64 2.42
Profit / (loss) for the period 19.38 (13.35)
Other comprehensive income
Item that will not to be reclassified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit plans (net of taxes) (0.23) 0.14
Other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) (0.23) 0.14
Total comprehensive income for the period 19.15 (13.21)
Earnings per equity share (of Rs. 10 each) 21
Basic 2.77 (1.91)
Diluted 2.77 (1.91)
Summary of material accounting policies 3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our report of even date

For M/s A.J.Kotwal & Co.
Chartered Accountants
ICAIl Firm Registration Number: 105346W

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
MMK Toll Road Private Limited
CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512

o

V. D. Mhaiskar
Chairman
DIN: 00183554

- -
Tddankar

Kaustubh Shevade
Company Secretary

D kTos L

D.K. Joshi

Pagtner Chief Executive Officer

Membership No.: 150328

Shilpa
Chief Financial Officer

Place: Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024

Place: Mumbai
Date : May 03, 2024



	Combined Set.pdf
	1. PR - Consolidated - 31 Pages
	2. PR - Standalone - 18 pages
	3. FS -Consolidated - 63 pages
	4. FS -Standalone - 50 pages
	5. MMK - BS & PL - 2 pages


		2024-05-06T13:54:42+0530
	KAUSTUBH PURUSHOTTAM SHEVADE




